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PART I
Item 1.

Business

Overview
As the world's leading live entertainment ticketing and marketing company based on the number of tickets sold, Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC
("Ticketmaster Entertainment," "we," "our," "us" or the "Company") connects the world to live entertainment. The Company currently operates in approximately
19 countries worldwide, providing ticket sales, ticket resale services, marketing and distribution through www.ticketmaster.com, one of the largest e-commerce
sites on the internet, and related proprietary internet and mobile channels, approximately 6,700 independent sales outlets and 17 call centers worldwide.
Established in 1976, the Company sold tickets on behalf of more than 10,000 clients worldwide during 2009, including venues, promoters, sports leagues and
teams, and museum and cultural institutions, among other clients, across multiple live event categories, providing exclusive ticketing services for leading arenas,
stadiums, amphitheaters, music clubs, concert promoters, professional sports franchises and leagues, college sports teams, performing arts venues, museums and
theaters. The Company's distribution channels and client base provide it with significant scale—for example, in 2009, the Company's brands and businesses sold
more than 130 million tickets valued at $8.0 billion.
The Company's business also includes the operations of Front Line Management Group, Inc. ("Front Line"), one of the world's leading artist management
companies. Front Line manages musical artists and acts primarily in rock, classic rock, pop and country music. As of December 31, 2009, Front Line had over
200 artists on its rosters and approximately 75 managers performing services to artists.
From its spin-off from IAC/InterActiveCorp ("IAC") in August 2008 until January 2010, the Company operated as a stand-alone, publicly-traded company
with its common stock trading on The Nasdaq Stock Market. On January 25, 2010, the Company merged into an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live
Nation, Inc. and thus became an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation, Inc. Following the merger, Live Nation, Inc. changed its name to Live Nation
Entertainment, Inc. ("Live Nation"; SEC File No. 001-32601). Live Nation's common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "LYV."
Business Segments
The Company operates in two reportable segments—ticketing and artist services. In addition, the Company also has corporate and other expenses, which are
managed on a total company basis. See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules—Note 7—Segment Information to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for financial information regarding segment reporting.
Ticketing
The ticketing segment is primarily an agency business that sells tickets for events on behalf of our clients and retains a convenience charge and order
processing fee for our services. We sell tickets through a combination of websites, telephone services and ticket outlets. The Company's ticketing sales are
impacted by fluctuations in the availability of events for sale to the public, which may vary depending upon scheduling by its clients. Generally, the second and
third quarters of the year experience the highest domestic ticketing revenue, earned primarily in the Concerts and Sports categories. Generally, international
revenues are the highest in the fourth quarter of the year, earned primarily in the Concerts category.
1
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Primary (Initial Sale) Ticketing Services
Overview. "Primary" sales of tickets refers to the original sale of tickets to an event by or on behalf of an event presenter. For the year ended
December 31, 2009, the substantial majority of the Company's revenues were attributable to primary ticket sale services. The Company provides primary ticket
sale services to the following types of clients:
•
Venues—including arenas, stadiums, theaters, universities, colleges, clubs and festivals in the United States and abroad, ranging in size
from 100,000+ seat stadiums to small clubs, including Madison Square Garden (New York City), Cowboys Stadium (Arlington, Texas),
Staples Center (Los Angeles), Manchester Evening News Arena (Manchester, UK), the University of Michigan and the University of
California, Los Angeles;
•
Promoters—promoters of live events, from worldwide concert tours to single, local events, including AEG Live, Another Planet
Entertainment, Jam Productions and MCD Productions;
•
Sports Leagues, Teams and Events—professional sports teams, leagues, franchises and clubs and special sporting events, including Major
League Baseball Advanced Media and many Major League Baseball, National Football League, National Basketball Association, National
Hockey League, Rugby Football Union and Premier League teams; and
•
Museums, Cultural Institutions and Historic Sites—including the Guggenheim Museum (New York City) and the Getty Museum and Getty
Villa (Los Angeles).
When providing primary ticket sale services to clients in the U.S. and abroad (other than in the United Kingdom and certain other European markets), the
Company generally serves as the exclusive ticket sales agent for individual tickets sold to the general public outside of facility box offices. In the United
Kingdom, the Company is typically a non-exclusive ticket sales agent for its clients and instead is guaranteed a certain minimum allocation of the tickets for each
event. For any particular event, the Company works with clients to identify those tickets that will be made available for sale through the Company's various
distribution channels (see "Distribution" below) as well as facility box offices. To enable most or all tickets for a given event to be offered for sale
simultaneously and sold through these channels, the Company licenses the Ticketmaster System, our proprietary system, and related equipment to clients and
installs this system at their facility box offices. The provision of primary ticket sale services to clients is generally governed by individual, multi-year agreements
between the Company and its clients.
Consumers who purchase tickets through the Company pay an amount equal to the ticket face price, plus a per ticket convenience charge, a per order "order
processing" fee and, if applicable, a premium delivery charge. The Company remits the entire face value of the ticket to the client. In addition, in most cases, the
Company remits royalties as specified in the written agreement between the Company and the client.
Client Relationships. The Company generally enters into written agreements with individual clients to provide primary ticket sale services for specified
multi-year periods, typically ranging from 3 to 5 years. Pursuant to these agreements, clients generally determine what tickets will be available for sale, when
such tickets will go on sale to the public and what the ticket face price will be. Agreements with venue clients generally grant the Company the right to sell
tickets for all events presented at the relevant venue for which tickets are made available to the general public. Agreements with promoter clients generally grant
the Company the right to sell tickets for all events presented by a given promoter at any venue, unless that venue is already covered by an existing exclusive
agreement with the Company or another ticketing service provider. Under the Company's exclusive contracts, clients may not utilize, authorize or promote the
services of third party ticketing companies or technologies while under contract with the Company. While the Company generally has the right to sell a
substantial portion of its clients' tickets, venue and promoter clients often sell and distribute group sales and
2
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season tickets in-house. In addition, under many written agreements between promoters and the Company's clients, the Company's clients often allocate certain
tickets for artist, promoter, agent and venue use and do not make those tickets available for sale by us. The Company also generally allows clients to make a
certain limited number of tickets available for sale through fan or other similar clubs, from which the Company generally derives no revenues unless selected by
the club to facilitate the sales. As a result, the Company does not sell all of its clients' tickets and the amount of tickets that it sells varies from client to client and
from event to event, and varies as to any single client from year to year.
Pursuant to its agreements with certain clients, sales of premium primary tickets, often under high demand, are offered for sale through the Company's
TicketExchange service, which is accessible to consumers through www.ticketmaster.com. Such tickets are referred to as "Platinum" tickets and are frequently
priced by the Company's clients at prices that are meant to reflect their market value.
Convenience charges, which are heavily negotiated, mutually agreed upon and set forth in written agreements between the Company and its clients, vary
based upon numerous factors, including: the scope and nature of the services to be rendered, the amount and cost of equipment to be installed at the client's venue
location, the amount of advertising and/or promotional allowances to be provided, the type of event and the distribution channel in which the ticket is to be sold
and the face price of the ticket. Client agreements also provide how and when, and by how much and with what frequency, changes may be made to per ticket
convenience charges and per order "order processing" fees during the term. During the year ended December 31, 2009, average revenue per ticket (which
primarily includes per ticket convenience charges and per order "order processing" fees, as well as certain other revenue sources directly related to the sale of
tickets) was $7.82.
Most written agreements provide for the payment of royalties to clients, which are heavily negotiated, in an amount equal to a mutually agreed upon portion
of related per ticket convenience charges on all tickets sold through all the Company distribution channels and per order "order processing" fees on all tickets
sold online or by telephone. In many cases, written agreements also require the Company to advance royalties to clients, which advances are usually recoupable
by the Company out of the future client royalty payments. In limited instances, clients have the right to receive an upfront, non-recoupable payment from the
Company as an incentive to enter into the ticketing service agreement. Written agreements also specify the additional ticketing systems, if any, that may be used
and purchased by clients during their relationship with the Company.
The Company generally does not buy tickets from its clients for sale or resale to the public and typically assumes no financial risk for unsold tickets, other
than indirect risk associated with its ability to recoup advances made to clients. If an event is canceled, the Company refunds the per ticket convenience charges
to customers (but not the per order "order processing" fees, except in certain European jurisdictions where the Company is required by law to do so). Refunds of
ticket prices for canceled events are funded by clients, which have historically fulfilled these obligations on a timely basis with few exceptions.
Clients routinely agree by contract to include the Company's name, logos and the applicable Ticketmaster Entertainment website address and
charge-by-phone number in advertisements in all forms of media promoting the availability of their tickets. Ticketmaster Entertainment brand names and logos
are also prominently displayed on printed tickets, ticket envelopes and e-mail alerts about upcoming events that the Company sends to its customers. The
Company also provides primary ticketing solutions for clients who wish to perform ticketing functions in-house on a private label or other basis through its
Paciolan and Ticketmaster VISTA brands and businesses, which license the requisite software or other rights to clients for license and per transaction fees in the
case of Paciolan and for per ticket fees in the case of Ticketmaster VISTA. The Company also currently licenses its name and technology exclusively to a third
party that provides primary ticketing services to clients in
3
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the Washington, D.C./Baltimore area, as well as to third parties and joint ventures in certain jurisdictions abroad.
Ticket Resale Services
The "resale" of tickets refers to the sale of tickets by a holder who originally purchased the tickets from a venue, promoter or other entity, or a ticketing
services provider selling on behalf of a venue, promoter or other entity. The Company currently offers ticket resale services through TicketsNow, which the
Company acquired in February 2008, its TicketExchange service, which the Company launched in January 2002, and GET ME IN!, which the Company
acquired in February 2008.
TicketsNow is a leading consumer marketplace for the resale of event tickets in the United States and Canada. TicketsNow enters into listing agreements
with licensed ticket resellers to post ticket inventory for sale through TicketsNow at a purchase price equal to a ticket resale price determined by the relevant
ticket resellers, plus an amount equal to a percentage of the ticket resale price and a pre-determined service fee. TicketsNow remits the reseller-determined ticket
resale price to the ticket resellers and retains the remainder of the purchase price. TicketsNow also licenses point-of-sale business management software to ticket
resellers for a fee, which allows the resellers to manage their ticket inventory and operate their businesses. While TicketsNow does not generally acquire tickets
for sale on its own behalf, it may do so from time to time on a limited basis. TicketsNow also operates a wholesale ticket brokerage business that sells its own
inventory of tickets through www.TicketsNow.com and other retail resellers nationwide.
In addition to enabling Platinum primary ticket sales, the TicketExchange service allows consumers to resell and purchase tickets online for certain events
that were initially sold for the Company's clients in the United States, Europe and Canada who elect to participate in the TicketExchange service. Sellers and
buyers each pay the Company a fee that has been negotiated with the relevant client, a portion of which is shared with the client. Consumers in the United
Kingdom, Germany and the Netherlands may buy and sell tickets to live entertainment events through GET ME IN!, which charges sellers a commission and
buyers a processing fee.
Marketing, Promotional and Related Services
The Company is a leading marketer of live entertainment to fans in the markets in which it operates. For example, the Company informs fans about
upcoming live events for which tickets will be available through the Company in their area through its TicketAlert email service. Fans can customize
TicketAlerts to inform them about upcoming events for particular performers, teams or venues, as well as events in specified categories (Concerts, Sports, Arts
and Family). The Company sent approximately 1.8 billion TicketAlert e-mails in 2009, reaching an average of approximately 34 million consumers per week.
The Company also provides rich content on its various websites to promote events that it tickets, including artist pages that feature video content and
biographical material.
The Company continues to develop and introduce new initiatives, as well as enter into new relationships, in an effort to help its clients sell more tickets in
more markets. The Company also offers a suite of dynamic pricing tools, such as online auctions, pursuant to which consumers bid on tickets being sold by the
Company and purchase them at a price equal to the highest winning bid. For auction sales, in addition to per order "order processing" fees, the Company
typically receives fees based on a percentage of the prices at which tickets are ultimately sold.
The Company provides promotional and other related services to artists, such as the sale of tickets to members of artist fan clubs and the sale of artist fan
club memberships, through its Echo business. The Company is also seeking to secure and strengthen its relationships with promoters.
4
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Distribution
The Company sells tickets online, through independent sales outlets, and via call centers. During the year ended December 31, 2009, 77%, 13%, and 10% of
primary ticket sales were transacted through these channels, respectively.
Online. The Company owns and operates various branded websites, both in the United States and abroad, which are customized to reflect services offered
in each jurisdiction. The Company's primary online ticketing website, www.ticketmaster.com, together with its other branded ticketing websites, are designed to
promote ticket sales for live events and disseminate event and related merchandise information online. Consumers can access www.ticketmaster.com directly,
from affiliated websites and through numerous direct links from banners and event profiles hosted by approved third party websites.
Independent Sales Outlets. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had approximately 6,700 "Ticket Center" independent sales outlets worldwide,
approximately 1,800 of which were in the United States and approximately 4,900 of which were in various jurisdictions abroad. The majority of these
independent sales outlets are located in major department, grocery and music stores, malls and, in Europe, post offices. While the Company installs and
maintains the hardware and software necessary for these independent sales outlets to sell tickets, it is not generally responsible for staffing, daily operations and
related costs. The Company pays independent sales outlets a commission, which averaged approximately 17% of the Company's convenience charge in 2009.
Call Centers. As of December 31, 2009, the Company operated 17 call centers worldwide, through which consumers can generally purchase tickets by
speaking to an operator or by way of an interactive voice response system, seven days a week, for at least 22 hours per day. The Company's domestic telephone
system can channel all or a portion of incoming calls from any city to a selected call center in another city or region to accommodate the commencement of sales
activity for a major event in a given region, as well as provide back-up capabilities in the event a call center experiences operating difficulties.
Artist Services
The artist services segment primarily provides management services to music recording artists in exchange for a commission on the earnings of these artists.
Artist services also sells merchandise associated with musical artists at live musical performances, to retailers and directly to consumers via the internet. The
artist services segment is entirely comprised of the business of Front Line. The artist services segment is highly seasonal, with profitability related to the timing
of tours and merchandise sales. Peak seasons are typically in the summer and, increasingly, in the fall leading up to the holiday season.
The fundamental strategy, both at the inception of Front Line and currently, is to build a substantial presence in the music management and allied music
services businesses through acquisition and organic growth. Through our brand "I Love All Access" we operate a successful "VIP" ticketing fan experience
program. The program covers both Front Line and third party clients, and provides fans with a range of added value to the concert ticket, including possible meet
and greet or photo opportunities with the artist, attending sound checks, back stage passes, meals and refreshments, merchandise items and venue parking.
We also operate a merchandise business selling t-shirts and other apparel at concerts and through retail outlets. Other activities produce income from
services provided for various marketing and sponsorship activities for artists.
5
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International Operations
The Company provides primary ticket sale services in Australia, Canada, Ireland, New Zealand and the United Kingdom, primarily under the Ticketmaster
brand name, and through other brand names in various other jurisdictions abroad, including Denmark (BILLETNet), Finland (Lippupalvelu), Germany
(Kartenhaus), the Netherlands (Ticket Service), Norway (billettservice.no), Spain (Tic Tack Ticket), Sweden (Ticnet) and Turkey (Biletix). The Company also
provides resale ticket services in Canada through TicketsNow and in the United Kingdom, Germany and the Netherlands through GET ME IN!. As of
December 31, 2009, the Company has begun to exit the China market, where the Company previously operated under the Emma Entertainment brand name.
The Company also is a party to joint ventures with third parties that provide ticket distribution services in Mexico and supplied ticketing services for the
2008 Beijing Olympic Games. The Company also licenses its technology in Brazil, Argentina and Chile.
The number of tickets sold and revenues attributable to international operations represented approximately 42% and 27%, respectively, of total ticket sales
and revenues in 2009.
Additional Information
Company Website and Public Filings. The Company's parent, Live Nation, maintains a website at www.livenation.com. Neither the information on the
Company's website, nor the information on the website of any Ticketmaster Entertainment business, is incorporated by reference in this report, or in any other
filings with, or in any information furnished or submitted to, the SEC.
The Company makes available, free of charge through Live Nation's website, its Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and
Current Reports on Form 8-K (including related amendments) as soon as reasonably practicable after they have been electronically filed with, or furnished to, the
SEC.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The
use of words such as "anticipates," "estimates," "expects," "projects," "intends," "plans" and "believes," among others, generally identify forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements include, among others, statements relating to: the Company's anticipated financial performance, business prospects
and, anticipated trends and prospects in the various industries in which Ticketmaster Entertainment businesses operate, new products, services and related
strategies and other similar matters. These forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations and assumptions about future events,
which are inherently subject to uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict.
Actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements included in this report for a variety of reasons, including,
among others, the risk factors set forth below. Other unknown or unpredictable factors that could also adversely affect the Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations may arise from time to time. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking statements discussed in this report
may not prove to be accurate. Accordingly, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which only reflect the views of our
management as of the date of this report. The Company does not undertake to update these forward-looking statements.
On January 25, 2010, the Company merged into a subsidiary of Live Nation, and thereby became an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation. For a
description of risks related to the merger and Live Nation, please see the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Live Nation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2009, which is incorporated by reference herein. We describe our business risk factors below.
6
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RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS
Live Entertainment Industry and General Economic Trends—The Company's success depends, in significant part, on entertainment, sporting and leisure
events and factors adversely affecting such events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Through its ticketing segment, the Company sells tickets to live entertainment, sporting and leisure events at arenas, stadiums, theaters and other facilities.
Through its artist services segment, the Company provides artist management services to over 200 clients, and derives significant revenues from touring and live
concerts by these clients. Accordingly, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations are directly affected by the popularity, frequency
and location of such events. Ticket sales are sensitive to fluctuations in the number and pricing of entertainment, sporting and leisure events and activities offered
by promoters, teams and facilities, and adverse trends in the entertainment; sporting and leisure event industries could adversely affect the Company's business,
financial condition and results of operations. The ticketing segment relies on third parties to create and perform live entertainment, sporting and leisure events
and to price tickets to such events. Accordingly, the Company's success depends, in part, upon the ability of these third parties to correctly anticipate public
demand for particular events and the prices that the public is willing to pay to attend such events, as well as the availability of popular artists, entertainers and
teams. Similarly, the artist services segment could be adversely affected if the artists it represents do not tour or perform as frequently as anticipated, or if such
tours or performances are not as widely attended by fans as anticipated due to changing tastes, general economic conditions or otherwise.
In addition, general economic conditions, consumer trends, work stoppages, natural disasters and terrorism could have a material adverse effect on the
Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. Entertainment-related expenditures are particularly sensitive to business and personal
discretionary spending levels, which tend to decline during general economic downturns. Recent market conditions have been extremely volatile and
unemployment rates have risen in recent months. A protracted global recession could have a significant negative impact on the Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations. Similarly, public heath issues or a health epidemic could result in the cancellation of live entertainment events or in lower
attendance and ticket sales if fans choose to not attend events they would otherwise attend out of heath concerns. Recently, human cases of swine flu virus
infection have been identified in the United States and internationally. If public health issues such as the swine flu were to result in the cancellation of live
entertainment events or diminished ticket sales, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations could be negatively impacted.
Third Party Relationships—The Company depends on relationships with clients and any adverse changes in these relationships could adversely affect its
business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company's success is dependent, in significant part, on the ability of the Company's businesses to maintain and renew relationships with existing clients
and to establish new client relationships. The Company anticipates that for the foreseeable future, the substantial majority of its revenues from the ticketing
segment will be derived from online and offline sales of tickets. The Company also expects that revenues from primary ticketing services, which consist
primarily of per ticket convenience charges and per order "order processing" fees, will continue to comprise the substantial majority of its consolidated revenues
for the ticketing segment.
In addition, as is typical of the artist management industry, certain of the Company's arrangements with clients of the artist services segment are terminable
at will by either party. The loss of key artists could negatively impact the Company's business.
While fees from management services represent slightly less than half the revenue of the Company's artist services segment, and no individual client
represents more than 10% of revenue from
7

Source: TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC, 10-K, February 25, 2010

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

Table of Contents

management services, the loss of a number of key artists could negatively impact the Company's business. In addition, as the relationship between a manager and
artist is highly personalized, the loss of a manager may also result in a loss in the artist represented by the manager, which could negatively impact the
Company's business.
The Company cannot provide assurances that its businesses will be able to maintain other existing client contracts, or enter into or maintain new client
contracts, on acceptable terms, if at all, and the failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.
As explained above and in the below risk factor, the ticketing business is highly competitive. A number of competing national, regional, and local ticketing
service providers are aggressively seeking to secure ticketing contracts from existing and potential clients of the Company. In addition, facilities, promoters and
other potential clients are increasingly electing to self-ticket and/or distribute a growing number of tickets through client direct or other new channels, which
could adversely impact the ability of the Company's businesses to secure renewals and new client contracts. The non-renewal or termination of an agreement
with a major client or multiple agreements with a combination of smaller clients could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Another important component of the Company's success is the ability of the Company's businesses to maintain existing and build new relationships with
third party distribution channels and service providers, including providers of credit card processing and delivery services, as well as advertisers, among other
parties. Any adverse changes in these relationships, including the inability of these parties to fulfill their obligations to the Company's businesses for any reason,
could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.
Competition—The ticketing and artist services industries are highly competitive and competitors may win business away from the Company, which could
adversely affect the Company's financial performance.
The ticketing industry is highly competitive. The Company faces significant competition from other national, regional and local primary ticketing service
providers to secure new and retain existing clients on a continuous basis. Additionally, the Company faces significant and increasing challenges from companies
that sell self-ticketing systems and from clients who are increasingly choosing to self-ticket, through the integration of self-ticketing systems into their existing
operations or the acquisition of primary ticket services providers and by increasing sales through facility box offices and season, subscription or group sales. The
Company also faces competition in the resale of tickets from online auction websites and resale marketplaces and from other ticket resellers with online
distribution capabilities. The intense competition that the Company faces in the ticketing industry could cause the volume of its ticketing services business to
decline. The Company and Live Nation have entered into an agreement with the Anschutz Entertainment Group, Inc. ("AEG") which provides that AEG has an
option to license the Company's Ticketmaster Host technology in order to ticket its owned and operated venues and ticket third party clients using such
technology and the Company and Live Nation have agreed with the United States Department of Justice ("DOJ") to divest the Company's Paciolan, Inc. ticketing
business, both of which will further increase the competition that the Company faces.
In the secondary ticket sales market, the Company has restrictions on its business that are not faced by its competitors, which restrictions are both
self-imposed and imposed as a result of agreements entered into by the Company with the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") and the Attorneys General of
several individual states. These restrictions primarily relate to the Company's TicketsNow business, and include a restriction on linking from the Company's page
on the www.ticketmaster.com website that informs consumers that no tickets were found in response to their ticket request to its TicketsNow re-sale website
without first obtaining approval from the State of New Jersey as to the exact disclosure language, architecture and functionality of such link; a prohibition on the
sale of tickets to non-sporting
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events (for which tickets are being sold on Ticketmaster's website) through the TicketsNow website until the initial on-sale time at the Ticketmaster primary
ticketing website; a prohibition on paid internet search advertising that would lead consumers searching for "Ticketmaster" on internet search engines to the
TicketsNow website; a restriction on using or allowing its affiliates to use domain names that, among other things, contain the unique names of venues, sports
teams or performers, or contain names that are substantially similar to or are misspelled versions of same; a requirement to clearly and conspicuously disclose on
the TicketsNow website (or any other resale website owned by the Company, or on any primary ticketing website where a link or redirect to such a resale website
is posted) that it is a resale website and ticket prices often exceed the ticket's original price; and a requirement to make certain clear and conspicuous disclosure
when a ticket being offered for re-sale is not "in-hand" as well as a requirement to monitor and enforce the compliance of third parties offering tickets on the
Company's websites with such disclosure requirements. The Company's competitors in the secondary ticket sales market are not, to the Company's knowledge,
bound by similar restrictions. As a result, the Company's ability to effectively compete in the secondary ticket sales market, through its TicketsNow business or
otherwise, may be adversely affected, which could in turn adversely affect the Company's results of operations and financial condition.
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to compete successfully in the future with existing or potential competitors or that competition will
not have an adverse effect on its business and financial condition. Moreover, as the Company expands into new lines of businesses (including as a result of the
merger with Live Nation), the Company may face direct competition, in the live music industry, with its prospective or current primary ticketing clients, who
primarily include live event content providers (such as owners or operators of live event venues, promoters of concerts and sports teams, among others). This
direct competition with the Company's prospective or current primary ticketing clients could result in a decline in the number of clients the Company has and a
decline in the volume of its ticketing services business, which could adversely affect its business and financial condition.
The artist services industry is also a highly competitive industry. There are numerous other music management companies and individual managers in the
United States alone. The Company competes with these companies and individuals to discover new and emerging artists and to represent established acts. In
addition, certain of the Company's arrangements with clients of the Company's artist services business are terminable at will by either party, leading to
competition to retain those artists as clients. Competition is intense and may contribute to a decline in the volume of the Company's artist services business,
which could adversely affect the Company's business and financial condition.
Covenants in the Company's debt agreements restrict the Company's business in many ways and if the Company does not effectively manage its business to
comply with these covenants, its financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
The Company's senior secured credit facilities and/or the indenture governing the Ticketmaster Entertainment 10.75% Senior Notes due 2016 contain
various covenants that limit the Company's ability and/or the Company's restricted subsidiaries' ability to, among other things:
•
incur or assume liens or additional debt or provide guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;
•
issue redeemable stock and preferred stock;
•
pay dividends or distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock;
•
prepay, redeem or repurchase debt;
•
make loans and investments;
9
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•
enter into agreements that restrict distributions from the Company's subsidiaries;
•
sell assets and capital stock of the Company's subsidiaries;
•
enter into certain transactions with affiliates; and
•
consolidate or merge with or into, or sell substantially all of the Company's assets to, another person.
In addition, the Company's senior secured credit facilities require it to maintain specified financial ratios. The Company's ability to meet those financial
ratios can be affected by events beyond the Company's control, and the Company may be unable to meet those tests. Among other things, certain adjustments
required in connection with the merger with Live Nation as a result of the Company's status as the deemed accounting acquired company may make it more
difficult for the Company to comply with these financial ratios. In addition, a failure on the Company's part to maintain effective internal controls to measure
compliance with these covenants could affect its ability to take corrective actions on a timely basis, and could result in its being in breach. A breach of any of
these covenants could result in a default under the Company's senior secured credit facilities and/or the Company's other indebtedness. Upon the occurrence of an
event of default under the Company's senior secured credit facilities, the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding under the senior secured credit
facilities to be immediately due and payable. If the Company were unable to repay those amounts, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to
them to secure that indebtedness, which constitutes a significant portion of the Company's assets. If the lenders under the Company's senior secured credit
facilities accelerate the repayment of borrowings, the Company may not have sufficient assets to repay its senior secured credit facilities and its other
indebtedness.
The Company's borrowings under its senior secured credit facilities are, and are expected to continue to be, at variable rates of interest and expose it to
interest rate risk. If interest rates increase, the Company's debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount
borrowed remained the same, and the Company's net income would decrease.
International Presence and Expansion—The Company's businesses operate in international markets in which the Company has limited experience. The
Company's businesses may not be able to successfully expand into new, or further into existing, international markets.
The Company provides services in various jurisdictions abroad through a number of brands and businesses that it owns and operates, as well as through joint
ventures, and expects to continue to expand its international presence. The Company faces, and expects to continue to face, additional risks in the case of its
existing and future international operations, including:
•
political instability and unfavorable economic conditions in the markets in which the Company currently has international operations or into
which its brands and businesses may expand;
•
more restrictive or otherwise unfavorable government regulation of the live entertainment and ticketing industries, including the regulation
of the provision of primary ticketing and ticket resale services, as well as promotional, marketing and other related services, which could
result in increased compliance costs and/or otherwise restrict the manner in which the Company's businesses provide services and the
amount of related fees charged for such services;
•
limitations on the enforcement of intellectual property rights, which would preclude the Company from building the brand recognition upon
which it has come to rely in many jurisdictions;
•
limitations on the ability of foreign subsidiaries to repatriate profits or otherwise remit earnings to the Company;
10
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•
adverse tax consequences;
•
limitations on technology infrastructure, which could limit the Company's ability to migrate international operations to the Ticketmaster
System, which would result in increased costs;
•
lower levels of Internet usage, credit card usage and consumer spending in comparison to those in the United States; and
•
difficulties in managing operations and adapting to consumer desires due to distance, language and cultural differences, including issues
associated with (i) business practices and customs that are common in certain foreign countries but might be prohibited by United States
law and the Company's internal policies and procedures, and (ii) management and operational systems and infrastructures, including
internal financial control and reporting systems and functions, staffing and managing foreign operations, which the Company might not be
able to do effectively, or if so, on a cost-effective basis.
The Company's ability to expand its international operations into new jurisdictions, or further into existing jurisdictions will depend, in significant part, on
its ability to identify potential acquisition candidates, joint venture or other partners, and enter into arrangements with these parties on favorable terms, as well as
the Company's ability to make continued investments to maintain and grow existing international operations. If the revenues generated by international
operations are insufficient to offset expenses incurred in connection with the maintenance and growth of these operations, the Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, in an effort to make international operations in one or more given
jurisdictions profitable over the long term, significant additional investments that are not profitable over the short term could be required over a prolonged period.
In addition, the ticketing industry in many jurisdictions abroad is more fragmented and local than it is in the United States. The Company's success in these
markets will depend on the ability of the Company's businesses to create economies of scale by consolidating within each market geographically, which would
most likely occur over a prolonged period, during which significant investments in technology and infrastructure would be required. In the case of expansion
through organic growth, the Company could face substantial barriers to entry in new markets, and barriers impeding expansion within existing markets, due
primarily to the risks and concerns discussed above, among others.
Foreign Currency Risks—The Company faces risks and uncertainties related to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
To the extent that costs and prices for services are established in local currencies and adjusted to U.S. dollars based on then-current exchange rates, the
Company will be exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. After accounting for such fluctuations, the Company may be required to record significant gains
or losses, the amount of which will vary based on then-current exchange rates, which could cause its results to differ materially from expectations. As the
Company continues to expand its international presence, its exposure to exchange rate fluctuations will increase, which may have a negative impact on its
financial results.
Changing Customer Requirements and Industry Standards—The Company's businesses may not be able to adapt quickly enough to changing customer
requirements and industry standards.
The e-commerce industry is characterized by evolving industry standards, frequent new service and product introductions and enhancements and changing
customer demands. The Company's businesses may not be able to adapt quickly enough and/or in a cost-effective manner to changes in industry standards and
customer requirements and preferences, and their failure to do so could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, the continued
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widespread adoption of new Internet or telecommunications technologies and devices or other technological changes could require the Company's businesses to
modify or adapt their respective services or infrastructures. The failure of the Company's businesses to modify or adapt their respective services or infrastructures
in response to these trends could render their existing websites, services and proprietary technologies obsolete, which could adversely affect the Company's
business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, the Company is currently in the process of migrating its international brands and businesses to the Ticketmaster System in an attempt to provide
consistent and state-of-the-art services across its businesses and to reduce the cost and expense of maintaining multiple systems, which the Company may not be
able to complete in a timely or cost-effective manner. Delays or difficulties in implementing the Ticketmaster System, as well as any new or enhanced systems,
may limit the Company's ability to achieve the desired results in a timely manner. Also, the Company may be unable to devote financial resources to new
technologies and systems in the future, which could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.
Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations—The Company's failure to comply with existing laws, rules and regulations as well as changing laws, rules
and regulations and other legal uncertainties, could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.
Since the Company's businesses sell tickets and provide related services to consumers through a number of different online and offline channels, they are
subject to a wide variety of statutes, rules, regulations, policies and procedures in various jurisdictions in the United States and abroad, which are subject to
change at any time. For example, the Company's businesses conduct marketing activities via the telephone and/or through online marketing channels, which
activities are governed by numerous federal and state regulations, such as the Telemarketing Sales Rule, state telemarketing laws and the CAN-SPAM Act,
among others. The Company's businesses are also subject to laws, rules and regulations applicable to providers of primary ticketing and ticket resale services,
which in some cases regulate the amount of transaction and other fees that they may be charged in connection with primary ticketing sales and/or the ticket prices
that may be charged in the case of ticket resale services. New legislation of this nature is introduced from time to time in various (and is pending in certain)
jurisdictions in which the Company's businesses sell tickets and provide services. For example, several U.S. states and cities, Canadian provinces, the United
Kingdom and certain European countries prohibit the resale of tickets at prices greater than the original face price (in the case of certain jurisdictions, without the
consent of the venue) and/or prohibit the resale of tickets to certain types of events. The Company's various businesses have recently been named as defendants
in several purported class action lawsuits and other actions and investigations alleging violations of these types of laws. The failure of the Company's businesses
to comply with these laws and regulations could result in fines and/or proceedings against the Company by governmental agencies and/or consumers, which if
material, could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations that
restrict or otherwise unfavorably impact the ability or manner in which the Company's businesses provide primary ticketing and ticket resale services would
require the Company's businesses to change certain aspects of their business, operations and client relationships to ensure compliance, which could decrease
demand for services, reduce revenues, increase costs and/or subject the Company to additional liabilities.
In addition, the application of various domestic and international sales, use, value-added and other tax laws, rules and regulations to the Company's
historical and new products and services is subject to interpretation by applicable taxing authorities. While the Company believes that it is compliant with current
tax provisions, taxing authorities may take a contrary position and such positions may adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.
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From time to time, federal, state and local authorities and/or consumers commence investigations, inquiries or litigation with respect to compliance by the
Company and its businesses with applicable consumer protection, advertising, unfair business practice, antitrust (and similar or related laws) and other laws. The
Company's businesses have historically cooperated with authorities in connection with these investigations and have satisfactorily resolved each such material
investigation, inquiry or litigation. The Company and its TicketsNow business are currently subject to agreements with the States of New Jersey and Illinois and
the United States Federal Trade Commission which govern, and in certain cases place limitations on, the Company's ticketing resale practices. The Company's
competitors in the secondary ticket sales market are not, to the Company's knowledge, bound by such limitations and as a result, the Company may be at a
competitive disadvantage. Other states and Canadian provinces have commenced investigations or inquiries regarding the relationship between the Company and
TicketsNow. The Company has incurred significant legal expenses in connection with the defense of governmental investigations and litigation in the past and
will be required to incur additional expenses in the future regarding such investigations and litigation. In the case of antitrust (and similar or related) matters, any
adverse outcome could limit or prevent the Company's businesses from engaging in the ticketing business generally (or in a particular market thereof) or subject
them to potential damage assessments, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.
See Part I, Item 3 "Legal Proceedings" of this report for a description of certain current legal proceedings involving the Company.
Maintenance of Systems and Infrastructure—The Company's success depends, in part, on the integrity of the Company's systems and infrastructures.
System interruption and the lack of integration and redundancy in these systems and infrastructures may have an adverse impact on the Company's
business, financial conditions and results of operations.
The Company's success depends, in part, on the Company's ability to maintain the integrity of the Company's systems and infrastructure, including websites,
information and related systems, call centers and distribution and fulfillment facilities. System interruption and the lack of integration and redundancy in the
Company's information systems and infrastructures may adversely affect the Company's ability to operate websites, process and fulfill transactions, respond to
customer inquiries and generally maintain cost-efficient operations. The Company may experience occasional system interruptions that make some or all systems
or data unavailable or prevent its businesses from efficiently providing services or fulfilling orders. The Company lacks documentation regarding certain
components of its key ticketing software and systems operations and relies on certain key technology personnel to maintain such software and systems; the loss
of some or all of such personnel could require the Company to expend additional resources to continue to maintain such software and systems and could subject
the Company to frequent systems interruptions. The Company also relies on affiliate and third-party computer systems, broadband and other communications
systems and service providers in connection with the provision of services generally, as well as to facilitate, process and fulfill transactions. Any interruptions,
outages or delays in its systems and infrastructures, its businesses, its affiliates and/or third parties, or deterioration in the performance of these systems and
infrastructures, could impair the ability of the Company's businesses to provide services, fulfill orders and/or process transactions. Fire, flood, power loss,
telecommunications failure, hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, acts of war or terrorism, acts of God and similar events or disruptions may damage or interrupt
computer, broadband or other communications systems and infrastructures at any time. Any of these events could cause system interruption, delays and loss of
critical data, and could prevent the Company's businesses from providing services, fulfilling orders and/or processing transactions. While the Company's
businesses have backup systems for certain aspects of their operations, disaster recovery planning by its nature cannot be sufficient for all eventualities. In
addition, the Company may not have adequate insurance coverage to compensate for losses from a major interruption. If any of these
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adverse events were to occur, it could adversely affect the Company's business, financial conditions and results of operations.
In addition, any penetration of network security or other misappropriation or misuse of personal consumer information could cause interruptions in the
operations of the Company's businesses and subject the Company to increased costs, litigation and other liabilities. Network security issues could lead to claims
against the Company for other misuse of personal information, such as for unauthorized purposes or identity theft, which could result in litigation and financial
liabilities, as well as administrative action from governmental authorities. Security breaches could also significantly damage the Company's reputation with
consumers and third parties with whom the Company does business. It is possible that advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries, undetected fraud,
inadvertent violations of company policies or procedures or other developments could result in a compromise of information or a breach of the technology and
security processes that are used to protect consumer transaction data. As a result, current security measures may not prevent any or all security breaches. The
Company may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against and remedy any potential or existing security breaches and their
consequences. The Company also faces risks associated with security breaches affecting third parties with which it is affiliated or otherwise conducts business
online. Consumers are generally concerned with security and privacy of the Internet, and any publicized security problems affecting the Company's businesses
and/or those of third parties may discourage consumers from doing business with the Company, which could have an adverse effect on the Company's business,
financial condition and results of operations.
Privacy—The processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of governmental regulation, conflicting legal
requirements or differing views of personal privacy rights.
In the processing of consumer transactions, the Company's businesses receive, transmit and store a large volume of personally identifiable information and
other user data. The sharing, use, disclosure and protection of this information are governed by the privacy and data security policies maintained by the Company
and its businesses. Moreover, there are federal, state and international laws regarding privacy and the storing, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of
personally identifiable information and user data. Specifically, personally identifiable information is increasingly subject to legislation and regulations in
numerous jurisdictions around the world, the intent of which is to protect the privacy of personal information that is collected, processed and transmitted in or
from the governing jurisdiction. The Company could be adversely affected if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in business practices or
privacy policies, or if governing jurisdictions interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect its business, financial condition
and results of operations.
The Company's businesses may also become exposed to potential liabilities as a result of differing views on the privacy of consumer and other user data
collected by these businesses. The Company's failure, and/or the failure by the various third party vendors and service providers with which the Company does
business, to comply with applicable privacy policies or federal, state or similar international laws and regulations or any compromise of security that results in
the unauthorized release of personally identifiable information or other user data could damage the reputation of these businesses, discourage potential users from
trying the Company's products and services and/or result in fines and/or proceedings by governmental agencies and/or consumers, one or all of which could
adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Intellectual Property—The Company may fail to adequately protect its intellectual property rights or may be accused of infringing intellectual property rights
of third parties.
The Company may fail to adequately protect its intellectual property rights or may be accused of infringing intellectual property rights of third parties. The
Company regards its intellectual property rights, including patents, service marks, trademarks and domain names, copyrights, trade secrets and similar
intellectual property (as applicable) as critical to its success. The Company's businesses also rely heavily upon software codes, informational databases and other
components that make up their products and services.
The Company relies on a combination of laws and contractual restrictions with employees, customers, suppliers, affiliates and others to establish and protect
these proprietary rights. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use trade secret or copyrighted intellectual
property without authorization which, if discovered, might require legal action to correct. In addition, third parties may independently and lawfully develop
substantially similar intellectual properties.
The Company has generally registered and continues to apply to register, or secure by contract when appropriate, its trademarks and service marks as they
are developed and used, and reserves and registers domain names as it deems appropriate. The Company generally considers the protection of its trademarks to
be important for purposes of brand maintenance and reputation. While the Company vigorously protects its trademarks, service marks and domain names,
effective trademark protection may not be available or may not be sought in every country in which products and services are made available, and contractual
disputes may affect the use of marks governed by private contract. Similarly, not every variation of a domain name may be available or be registered, even if
available. The failure of the Company to protect its intellectual property rights in a meaningful manner or challenges to related contractual rights could result in
erosion of brand names and limit its ability to control marketing on or through the Internet using its various domain names or otherwise, which could adversely
affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.
Some of the Company's businesses have been granted patents and/or have patent applications pending with the United States Patent and Trademark Office
and/or various foreign patent authorities for various proprietary technologies and other inventions. The Company considers applying for patents or for other
appropriate statutory protection when it develops valuable new or improved proprietary technologies or identifies inventions, and will continue to consider the
appropriateness of filing for patents to protect future proprietary technologies and inventions as circumstances may warrant. The status of any patent involves
complex legal and factual questions, and the breadth of claims allowed is uncertain. Accordingly, any patent application filed may not result in a patent being
issued or existing or future patents may not be adjudicated valid by a court or be afforded adequate protection against competitors with similar technology. In
addition, third parties may create new products or methods that achieve similar results without infringing upon patents that the Company owns. Likewise, the
issuance of a patent to the Company does not mean that its processes or inventions will not be found to infringe upon patents or other rights previously issued to
third parties.
From time to time, the Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including claims of alleged infringement of
the trademarks, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. In addition, litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce the
Company's intellectual property rights, protect trade secrets or determine the validity and scope of proprietary rights claimed by others. Any litigation of this
nature, regardless of outcome or merit, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management and technical resources, any of which could adversely affect
the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. Patent litigation tends to be particularly protracted and expensive.
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Key Employees—Failure to attract and retain key employees could adversely impact the Company's business.
In order to be successful, the Company must attract and retain talented executives and other key employees, including those in managerial, technical, sales,
marketing and support positions. The Company's businesses require individuals with relevant experience and diverse skill sets, and the market for these
personnel is highly competitive. The failure to attract employees with the requisite skills and abilities to the Company, or the loss of key employees could
adversely impact the Company's ability to meet key objectives, such as the timely and effective development and delivery of products and services, and could
otherwise have a significant impact on the Company's operations.
Brand Recognition—Failure to maintain brand recognition and attract and retain customers in a cost-effective manner could adversely affect the
Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.
Maintaining and promoting the Ticketmaster and www.ticketmaster.com (and related international) brand names and, to a lesser extent, the
www.ticketsnow.com, www.ticketweb.com, www.museumtix.com and www.tmvista.com (and related international) brand names, is critical to the ability of the
Company's businesses to attract consumers and business customers to their respective websites and other distribution channels. The Company believes that the
importance of brand recognition will increase, given the growing number of online ticketing services due to relatively low barriers to entry to providing online
content and services. Accordingly, the Company has spent, and expects to continue to spend, increasing amounts of money on, and devote greater resources to,
branding and other marketing initiatives, including search engine optimization techniques and paid search engine marketing, neither of which may be successful
or cost-effective. The failure of the Company's businesses to maintain the recognition of their respective brands and to attract and retain consumers in a
cost-effective manner could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.
Acquisitions—The Company may experience operational and financial risks in connection with acquisitions. In addition, some of the businesses acquired by
the Company may incur significant losses from operations or experience impairment of carrying value.
The Company's growth may depend upon future acquisitions and depends, in part, on the Company's ability to successfully integrate historical acquisitions.
The Company may experience operational and financial risks in connection with acquisitions. To the extent that the Company continues to grow through
acquisitions, it will need to:
•
successfully integrate the operations, as well as the accounting, financial controls, management information, technology, human resources
and other administrative systems, of acquired businesses with existing operations and systems;
•
retain the clients of the acquired businesses;
•
retain and integrate key personnel at acquired businesses; and
•
successfully manage acquisition-related resource demands on its management, operations and financial resources and/or those of acquired
businesses.
The Company may not be successful in addressing these challenges or any others encountered in connection with recent and future acquisitions and the
failure to do so could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. The anticipated benefits of one or more acquisitions may not be
realized and future acquisitions could result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities and/or contingent liabilities. Also, the value of goodwill and
other intangible assets acquired could be impacted by one or more unfavorable events or trends, which could result in impairment charges. The occurrence of any
of these events could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company may choose to
substantially reduce or discontinue the operations of any of its acquired businesses if it is unsuccessful
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in meeting these challenges. Any such shut-down could expose the Company to expenses associated with exiting from existing contracts and terminating
employees, and could expose the Company to certain unknown liabilities that arise following the shut-down.
Through certain acquisitions, such as the acquisitions of TicketsNow, Emma Entertainment, Echo, GET ME IN! and Front Line, the Company entered into
aspects, and through future acquisitions may enter into aspects, of the ticketing and/or entertainment industries in which it had not previously participated
directly. Acquisitions of this nature could adversely affect relationships with new and potential clients to the extent that clients view the interests of acquired
businesses, or those of the Company overall following the completion of any such acquisitions, as competing with or diverging from their own, which could
adversely impact the Company's relationships with its clients and its ability to attract new clients. This would adversely affect the Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Future Capital Needs—The Company may have future capital needs and may not be able to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms.
In connection with the Company's spin-off from IAC, the Company incurred indebtedness of approximately $765.0 million. The Company has since paid
down $23.0 million of its indebtedness, while also drawing down an additional $70.0 million from its revolving credit facility. The Company's future capital
needs may include funds necessary to develop new services or to enhance its existing services, to complete acquisitions or to otherwise take advantage of
business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures.
These arrangements and current market conditions may limit the Company's ability to secure additional financing in the future on favorable terms or at all.
The Company's ability to secure additional financing and satisfy the Company's financial obligations under indebtedness outstanding from time to time will
depend upon the Company's future operating performance, which is subject to then prevailing general economic and credit market conditions, including interest
rate levels and the availability of credit generally, and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond the Company's control. The prolonged
continuation or worsening of current credit market conditions would have a material adverse effect on the Company's ability to secure financing on favorable
terms, if at all.
The Company may be unable to secure additional financing or financing on favorable terms or its operating cash flow may be insufficient to satisfy its
financial obligations under indebtedness outstanding from time to time (if any). Furthermore, if financing is not available when needed, or is available on
unfavorable terms, the Company may be unable to develop new services or enhance its existing services, complete acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of
business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of
operations. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities, the Company's stockholders may experience significant dilution.
Goodwill Impairment—Impairment of the Company's goodwill could negatively affect the Company's financial results and financial condition.
In accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"), the Company tests goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. If the carrying amount of the
Company's goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded. During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company
recognized a total non-cash charge of $1.1 billion related to the impairment of goodwill of its ticketing reporting unit. As of December 31, 2009, the Company
had goodwill of approximately $482.3 million, which constituted approximately 27% of its total assets at that date. Due to the volatile stock market, the current
economic uncertainty and
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other factors, the Company cannot provide assurance that remaining goodwill will not be further impaired in future periods. Impairment may result from, among
other things, a significant decline in its expected cash flows, an adverse change in the business climate and slower growth rates in its industry. If the Company is
required to record an impairment charge for its goodwill in the future, this would adversely impact its financial condition and financial results.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR SPIN-OFF FROM IAC
If our spin-off from IAC, or one or more of the spin-offs of three other IAC subsidiaries from IAC that occurred on the same date, were to fail to qualify as a
transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Company may be subject to significant tax liabilities.
In connection with IAC's spin-off of each of the Company and certain other former businesses of IAC, each of which is referred to as a Spinco, IAC
received a private letter ruling from the IRS regarding the qualification of these spin-offs as transactions that are generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. IAC's spin-off of each of the Spincos is referred to collectively as the IAC spin-offs. IAC also received an opinion of counsel regarding certain aspects
of the transaction that were not covered by the private letter ruling. Notwithstanding the IRS private letter ruling and opinion of counsel, the IRS could determine
that one or more of the IAC spin-offs should be treated as a taxable distribution if it determines that any of the representations, statements or assumptions or
undertakings that were included in the request for the IRS private letter ruling are false or have been violated or if it disagrees with the conclusions in the opinion
of counsel that are not covered by the IRS ruling. In addition, if any of the representations, statements or assumptions upon which the opinion of counsel was
based were or become inaccurate, the opinion may be invalid.
If any of the IAC spin-offs were to fail to qualify as a transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then IAC would incur
material income tax liabilities for which the Company could be liable. Under applicable federal income tax rules, the Company is severally liable for any federal
income taxes imposed on IAC with respect to taxable periods during which the Company was a member of IAC's consolidated federal income tax return group,
including the period in which the IAC spin-offs were consummated. Under the Tax Sharing Agreement that the Company entered into with IAC and the other
Spincos, the Company generally is required to indemnify IAC and the other Spincos for any taxes resulting from the Company's spin-off to the extent such
amounts resulted from (i) any act or failure to act by the Company described in the covenants in the Tax Sharing Agreement, (ii) any acquisition of equity
securities or assets of the Company or (iii) any breach by the Company of any representation or covenant contained in the separation documents or in the
documents relating to the IRS private letter ruling and/or tax opinions. Corresponding indemnification provisions also apply to the other Spincos. The Company
is entitled to indemnification from IAC, among other things, if, the Company is liable for, or otherwise required to make a payment in respect of, a the Company
spin-off tax liability for which the Company is not responsible under the Tax Sharing Agreement and, if applicable, is unable to collect from the Spinco
responsible for such liability under the Tax Sharing Agreement. The Company's ability to collect under these indemnity provisions would depend on the financial
position of the indemnifying party.
Certain transactions in IAC, the Company, or other Spinco equity securities could cause one or more of the IAC spin-offs to be taxable to IAC and may give
rise to indemnification obligations of the Company under the Tax Sharing Agreement.
Current U.S. federal income tax law creates a presumption that any of the IAC spin-offs would be taxable to IAC if it is part of a "plan or series of related
transactions" pursuant to which one or more persons acquire directly or indirectly stock representing a 50% or greater interest (by vote or value) in IAC or a
Spinco (including the Company). Acquisitions that occur during the four-year period that begins two years before the date of a spin-off are presumed to occur
pursuant to a plan or series of
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related transactions, unless it is established that the acquisition is not pursuant to a plan or series of transactions that includes the spin-off.
These rules limit the Company's ability during the two-year period following the Company's spin-off to enter into certain transactions that might be
advantageous to the Company and its stockholders, particularly issuing equity securities to satisfy financing needs, repurchasing equity securities, and, under
certain circumstances, acquiring businesses or assets with equity securities or agreeing to be acquired. Under the Tax Sharing Agreement, there are restrictions on
the Company's ability to take such actions for a period of 25 months from the day after the date of the Company's spin-off. Entering into the merger agreement
with Live Nation did not violate these restrictions because, prior to entering into the agreement, the Company provided IAC with an unqualified opinion of tax
counsel contemplated by the Tax Sharing Agreement and IAC confirmed that the opinion was satisfactory to IAC.
In addition to actions of IAC and the Spincos (including the Company), certain transactions that are outside their control and therefore not subject to the
restrictive covenants contained in the Tax Sharing Agreement, such as a sale or disposition of the stock of IAC or the stock of a Spinco by certain persons that
own five percent or more of any class of stock of IAC or a Spinco could have a similar effect on the tax-free status of a spin-off as transactions to which IAC or a
Spinco is a party. As of the date of the Company's spin-off, Liberty Media and certain of its affiliates, in the aggregate, owned IAC stock representing
approximately 61.6% by vote and 29.9% by value and, immediately subsequent to the Company's spin-off, owned stock of each Spinco representing
approximately 29.9% by vote and value. Accordingly, in evaluating the Company's ability to engage in certain transactions involving its equity securities, the
Company will need to take into account the activities of Liberty Media and its affiliates.
As a result of these rules, even if each IAC spin-off otherwise qualifies as a transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes,
transactions involving Spinco or IAC equity securities (including transactions by certain significant stockholders) could cause IAC to recognize taxable gain with
respect to the stock of the Spinco as described above. Although the restrictive covenants and indemnification provisions contained in the Tax Sharing Agreement
are intended to minimize the likelihood that such an event will occur, one or more of the IAC spin-offs may become taxable to IAC as a result of transactions in
IAC or Spinco equity securities. As discussed previously, the Company could be liable for such taxes under the Tax Sharing Agreement or under applicable
federal income tax rules.
In connection with the merger with Live Nation, the Company received (i) two unqualified opinions of tax counsel (one dated as of the date of execution of
the definitive merger agreement and one dated as of the closing date of the merger) that the transaction as contemplated in the definitive merger agreement will
not have an adverse tax effect on the Company's spin-off, and (ii) IAC's written acknowledgement that the closing date opinion was in form and substance
satisfactory to IAC. However, the IRS may disagree with the conclusions in these opinions of counsel and determine that the merger caused the Company's
spin-off to be taxable to IAC. Were this to occur and that position were sustained, the Company would be required to make material indemnification payments to
IAC.
The spin-off agreements were not the result of arm's length negotiations.
The agreements that the Company entered into with IAC and the other Spincos in connection with the spin-offs, including the Separation and Distribution
Agreement, Tax Sharing Agreement, Employee Matters Agreement and Transition Services Agreement, were established by IAC, in consultation with the
Spincos, with the intention of maximizing the value to current IAC's shareholders. Accordingly, the terms for the Company may not be as favorable as would
have resulted from negotiations among unrelated third parties.
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Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2.

Properties

The Company's principal executive offices are those of its parent, Live Nation, located at 9348 Civic Center Drive, Beverly Hills, California; its corporate
operating offices are located at 8800 W. Sunset Blvd., West Hollywood, California, where the Company currently leases approximately 82,000 square feet from
IAC. The Company also leases office space in various cities throughout the United States and in the various jurisdictions abroad in which it has operations
pursuant to short- and long-term leases of adequate duration. In addition, the Company owns a small plot of land outside of Albuquerque, New Mexico. The
Company believes that its facilities are adequate in the locations where it currently does business.
The following table shows the location, approximate square footage, use and related business segment of each of the material principal properties used by
the Company. All such properties are leased.
Location

State (U.S.) or
Country

West
Hollywood California

Item 3.

Los Angeles

California

Pharr
Los Angeles
Crystal Lake

Texas
California
Illinois

Scottsdale
Irvine

Arizona
California
United
Kingdom

London
Legal Proceedings

Approximate
Square Footage

Use

Segment

81,547 Office building

Corporate
Artist
Services

54,532 Office building
Office building,
41,736 call center
37,055 Office building
35,496 Office building
Office building,
32,000 data center
31,720 Office building

Ticketing
Ticketing

31,700 Office building

Ticketing

Ticketing
Ticketing
Ticketing

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is a party to various legal proceedings, including those noted in this section. The Company establishes
reserves for specific legal matters when it determines that the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is probable and the loss is reasonably estimable. Management
has also identified certain other legal matters where it believes an unfavorable outcome is not probable and, therefore, no reserve is established. Although
management currently believes that an unfavorable resolution of claims against the Company, including claims where an unfavorable outcome is reasonably
possible, will not have a material impact on the liquidity, results of operations or financial condition of the Company, these matters are subject to inherent
uncertainties and management's view of these matters may change in the future. It is possible that an unfavorable outcome of one or more of these lawsuits could
have a material impact on the liquidity, results of operations, or financial condition of the Company. The Company also evaluates other contingent matters,
including tax contingencies, to assess the probability and estimated extent of potential loss. See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules—Note 8—Income Taxes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion related to income tax contingencies. Except as expressly noted
herein, the Company intends to vigorously defend or prosecute all pending legal matters.
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UPS Consumer Class Action Litigation
On October 21, 2003, a purported representative action was filed in California state court, challenging Ticketmaster Entertainment's charges to online
customers for UPS ticket delivery. The complaint alleged in essence that it is unlawful for Ticketmaster Entertainment not to disclose on its website that the fee it
charges to online customers to have their tickets delivered by UPS contains a profit component. The complaint asserted a claim for violation of California's
Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), codified at California Business and Professions Code section 17200 et seq., and sought restitution or disgorgement of the
difference between (i) the total UPS delivery fees charged by Ticketmaster Entertainment in connection with online ticket sales during the applicable statute of
limitations period, and (ii) the amount Ticketmaster Entertainment paid to UPS for that service.
On July 20, 2004, Ticketmaster Entertainment filed a motion for summary judgment. The Court heard the motion on December 20, 2004, and denied
Ticketmaster Entertainment's motion, in part, based on Plaintiffs' arguments that they were not challenging Ticketmaster Entertainment's rights to make a profit,
but instead were only challenging Ticketmaster Entertainment's UPS delivery charges based on Plaintiffs' "misleading pass-through" theory of liability.
On December 7, 2004, Ticketmaster Entertainment filed its first motion for judgment on the pleadings based on the passage of Proposition 64, which
became effective in November 2004. Plaintiffs opposed the motion. The Court heard the motion on April 1, 2005, and explained that Plaintiffs could not proceed
with a representative action without amending the complaint to comply with class action procedures.
On August 31, 2005, the plaintiffs filed their first amended complaint, for the first time pleading this case as a putative class action. The first amended
complaint alleged (i) as before, that Ticketmaster Entertainment's website disclosures in respect of its charges for UPS ticket delivery violate the UCL, and
(ii) for the first time, that Ticketmaster Entertainment's website disclosures in respect of its ticket order-processing fees constitute false advertising in violation of
California's False Advertising Law ("FAL"), codified at California Business and Professions Code sections 17500 et seq. On this latter claim, the amended
complaint seeks restitution or disgorgement of the entire amount of order-processing fees charged by Ticketmaster Entertainment during the applicable statute of
limitations period.
On September 25, 2006, Ticketmaster Entertainment filed their second motion for judgment on the pleadings, which the plaintiffs opposed. On
November 21, 2006, Ticketmaster Entertainment requested that the court stay the case pending the California Supreme Court's decisions in two cases (In re
Tobacco II Cases, 142 Cal. App. 4th 891 (2006), and Pfizer Inc. v. Superior Court (Galfano), 141 Cal. App. 4th 290 (2006)) that present issues concerning the
interpretation of Proposition 64 that are directly pertinent to both of the pending motions. The plaintiffs opposed Ticketmaster Entertainment's request. On
November 29, 2006, the court ordered that the case be stayed pending the California Supreme Court's ruling on the two cases referenced above.
On September 20, 2007, the Court heard Plaintiffs' motion for class certification. On December 19, 2007, the Court issued an Order denying the motion
without prejudice and continuing the stay of the case pending resolution of In re Tobacco II (the lead case before the Supreme Court on the relevant issues).
On May 18, 2009, the California Supreme Court decided the Tobacco II case. On April 1, 2009, the Court granted plaintiff's motion for leave to file a
Second Amended Complaint that purports to clarify plaintiff's existing claims under the UCL and FAL and adds new claims that (a) Ticketmaster Entertainment's
order processing fees are unconscionable under the UCL and (b) Ticketmaster Entertainment's alleged business practices violate the "unlawful" prong of the UCL
because they also allegedly constitute an underlying violation of California's Consumer Legal Remedies Act (codified at
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California Civil Code sections 1750 et seq.). Ticketmaster Entertainment filed a demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint on May 8, 2009. Plaintiffs filed a
Third Amended Complaint to attempt to cure deficiencies in the Second Amended Complaint and to seek to address the California Supreme Court's holding in
Tobacco II. Ticketmaster Entertainment filed a demurrer to the Third Amended Complaint on July 3. The court overruled Ticketmaster Entertainment's
demurrers on October 20, 2009. Plaintiffs filed their second class certification motion on August 31, 2009, which Ticketmaster Entertainment opposed on
September 21, 2009. On February 5, 2010, the court granted certification of a class as to the first two causes of action (which allege that Ticketmaster
Entertainment misrepresents/omits the fact that there is a profit component in its UPS and Order Processing Fees). The class will consist of California consumers
who purchased tickets through Ticketmaster Entertainment's website from 1999 to the present. The court denied certification of a class on the third and fourth
causes of action, which allege that Ticketmaster Entertainment's UPS and Order Processing fees are unconscionably high. The parties are awaiting a formal order
from the court.
Canadian Consumer Class Action Litigation Relating to TicketsNow
In February of 2009, five putative consumer class action complaints were filed in Canada against TNow Entertainment Group, Inc. ("TicketsNow"),
Ticketmaster Entertainment, Ticketmaster Canada Ltd. ("Ticketmaster Canada") and Premium Inventory, Inc. All of the cases allege essentially the same set of
facts and causes of action: each plaintiff purports to represent a class consisting of all persons who purchased a ticket from Ticketmaster Entertainment,
Ticketmaster Canada or TicketsNow from early February of 2007 to the present. Each proposed class purports to extend to United States as well as Canadian
consumers. The complaints allege in essence that Ticketmaster Entertainment and Ticketmaster Canada conspired to divert a large number of tickets for resale
through the TicketsNow website at prices higher than face value in violation of Ontario's Ticket Speculation Act, the Amusement Act of Manitoba, the
Amusement Act of Alberta, and the Quebec Consumer Protection Act, respectively. The Ontario case contains the additional allegation that Ticketmaster
Entertainment and TicketsNow's service fees run afoul of anti-scalping laws. Each lawsuit seeks compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of the class.
United States Consumer Class Action Litigation Relating to TicketsNow
From February through June of 2009, eleven purported class action lawsuits asserting causes of action under various state consumer protection laws were
filed against Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow in District Courts in California, New Jersey, Minnesota, Pennsylvania and North Carolina. The
lawsuits allege that Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow unlawfully deceived consumers by, among other things, selling large quantities of tickets to
TicketsNow's ticket brokers, either prior to or at the time that tickets for an event go on sale, thereby forcing consumers to purchase tickets at significantly
marked-up prices on TicketsNow.com instead of Ticketmaster.com. Plaintiffs further claim that Ticketmaster Entertainment violated various state consumer
protection laws by allegedly "redirecting" consumers from Ticketmaster.com to Ticketsnow.com, thereby engaging in false advertising and an unfair business
practice by deceiving consumers into inadvertently purchasing tickets from TicketsNow for amounts greater than face value. Plaintiffs claim that Ticketmaster
Entertainment has been unjustly enriched by this conduct and seek compensatory damages, a refund to every class member of the difference between face value
and the amount paid to TicketsNow, an injunction preventing Ticketmaster Entertainment from engaging in further unfair business practices with TicketsNow,
and attorney fees and costs. On July 20, 2009, all of the cases were consolidated and transferred to the Central District of California. Plaintiffs filed their
consolidated class action complaint on September 25, 2009. Ticketmaster Entertainment filed its answer on October 26, 2009.
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Litigation Relating to the Merger with Live Nation
Ticketmaster Entertainment and each of its directors have been named as defendants in two lawsuits filed in the Superior Court of California, Los Angeles
County (the "Court"), challenging the merger: McBride v. Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., No. BC407677, and Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of
Detroit v. Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., No. BC408228. These actions were consolidated under the caption In re Ticketmaster Entertainment Shareholder
Litigation, Lead Case No. BC407677, by a court order dated March 30, 2009. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in the consolidated action on July 2,
2009, a second amended complaint on September 10, 2009, and a third amended complaint on November 19, 2009, which superseded the earlier complaints. The
third amended consolidated complaint generally alleges that Ticketmaster Entertainment and its directors breached their fiduciary duties by entering into the
Merger Agreement without regard to the fairness of its terms to the Ticketmaster Entertainment stockholders and in return for illicit payments of "surplus" Live
Nation stock. The third amended consolidated complaint also alleges that the joint proxy statement/prospectus of Live Nation and Ticketmaster Entertainment,
which is a part of the final Form S-4 Registration Statement of Live Nation that was filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009, contains material omissions and
misstatements. Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction barring the completion of the merger on December 4, 2009. The Court denied this motion in a
hearing on December 22, 2009. The Ticketmaster Entertainment and Live Nation shareholders, respectively, approved the merger in shareholder meetings held
on January 8, 2010. Plaintiffs continue to prosecute the case, now seeking compensatory damages, attorneys' fees and expenses. The Ticketmaster Entertainment
Defendants answered the third amended consolidated complaint on January 21, 2010, denying its allegations and asserting defenses.
Federal Trade Commission Investigation
Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow have entered into a settlement agreement with the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") to resolve the FTC's
investigation of methods by which Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow previously advertised and sold tickets to consumers on the TicketsNow resale
marketplace. Pursuant to a Stipulated Final Judgment dated February 18, 2010, Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow will make restitutionary payments to
certain consumers claiming to be unsatisfied with ticket purchases made from the TicketsNow online resale marketplace, as well as additional disclosures
(1) when linking between primary and resale ticket sites and (2) pertaining to the issue of speculative ticket postings and anticipated ticket delivery dates.
Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) to Form 10-K.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities

The common stock of Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., our predecessor corporation, was listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. ("NASDAQ") under the
ticker symbol "TKTM" from August 12, 2008 until January 25, 2010. The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low prices per share for our common
stock during the periods indicated:
Quarter Ended

High

Low

September 30, 2008
(beginning
August 12)
$
27.00
$
9.52
December 31, 2008
$
13.33
$
3.33
March 31, 2009
$
7.22
$
3.42
June 30, 2009
$
8.23
$
3.60
September 30, 2009
$
12.90
$
5.49
December 31, 2009
$
13.00
$
9.26
As of January 25, 2010, Live Nation is the indirect owner of all the common equity in the Company, and there is no public market for the common equity of
the Company.
Any distributions in respect of the ownership interests of the Company (the limited liability company equivalent of a dividend in respect of the common
stock of a corporation) will depend on our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and other factors considered relevant by Live Nation as our sole
owner (subject to restrictions in the documents governing our indebtedness). There are restrictions on our ability to pay dividends under our senior secured credit
facility.
During the quarter ended December 31, 2009, the Company did not issue or sell any shares of its common stock or other equity securities pursuant to
unregistered transactions. The Company did not purchase any shares of its common stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2009.
Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

Omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(a) to Form 10-K.
24

Source: TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC, 10-K, February 25, 2010

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

Table of Contents
Item 7.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
GENERAL

Forward-Looking Statements
Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause
actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements or other public statements. Forward-looking statements include the information regarding future financial performance,
business prospects and strategy, as well as anticipated financial position, liquidity and capital needs and other similar matters, in each case relating to the
Company.
Statements preceded by, followed by or that otherwise include the words "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "projects," "estimates," "plans,"
"may increase," "may fluctuate," and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as "will," "should," "would," "may" and "could" are generally
forward-looking in nature and not historical facts. You should understand that the following important factors could affect future results and could cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressed in such forward-looking statements:
•
our recently-completed merger with Live Nation;
•
adverse changes in economic conditions generally, including the current worldwide economic downturn, or in any of the markets or
industries in which the businesses of the Company operate;
•
changes in senior management at the Company;
•
adverse changes to, or interruptions in, relationships with third parties;
•
changes affecting the ability of the Company to efficiently maintain and grow the market share of its various brands, as well as to extend
the reach of these brands through a variety of distribution channels and to attract new (and retain existing) customers;
•
consumer acceptance of new products and services offered by the Company;
•
the rates of growth of the Internet and the e-commerce industry;
•
changes adversely affecting the ability of the Company to adequately expand the reach of its businesses into various international markets,
as well as to successfully manage risks specific to international operations and acquisitions, including the successful integration of acquired
businesses;
•
regulatory legislative and legal actions and conditions affecting the Company, including:
•
the promulgation of new, and/or the amendment of existing laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company and its
businesses;
•
changes in the application or interpretation of existing laws, rules and regulations in the case of the businesses of the Company.
In each case, laws, rules and regulations include, among others, those relating to sales, use, value-added and other taxes, software
programs, consumer protection and privacy, intellectual property, the Internet and e-commerce; and
•
the outcome of pending and future legal proceedings to which the Company is a party;
•
competition from other companies;
•
changes adversely affecting the ability of the Company and its businesses to adequately protect intellectual property rights, as well as to
obtain licenses or other rights with respect to
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intellectual property in the future, which may or may not be available on favorable terms (if at all);
•
the substantial indebtedness of the Company and the possibility that the Company may incur additional indebtedness;
•
third-party claims alleging infringement of intellectual property rights by the Company or its businesses, which could result in the
expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources, injunctions or the imposition of damages, as well as the need to enter into
formal licensing or other similar arrangements with such third parties, which may or may not be available on favorable terms (if at all);
•
the Company's ability to successfully implement expense reduction measures; and
•
natural disasters, acts of terrorism, war or political instability.
Certain of these factors and other factors, risks and uncertainties are discussed in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other unknown or
unpredictable factors may also cause actual results to differ materially from those projected by the forward-looking statements. Most of these factors are difficult
to anticipate and are generally beyond the control of the Company.
You should consider the areas of risk described above, as well as those set forth in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in connection with
considering any forward-looking statements that may be made by the Company generally. Except for the ongoing obligations of the Company to disclose
material information under the federal securities laws, the Company does not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking
statements, to report events or to report the occurrence of unanticipated events unless required to do so by law.
Spin-off from IAC/InterActive Corp
On July 1, 2008, the Board of Directors of IAC/InterActiveCorp ("IAC") approved a plan to separate IAC into five separate, publicly traded companies via
the distribution of all of the outstanding shares of the common stock of four wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Spincos"), including the Company.
On August 20, 2008, IAC distributed to its stockholders all of the outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Ticketmaster
Entertainment (the "Spin-off"). The Company's businesses include the businesses that formerly comprised IAC's Ticketmaster segment, which included IAC's
domestic and international ticketing and ticketing related businesses, subsidiaries and investments, excluding the Company's ReserveAmerica subsidiary and its
investment in Active.com. At the time of the Spin-off, the Company included IAC's minority investment in Front Line. On October 29, 2008, the Company
acquired an additional equity interest in Front Line, giving the Company a controlling interest in Front Line. As a result, the Company consolidated the results of
Front Line from the acquisition date.
Upon completion of the Spin-off (and for a short period prior to that, on a "when issued" basis), the Company's shares began trading on The Nasdaq Global
Select Market ("NASDAQ") under the symbol "TKTM." In conjunction with the Spin-off, the Company completed the following transactions: (1) extinguished
all intercompany receivable balances due from IAC and its subsidiaries, which totaled $604.4 million, by recording a non-cash distribution to IAC,
(2) recapitalized the invested equity balance with common stock, whereby holders of IAC stock received one fifth of a share of Ticketmaster Entertainment
common stock for each share of common and class B common stock of IAC held, as described in our Post Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 (Commission
File Number 333-152702) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on August 20, 2008, and (3) distributed $752.9 million in cash to IAC in
connection with the Company's separation from IAC, which included the net proceeds of $723.6 million from a combination of privately issued debt
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securities and bank borrowings. Refer to Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules—Note 9—Long-Term Debt.
Merger with Live Nation
On February 10, 2009, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to merge with Live Nation, Inc. The merger with Live Nation was completed on
January 25, 2010 (the "Merger"). As part of the Merger, among other things, (i) Ticketmaster Entertainment, which up to that time was a Delaware corporation
named Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. ("Old Ticketmaster"), merged into an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation ("Merger Sub"), (ii) Merger Sub
continued as the surviving entity and Old Ticketmaster ceased to exist, (iii) Merger Sub was renamed Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC, a single member limited
liability company with an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation as its sole member, (iv) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of Old
Ticketmaster was converted into 1.4743728 shares of common stock of Live Nation plus cash in lieu of any fractional shares, and (v) Live Nation changed its
name to Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. As a result, Ticketmaster Entertainment is now an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation, and Live Nation
remains a publicly-traded company with its shares listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "LYV." See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial
Statement Schedules—Note 3—Merger with Live Nation to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion related to the Merger.
Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements present our results of operations, financial position, temporary equity and equity, comprehensive income and cash
flows on a consolidated basis. The consolidated financial statements include the Company's investment in Front Line, which was consolidated beginning on
October 29, 2008, when the Company increased its ownership interest from 39.4% to 82.3% (approximately 75% on a diluted basis). Prior to October 29, 2008,
the investment in Front Line was accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
We prepared the consolidated financial statements from the historical results of operations and historical basis of the assets and liabilities of the Company
with the exception of income taxes. We computed income taxes using our stand-alone tax rate. Our income tax payable as well as deferred tax assets and
liabilities represent the estimated impact of filing a consolidated income tax return with IAC through the Spin-off, and filing a standalone consolidated income
tax return thereafter. We eliminated all significant intercompany transactions and accounts for periods prior to the Spin-off.
Until the Spin-off, we recorded expense allocations from IAC, which consisted of certain IAC general corporate overhead expenses, based on the ratio of
our revenue as a percentage of IAC's total revenue. The general corporate overhead allocations primarily included expenses relating to accounting, treasury,
legal, tax, corporate support, human resource functions and internal audit. Since the Spin-off, we have been performing these functions using our own resources
or purchased services, including services purchased from IAC pursuant to the transitional services agreement among IAC and the Spincos.
The historical financial statements are based on certain assumptions about the Company as a stand-alone company. Our management believes the
assumptions underlying the historical consolidated financial statements of the Company are reasonable. However, this financial information does not necessarily
reflect what the historical financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company would have been if the Company had been a stand-alone
company during the entire period presented.
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Management Overview
The Company is the world's leading live entertainment ticketing and marketing company based on the number of tickets sold, providing ticket sales, ticket
resale services, marketing and distribution through www.ticketmaster.com, one of the largest e-commerce sites on the Internet, approximately 6,700 independent
sales outlets and 17 call centers worldwide. The Company serves leading arenas, stadiums, professional sports franchises and leagues, college sports teams,
performing arts venues, museums and theaters in the United States and abroad, including Australia, Canada, China, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Ireland, the
Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Turkey and the United Kingdom. The Company is also a party to joint ventures with third parties to provide
ticket distribution services in Mexico and supplied ticketing services for the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games. The Company licenses its technology in Mexico,
Argentina, Brazil, Chile and China.
Sources of Revenue
Ticketing
The Company earns a majority of its revenue from primary ticketing on behalf of its clients. Ticketing operations revenue primarily consists of convenience
and order processing fees generated primarily through ticket sales. The sale of tickets for an event often commences several months prior to the event
performance date. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of a ticket when the ticket is sold. Fluctuations in ticket operations revenue occur largely as a
result of changes in the number of tickets sold and the average revenue per ticket. The number of tickets sold varies as a result of (i) additions or losses of clients
serviced by the Company; (ii) fluctuations in the scheduling of events, particularly for popular performers; (iii) overall consumer demand for live entertainment
events; and (iv) the percentage of tickets for events which are sold directly by clients. The average revenue per ticket varies as a result of the amount of
convenience charges earned on each ticket. The amount of convenience charges typically varies based upon numerous factors, including the face price of the
ticket, the type of event, whether the ticket is purchased at an independent sales outlet, through call centers or via our websites, as well as the services to be
rendered to the client.
Artist Services
Front Line secures work for the clients it represents, for which it receives a commission. Generally, commissions are payable by clients upon their receipt of
payments for performance of services or upon the delivery or use of materials that they created. Revenue is recognized in the month of the artist event.
Contingent commissions, such as those based on profits or gross receipts, are recorded upon determination of the amounts. Revenue is not recognized before
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the amount to be received is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably
assured.
Other revenues consist of revenues from the sales of entertainment packages to consumers in connection with live performances. Entertainment packages
are sold and cash is received from consumers in advance of the event. Revenue and related expenses incurred are deferred until the event occurs. In addition,
Front Line sells entertainment related merchandise at live musical performances, to retailers, and directly to consumers via a website. For retail and Internet sales,
revenue is recognized upon shipment of the merchandise. Touring revenue, including the sale of merchandise, is recognized in the month of the event.
Operating Costs
The Company records ticket operations costs specifically associated with the distribution of tickets sold through its system. The largest components of these
operating costs are royalties paid to clients as a share of convenience and order processing fees, credit card fees, payroll, telecommunication and data
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communication costs associated with the Company's call centers, commissions paid on tickets distributed through independent sales outlets away from the box
office, and other expenses including ticket stock and postage. These costs are primarily variable in nature. Direct payroll costs relate to our call centers. Outlet
commissions are paid to music chains, department stores and other independent retail locations in exchange for their providing space and personnel to service
ticket purchases. The participation, if any, by clients in the Company's revenue from convenience and order processing fees is set forth in our contracts with its
clients.
Channels of Distribution; Marketing Costs
The Company sells tickets online, through independent sales outlets, call centers and via mobile devices. During the year ended December 31, 2009, 77%,
13%, 10% and less than 1% of primary tickets were sold through these channels, respectively.
The Company owns and operates various branded websites, both in the U.S. and abroad, which are customized to reflect services offered in each jurisdiction
and designed to promote ticket sales for live events and disseminate event, performer and related merchandise information online. Consumers can access
www.ticketmaster.com directly from affiliated websites and through numerous direct links from banners and event profiles hosted by approved third party
websites.
As of December 31, 2009, the Company had approximately 6,700 independent sales outlets worldwide, including approximately 1,800 in the United States
and approximately 4,900 in various jurisdictions abroad. The Company pays independent sales outlets a commission, which averaged approximately 17% of our
convenience charge in 2009.
As of December 31, 2009, the Company operated 17 call centers worldwide through which consumers can generally purchase tickets by telephone, or by
way of an interactive voice response system, seven days a week, for at least 22 hours per day.
The Company markets and offers services directly to customers through www.ticketmaster.com and its other branded websites allowing customers to
transact directly with us in a convenient manner. The Company also pays fees to market and distribute services on third party distribution channels, such as
Internet portals and search engines. In addition, some of the Company's businesses manage affiliate programs, pursuant to which they pay commissions and fees
to third parties based on revenue earned. The Company has made, and expects to continue to make, investments in online and offline advertising to build its
brands and drive traffic to its businesses.
Clients routinely agree by contract to include the Company's name, logos, and applicable website address and charge-by-phone number in advertisements in
all forms of media promoting the availability of their tickets. The Company's brand name and logo are also prominently displayed on printed tickets, ticket
envelopes and email alerts about upcoming events that we sends to its customers.
Access to Supply
The Company's primary ticketing services, and to a lesser extent, its ticketing resale services, depend significantly upon our ability to secure ticketing
inventory through existing clients and new clients. The Company believes that the ability of its ticketing clients to reach a large qualified audience through its
brands and businesses, including through its multiple distribution channels, is a significant benefit. The Company seeks to maintain and renew client contracts,
and enter into new client contracts, on a favorable basis.
Economic and Other Trends and Events; Industry Specific Factors
The ticketing services industry has experienced significant changes over the past decade due to the advent of online commerce. The increase in the number
of online ticket sales as a percentage of all
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ticket sales has resulted in a general decrease in ticketing costs, making it easier for clients to manage ticket sales in-house, either using proprietary technology or
stand-alone, automated ticketing systems licensed from a third party. The growth of online commerce has also contributed to the growth of resale ticketing
services and the consolidation of those services, which historically has been very fragmented, consisting of a significant number of local brokers with limited
inventory selling through traditional storefronts. In addition, entertainment-related expenditures such as ticket sales are sensitive to business and personal
discretionary spending levels, which might tend to decline during general economic downturns.
The Company has taken steps to increase revenue from new markets and opportunities. These include a number of discrete investments including new
acquisitions, efforts to gain scale in the market for ticket resale services and adding resources into growth efforts internationally, which come with up-front costs.
In 2008, the Company began a comprehensive review of its worldwide cost structure in the light of significant investments that have been made through
increased operating and capital expenditures, acquisitions in recent periods, and in advance of the termination of the Live Nation ticketing agreement in 2009. As
a result of this review, the Company began to effect a series of actions to reduce annual operating expenses from reductions in personnel, consolidation of
customer contact centers, and reductions in other operating and discretionary costs. The cost-reduction efforts were completed in the first quarter of 2009,
resulting in estimated reductions in operating expenses of approximately $54.2 million in fiscal 2009.
Live Nation Merger Concessions
On January 25, 2010, the Merger Agreement was approved by the DOJ after the Company and Live Nation agreed to concessions required by the DOJ. The
DOJ required, among other concessions, that the Company divest its Paciolan primary ticketing business to Comcast-Spectacor, L.P., or another acceptable
buyer, and that the Company license its proprietary Ticketmaster Host Platform to AEG. For the year ended December 31, 2009, Paciolan contributed revenue,
operating income and net income to the Company of $40.9 million, $8.6 million and $6.1 million, respectively. The Company recognized approximately
$126.8 million of revenue under its ticketing contracts with AEG in 2009. The Company expects that 2010 results will be negatively impacted by the
aforementioned Merger concessions.
International Operations
The Company's future growth depends in part on its ability to expand its brands and businesses abroad, including in Europe and Asia, given the large
consumer marketplace for the services that our brands and businesses offer. The Company's ability to expand its international operations into jurisdictions where
we do not currently operate depends in part on its ability to identify potential acquisition candidates, acquire them on favorable terms and successfully integrate
their operations. In addition, in many countries abroad, access to ticketing inventory is fragmented and may require significant additional investment to achieve
profitability levels consistent with the Company's established businesses. As a percentage of total revenue, international operations represented approximately
27% in 2009, 31% in 2008 and 34% in 2007.
Emma Entertainment
The Company provides primary ticket sales and promotions in China under the Emma Entertainment brand name. For the year ended December 31, 2009,
the Company recorded total revenues of $8.7 million, an operating loss of $24.0 million, and a net loss of $19.7 million relating to Emma Entertainment. In the
fourth quarter of 2009, the Company decided to exit the Emma Entertainment business in China due to the poor results realized in 2009 and ongoing concerns
surrounding the strategic outlook in the Chinese market. The Company expects to wind down and substantially exit the business in the first quarter of 2010.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
Ticketmaster Entertainment Consolidated Results of Operations
Revenue

% Change
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

2009 vs.
2008

2008 vs.
2007

(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue:
Ticketing
Artist services
Total
Revenue

$ 1,294,381
191,786

$ 1,408,820
45,705

$ 1,240,477
—

-8%
NM

14%
NM

$ 1,486,167

$ 1,454,525

$ 1,240,477

2%

17%

NM: Not meaningful
Consolidated
Revenue in 2009 increased $31.6 million, or 2%, from 2008 primarily due to contributions from Front Line, in which the Company acquired a majority
interest in October 2008, partially offset by lower ticketing revenue attributable to the Company's largest client through 2008, Live Nation (including its
subsidiary, House of Blues) following the expiration on December 31, 2008 of the principal agreement for primary ticketing services to Live Nation.
Revenue in 2008 increased $214.0 million, or 17%, from 2007 primarily due to contributions from acquisitions completed in the year ended December 31,
2008. Excluding the impact of the acquisitions, ticketing revenue grew due to higher revenue per ticket, partially offset by a decline in the number of tickets.
Ticketing
Revenue for the ticketing segment decreased $114.4 million, or 8%, from 2008 primarily due to the above mentioned lower ticketing revenue attributable to
Live Nation. On a world-wide basis, there was an 8% decrease in the number of primary tickets sold, while average revenue per ticket decreased by less than 1%.
Excluding the impact of Live Nation, there was a 2% decrease in the number of primary tickets sold and a 3% increase in the average revenue per ticket.
Domestic revenue for ticketing decreased $61.8 million, or 6%, from 2008 primarily due to an 8% decrease in the number of primary tickets sold, partially offset
by an increase in the average revenue per ticket of less than 1%. The decrease in domestic ticketing volumes was primarily attributable to a decline in the
Concerts category due to the expiration of the principal agreement for primary ticketing with Live Nation. Excluding the impact of Live Nation, there was a 5%
increase in the number of primary tickets sold domestically. In addition, revenue from resale ticketing declined $11.1 million, or 9%, from 2008 primarily due to
a decline in the TicketsNow business. The decrease in revenue from TicketsNow was partially offset by additional resale ticketing revenue attributable to the
Company's NFL Ticket Exchange business. International ticketing revenue decreased $52.6 million, or 12%, from 2009 primarily due to a 9% decrease in the
number of primary tickets sold along with a 2% decrease in average revenue per ticket in the Company's international operations. The decrease in the number of
tickets sold was driven primarily by declines in the Concerts and Sports categories. The decrease in the average revenue per ticket is due largely to the volatility
of foreign exchange rates. Excluding the $38.5 million negative impact of foreign exchange rates, international revenue decreased by 3% compared to the prior
year, primarily due to sales declines in the Netherlands, China, Australia and Canada, partially offset by higher revenue in the United Kingdom, Spain, Sweden
and Ireland.
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Revenue for the ticketing segment in 2008 increased $168.3 million, or 14%, from 2007 primarily due to contributions from TicketsNow and Paciolan,
acquired in February and January 2008, respectively, and a 3% higher average revenue per primary ticket worldwide. These increases were partially offset by a
2% decline in the number of primary tickets sold worldwide. Domestic revenue for ticketing grew by 17% due primarily to the TicketsNow and Paciolan
acquisitions mentioned above. Excluding acquisitions, domestic revenue increased slightly primarily due to a 4% increase in average revenue per ticket. The
increase in the average revenue per ticket was partially offset by a 3% decline in the number of primary tickets, with the largest declines in the Concerts and
Family categories. International revenue grew by 6%, or approximately 8% excluding the $5.2 million negative impact of foreign exchange, primarily due to a
2% increase in average revenue per ticket. The increases in the average revenue per ticket primarily resulted from increased revenue from China (Emma
Entertainment acquired in August 2007), Canada and Spain. Acquisitions contributed approximately $138.1 million to worldwide revenue growth in the ticketing
segment in 2008.
The Company's largest client through 2008, Live Nation (including its subsidiary House of Blues), represented approximately 5%, 13% and 17% of its
consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Artist Services
On October 29, 2008, the Company acquired additional equity interests in Front Line, giving the Company a controlling interest in the business. Prior to the
acquisition, the Company did not have a presence in the artist services businesses. Subsequent to the acquisition, the Company consolidated the results of Front
Line and began reporting a separate artist services segment. Artist services focuses on artist management, merchandising, VIP ticketing and related artist
marketing services activities.
Revenue for the artist services segment increased $146.1 million from 2008 as a result of a full year of consolidated operations in 2009. The core artist
management group contributed $90.9 million primarily from touring performances by artists under Front Line's management. Revenue from merchandising, VIP
ticketing and other marketing services contributed $100.9 million of revenue in 2009.
Revenue for the artist services segment in 2008 totaled $45.7 million from the acquisition date, driven by strong touring revenue from its core artist
management roster. Strong retail sales by the merchandise business also contributed to revenue for the period. As the Company did not acquire a controlling
interest in Front Line until October 29, 2008, artist services did not exist as a separate segment for 2007.
Cost of Sales

% Change
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2009 vs. 2008

2007

2008 vs. 2007

(Dollars in thousands)

Cost of sales:
Ticketing
Artist Services
Total
Cost
of
sales

$

812,962
83,190

$

907,583
20,306

$

766,538
—

-10%
NM

18%
NM

$

896,152

$

927,889

$

766,538

-3%

21%

(349)bp
349bp

200bp
(200)bp

As a percentage
of total
revenue
Gross margins

60%
40%

64%
36%

62%
38%

NM: Not meaningful
bp: Basis point
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Consolidated
Cost of sales consists primarily of ticketing royalties, as well as compensation and other employee-related costs (including stock-based compensation) for
personnel engaged in call center functions and credit card processing fees. Ticketing royalties relate to the Company's client's share of convenience and order
processing charges. In the artist services segment, merchandise inventory, related shipping costs and costs associated with VIP ticket packages are recorded as
cost of sales.
Cost of sales in 2009 decreased $31.7 million, or 3%, from 2008, primarily due to a decrease in compensation and other employee-related costs, a decrease
in ticketing royalties and credit card processing fees, a decline in ticketing and shipping variable costs, and a decrease in call center operation costs. Partially
offsetting these decreases in cost of sales, artist services had higher costs as a result of a full year of operations in 2009.
Cost of sales in 2008 increased $161.4 million, or 21%, from 2007, primarily due to an increase in compensation and other employee-related costs, increases
in ticketing royalties and higher credit card processing fees. Included in these increases was the impact of acquisitions of $93.3 million not in the prior year,
which impacted ticketing royalties, compensation and other employee-related costs, credit card processing fees and other variable costs. Other variable costs
include merchandise costs and express delivery and shipping costs. Excluding the impact of acquisitions not in the prior year period, cost of sales increased
$68.1 million, or 9%, from 2007.
Ticketing
Ticketing cost of sales in 2009 decreased $94.6 million, or 10%, from 2008, primarily due to a decrease of $22.5 million in compensation and other
employee-related costs, a decrease of $17.5 million in ticketing royalties, an $11.5 million decrease in costs related to call center operations, a decline of
$8.4 million in ticketing and shipping variable costs and a decrease of $6.2 million in credit card processing fees. The decrease in compensation and
employee-related costs was due in part to a reduction in headcount. The decrease in ticketing royalties and credit card processing fees was primarily due to the
lower convenience and processing revenues. The cost savings from call center operations was due to lower volume and customer calls handled by call centers, as
well as the Company's focus on increased efficiencies and reducing overall expenses. The decrease in ticketing and shipping variable costs was due to the decline
in ticketing sales volume.
Ticketing cost of sales in 2008 increased $141.0 million, or 18%, from 2007, primarily due to an increase of $39.2 million in compensation and other
employee-related expenses, an increase of $18.3 million in ticketing royalties, and an increase of $5.7 million in credit card processing fees. The increase in
compensation and employee-related costs was primarily due to an increase in headcount, which was partially the result of acquisitions in the current year. The
higher ticketing royalties expense was primarily due to higher convenience and processing revenue and higher royalty rates. The increase in credit card
processing fees was due to the increased volume of ticketing sales. Included in these increases was the impact of acquisitions not in the prior year period, which
contributed $25.0 million, $7.5 million, $3.0 million and $37.4 million to compensation and other employee-related costs, credit card processing fees, ticketing
royalties, and other variable costs, respectively. Excluding the impact of acquisitions not in the prior year period, cost of sales increased $47.8 million, or 6%,
from 2007.
Artist Services
Cost of sales for the artist services segment increased $62.9 million from 2008 as a result of a full year of consolidated operations in 2009. Merchandise
inventory costs and related shipping costs represented $66.2 million of the total cost of sales. The remaining $17.0 million of costs are related to royalties and
fulfillment costs for VIP ticket packages.
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Cost of sales in 2008 for Front Line equaled $20.3 million due primarily to $14.3 million in sales of merchandise inventory and related shipping costs. The
remaining $6.0 million of costs are related to royalties and fulfillment costs for VIP ticket packages. As the Company did not acquire a controlling interest in
Front Line until October 29, 2008, artist services did not exist as a separate segment for 2007.
Selling and marketing expense

% Change
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2009 vs. 2008

2007

2008 vs. 2007

(Dollars in thousands)

Selling and marketing
expense:
Ticketing
Artist Services
Total selling and
marketing
expense
As a percentage of total
revenue

$

94,657
—

$

102,631
—

$

43,487
—

-8%
NM

NM
NM

$

94,657

$

102,631

$

43,487

-8%

NM

6%

7%

4%

(69)bp

355bp

NM: Not meaningful
bp: Basis point
Selling and marketing expense consists primarily of advertising and promotional expenditures and compensation and other employee-related costs
(including stock-based compensation) for personnel engaged in customer service and sales functions. Advertising and promotional expenditures primarily
include online marketing, including fees paid to search engines and distribution partners, as well as offline marketing, including sports sponsorship marketing
and radio spending. Selling and marketing expenses are incurred only for the ticketing segment and do not impact the artist services segment.
Selling and marketing expense in 2009 decreased $8.0 million, or 8%, from 2008, primarily due to a decrease of $4.1 million in advertising and promotional
expenditures and a decrease of $1.5 million in compensation and other employee-related costs. The decrease in advertising and promotional expenditures was
due, in part, to a decrease in sports sponsorship marketing expense and fees paid to search engine partners for online marketing. The decrease in compensation
and employee-related costs was due in part to a reduction in headcount.
Selling and marketing expense in 2008 increased $59.1 million from 2007, primarily due to increased advertising and promotional expenditures of
$47.8 million and increased compensation and other employee-related costs of $8.6 million as the Company continued to build out its worldwide infrastructure.
These increases included the impact of acquisitions in 2008, which contributed $25.9 million and $6.4 million to advertising and promotional expenditures and
compensation and other employee-related costs, respectively. The increase in advertising and promotional expenditures was due, in part, to an increase in sports
sponsorship agreements intended to promote the Company's ticket resale services and fees paid to search engine partners for online marketing. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions not in the prior year period, selling and marketing expense increased $25.3 million, or 58%.
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General and administrative expense

% Change
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2009 vs.
2008

2007

2008 vs.
2007

(Dollars in thousands)

General and administrative
expense:
Ticketing
Artist Services
Corporate and
unallocated
Total General and
administrative
expense
As a percentage of total
revenue

$ 100,056
66,629

$

93,505
10,567

$

78,448
—

7%
NM

19%
NM

104,652

85,982

71,030

22%

21%

$ 271,337

$ 190,054

$ 149,478

43%

27%

519bp

102bp

18%

13%

12%

NM: Not meaningful
bp: Basis point
Consolidated
General and administrative expense consists primarily of compensation and other employee-related costs (including stock-based compensation) for
personnel engaged in finance, legal, tax, human resources and executive management functions, facilities costs and fees for professional services.
General and administrative expense in 2009 increased $81.3 million, or 43%, from 2008, primarily due to increases of $30.8 million in compensation and
other employee-related costs and $29.6 million in professional fees. The increase in compensation and other employee-related costs was primarily due to
$42.9 million of additional Front Line compensation, partially offset by cost savings from the Company's restructuring plan. The additional Front Line
compensation is a result of the Company including Front Line for the full 2009 year compared to the partial period in 2008. General and administrative expense
includes non-cash and stock-based compensation expense of $23.7 million in 2009 compared to $21.2 million in 2008. The increase in non-cash compensation
was primarily due to the continued expensing of awards granted in prior years and new awards granted to employees in the current year, partially offset by
charges in the prior year for modifications of existing stock-based compensation awards in connection with the Spin-off from IAC. The increase in professional
fees was primarily due to $32.2 million of legal and professional fees incurred in connection with the Merger, partially offset by lower costs for other
professional services. Excluding the impacts of Front Line, stock-based compensation costs and Merger related professional fees, general and administrative
expense decreased $9.5 million, or 5%.
General and administrative expense in 2008 increased $40.6 million, or 27%, from 2007, primarily due to increases of $27.4 million in compensation and
other employee-related costs, $4.3 million in facilities costs and $3.2 million in professional fees. The increase in compensation and other employee-related costs
was primarily due to an increase of $16.2 million associated with acquisitions not in the prior year period. Of the $16.2 million attributable to acquisitions,
$10.9 million is related to acquisitions in the ticketing segment and $5.3 million is related to the acquisition of Front Line. Excluding the impact of acquisitions
not in the prior-year period, general and administrative expense increased $10.4 million, or 7%. This increase was driven by higher severance costs incurred in
connection with the previously announced cost reduction plan, public company costs incurred subsequent to the Spin-off and increased non-cash compensation
expense. General and administrative expense includes non-cash compensation expense of $21.2 million in 2008 compared with $10.9 million in 2007. The
increase in non-cash compensation was primarily due the modification of existing
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stock-based compensation awards, new awards granted in connection with the Company's Spin-off and the grants of awards in connection with 2008
acquisitions.
Goodwill impairment
In 2008, the Company recognized a non-cash, pre-tax charge of $1.1 billion related to the impairment of goodwill in its ticketing segment. The impairment,
which was indicated by the Company's 2008 annual impairment testing of goodwill, reflected the decline in the Company's share price since the Spin-off from
IAC and recent uncertain economic conditions. No impairment charge was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2007.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is a supplemental measure to GAAP and is defined in "—Ticketmaster Entertainment's Principles of Financial Reporting," below.

% Change
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

2009 vs. 2008

2008 vs. 2007

(Dollars in thousands)

Adjusted EBITDA:
Ticketing
Artist services
Corporate and
unallocated
Total
Adjusted
EBITDA

$

288,076
55,999

$

(96,238)

$

247,837

312,949
16,985

$

(72,252)

$

257,682

$

356,125
—

-8%
NM

-12%
NM

(62,579)

33%

15%

293,546

-4%

-12%

NM: Not meaningful
Adjusted EBITDA in 2009 decreased $9.8 million, or 4%, from 2008, primarily due to lower sales volumes, increases in Merger related professional fees
and a $8.7 million negative impact of foreign currency exchange rates, partially offset by contributions from Front Line, lower cost of sales and selling and
marketing expense, discussed above. Excluding the impact of the Merger related professional fees, Adjusted EBITDA increased $22.4 million, or 9%.
Adjusted EBITDA in 2008 decreased $35.9 million, or 12%, from 2007, primarily due to increases in cost of sales, selling and marketing expense and
general and administrative expense. The increase in these expenses was driven by acquisitions and increased losses associated with strategic investments,
particularly in Germany and Asia, and higher overall royalty rates. Excluding the impact of acquisitions in the ticketing segment not in the prior-year period,
Adjusted EBITDA decreased $84.9 million, or 29%.
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Other (expense) income, net

% Change
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

2009 vs. 2008

2008 vs. 2007

(Dollars in thousands)

Other (expense) income:
Interest income
Interest expense
Equity in income of
unconsolidated
affiliates
Impairment of
long-term
investments
Other income
Total Other
(expense)
income

$

$

2,392
(63,518)

$

13,926
(39,216)

$

33,065
(1,003)

-83%
62%

-58%
NM
-58%

3,872

2,659

6,301

46%

(9,914)
9,172

(12,334)
4,914

—
1,120

-20%
87%

NM
NM

39,483

93%

NM

(57,996)

$

(30,051)

$

NM: Not meaningful
Interest income
Interest income in 2009 decreased $11.5 million, or 83%, from 2008 primarily due to the extinguishment of interest-bearing intercompany receivables from
IAC upon consummation of the Company's Spin-off and lower average interest rates.
Interest income in 2008 decreased $19.1 million, or 58%, from 2007, primarily due to lower intercompany receivable balances due from IAC and
subsidiaries and the extinguishment of intercompany receivables from IAC upon consummation of the Spin-off along with lower average interest rates.
Interest expense
Interest expense in 2009 increased $24.3 million, or 62%, from 2008, primarily due to incremental interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs
of $33.3 million related to the Company's Notes and senior secured credit facilities, partially offset by an $8.3 million cumulative interest charge from IAC in
2008 and lower interest related to capital leases.
Interest expense in 2008 increased $38.2 million from 2007, primarily due to interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs of $28.1 million
related to the previously mentioned Notes and senior secured credit facilities, and the previously mentioned $8.3 million cumulative interest charge from IAC.
Equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates
Equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates in 2009 increased $1.2 million, or 46%, from 2008 primarily due to the negative performance of the
Company's joint venture in China (the "China Investment") which impacted the prior year, partially offset by the absence of equity in the income of Front Line in
the current year as the Company acquired a majority interest in Front Line in October 2008.
Equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates in 2008 decreased $3.6 million, or 58%, from 2007 due to lower income earned from the Company's
investments in Front Line and Ticketmaster Mexico as well as negative performance of the China Investment. Income related to the investment in Front Line was
recorded on an equity method of accounting prior to October 29, 2008.
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Impairment of long-term investments
In 2009, the Company recorded total charges of $9.9 million related to two of its investments in unconsolidated affiliates. A charge of $3.8 million was
recorded for its cost investment in Broadway China Ventures ("BCV") to write down the investment to its estimated fair value. In addition, a charge of
$6.1 million was recorded for its equity investment in the China Investment to write down the investment to its fair value. See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial
Statement Schedules—Note 13—Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion of the
impairment charges.
In 2008, the Company recorded $12.3 million of charges related to the China Investment and its iLike.com investment. The $6.5 million charge for the
China Investment included a settlement of disputed items with the Company's joint venture partners. The $5.8 million charge for the iLike.com investment wrote
down the investment to its estimated fair value. No such charges were recorded for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Other income
Other income in 2009 increased $4.3 million, or 87%, from 2008 primarily due to a gain of $2.9 million from the sale of its equity investment in iLike.com
and a gain of $0.9 million on the extinguishment of a portion of its outstanding debt in the current year, as well as incremental gains of $0.5 million on foreign
currency exchange.
Other income in 2008 increased $3.8 million from 2007 due to gains on foreign currency exchange primarily related to the Company's operating activities in
Canada and the United Kingdom due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian Dollar and the British Pound Sterling.
Income tax provision
In 2009, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $19.1 million which represents an effective tax rate of 50%. The 2009 tax rate is higher than the
statutory rate of 35% principally due to losses in certain foreign jurisdictions for which no tax benefit can be recognized, state and local income taxes, losses on
investments of unconsolidated subsidiaries, partnership flow-through losses attributable to noncontrolling interests, and non-cash compensation expense, partially
offset by foreign income taxed at lower rates, including the effects of our international restructuring and net adjustments related to the reconciliation of provision
accruals to tax returns. In 2008, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $25.6 million which represents an effective tax rate of -3%. The 2008 tax rate
is different from the statutory rate of 35% principally due to the impairment of goodwill that is not deductible for tax. Excluding the impairment charges recorded
in 2008, the Company's effective tax rate would have been 42%. This rate is higher than the statutory rate of 35% principally due to the losses not benefited in
foreign jurisdictions and state taxes, partially offset by foreign income taxed at lower rates and foreign tax credits.
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $5.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively, which
included accrued interest of $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
By virtue of previously filed tax returns, including consolidated filings with IAC, the Company is routinely under audit by federal, state, local and foreign
authorities in the area of income tax. These audits include questioning the timing and the amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax
jurisdictions. Income taxes payable include amounts considered sufficient to pay assessments that may result from examination of prior year returns; however,
the amount paid upon resolution of issues raised may differ from the amount provided. Differences between the unrecognized tax benefits and the amounts owed
by the Company are recorded in the period in which they become known.
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The IRS is currently examining the IAC consolidated tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2001 through 2006, which include the operations of the
Company from January 17, 2003, the date the Company joined the IAC consolidated tax return. The statute of limitations for these years has been extended to
December 31, 2010. Various IAC consolidated state and local jurisdictions are currently under examination, the most significant of which are California, New
York and New York City, for various tax years beginning with December 31, 2002. These examinations are expected to be completed in 2011. Various
stand-alone state and local jurisdictions of the Company are currently under examination. These examinations are expected to be completed in 2010. All tax years
prior to 2003 for federal and 2002 for significant state jurisdictions are closed. The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that its unrecognized tax
benefits could decrease by approximately $1.0 million within twelve months of the current reporting date due to settlements and expirations of applicable statutes
of limitation related to various state tax filings. An estimate of other changes in unrecognized tax benefits cannot be made, but are not expected to be significant.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As of December 31, 2009, the Company had $554.5 million of cash and cash equivalents including $301.9 million in funds representing amounts equal to
the face value of tickets sold on behalf of clients ("client funds"). The Company's $554.5 million of cash and cash equivalents included $339.7 million held in
foreign jurisdictions which was maintained principally in Australia, the United Kingdom and Canada; of this balance, $212.6 million were client funds. The
Company does not utilize client funds for its own financing or investing activities as the amounts are payable to clients.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $181.8 million and $195.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The
decrease of $13.4 million in net cash provided by operating activities reflected the decline in operating results and higher interest payments in 2009 compared to
2008, as well as unfavorable changes in working capital. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities was partially offset by higher contributions
from client funds of $44.4 million, driven by the timing of settlements with clients.
Net cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2009 was $65.2 million and primarily resulted from cash paid for capital expenditures
of $46.3 million and $33.6 million for acquisitions in the artist services segment, partially offset by proceeds received from the sales of the Company's
investment in iLike and its office building in Vancouver, British Columbia. Net cash used in investing activities in 2008 of $1.5 billion primarily resulted from
cash transfers to IAC of $910.1 million and acquisitions, net of cash acquired, of $506.6 million.
Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2009 of $63.6 million was primarily due to the repayment of $40.0 million of the
outstanding balance under the Company's senior secured credit facilities, the repurchase of $13.0 million face value of the outstanding 10.75% senior notes (the
"Notes") for $11.5 million in cash, $9.9 million of distributions to noncontrolling interest holders and $1.8 million of payments on capital leases. Net cash
provided by financing activities in 2008 of $1.2 billion was primarily due to $300.0 million of proceeds received from the issuance of the Notes and
$565.0 million of proceeds received from borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities. In addition, the Company received $405.5 million in capital
contributions from IAC during 2008.
As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $466.1 million of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, including $254.0 million in client funds.
The Company's cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities held in foreign jurisdictions were approximately $302.8 million at December 31, 2008,
including $169.7 million in client funds, which was maintained principally in Canada, the United Kingdom and Australia.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $195.2 million and $212.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The
decrease of $16.8 million in net cash provided by
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operating activities reflected lower contributions from client funds of $95.3 million which was driven by the timing of settlements with clients, partially offset by
lower advance payments under ticketing contracts and sponsorship deals with resale partners, including significant advances made in 2007 which were not
repeated in 2008.
Net cash used in investing activities in 2008 of $1.5 billion primarily resulted from cash transfers to IAC of $910.1 million and acquisitions, net of cash
acquired, of $506.6 million. The cash transfers to IAC were comprised of total net proceeds from the Notes and the senior secured credit facilities, and were
distributed to IAC in connection with the Spin-off, as well as other proceeds paid to IAC as part of their centrally managed U.S. treasury function. Acquisitions,
net of cash acquired, primarily related to the acquisitions of TicketsNow, Paciolan, GET ME IN! and Front Line. Net cash used in investing activities in 2007 of
$13.0 million primarily resulted from $47.5 million of capital expenditures and $29.4 million of acquisitions, net of cash acquired, partially offset by cash
transfers from IAC of $64.5 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities in 2008 of $1.2 billion was primarily due to $300.0 million of proceeds received from the issuance of the Notes
and $565.0 million of proceeds received from borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities. The Company incurred $27.2 million of costs for these debt
financings which were initiated in connection with the Spin-off. In addition, we received $405.5 million in capital contributions from IAC during 2008. Net cash
provided by financing activities in 2007 of $30.3 million was primarily due to capital contributions from IAC.
The Company anticipates that it will need to make capital and other expenditures in connection with the development and expansion of its operations. The
Company's ability to fund its cash and capital needs will be affected by its ongoing ability to generate cash from operations and the overall capacity and terms of
its financing arrangements as discussed above. The Company believes that its cash on hand along with its anticipated operating cash flow in 2010 and its access
to financing arrangements are sufficient to fund its operating needs, capital, investing and other commitments and contingencies for the foreseeable future.
Under the senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the Company's Notes, the Company is required to comply with certain financial
covenants. The Notes contain two incurrence-based financial covenants, requiring that the Company meet a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined
therein, of 2.0 to 1.0 and a maximum secured leverage ratio, as defined therein, of 2.25 to 1.0 in order to incur additional indebtedness other than permitted debt.
The senior secured credit facilities have two maintenance-based quarterly financial covenants, requiring a maximum total leverage ratio of 3.5 to 1.0 and a
minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.0 to 1.0. The total leverage ratio for the senior secured credit facilities, calculated as total debt, as defined therein, divided
by total EBITDA, as defined therein, for the trailing twelve-month period is the most sensitive to change, as debt levels increase and/or earnings decline. As of
December 31, 2009, the Company was in compliance with these financial covenants.
The Company believes it has adequate cash and cash equivalents and it will generate sufficient cash from operations to pay down a portion of its debt, if
required, in order to maintain compliance with all financial covenants through December 31, 2010. The Company may, from time to time, engage in open market
purchases of the Notes.
As a result of the Merger being consummated, the Company's cost of capital related to its bank financing will increase as a result of obtaining the necessary
amendment to its senior secured credit facilities required for the Merger.
On May 12, 2009, the Company entered into an amendment to the senior secured credit facilities, which became effective on January 25, 2010 upon
completion of the merger and the payment to each lender that consented to the amendment of a consent fee equal to 0.50% of the sum of the principal
40

Source: TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC, 10-K, February 25, 2010

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

Table of Contents

amount of the term loans outstanding to such lender as of May 12, 2009 and the full amount of such lender's revolving commitment as of May 12, 2009. The
amendment permits the senior secured credit facilities to remain outstanding following the merger, increases the interest spreads under each of the Term Loan A,
Term Loan B and revolving credit facility by 1.25%, institutes a LIBOR floor of 2.50% for the senior secured credit facilities, conditions each borrowing under
the revolving credit facility and certain other debt incurrences on the Company having a pro forma consolidated total leverage ratio of no more than 3.50 to 1.00,
creates restrictions on the Company and its subsidiaries transferring assets to Live Nation or Live Nation's other subsidiaries in certain circumstances and effects
certain other changes to facilitate the integration of the Company and its subsidiaries with Live Nation and its subsidiaries following consummation of the
merger.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

Contractual Obligations

Payments Due by Period
Less Than
1 Year
1 - 3 Years
3 - 5 Years

Total

More Than
5 Years

(In thousands)

Long-term debt
obligations(1)
Capital lease
obligations
Purchase
obligations(2)
Estimated earn-out
payments related
to acquisitions(3)
Operating leases
Total contractual cash
obligations(4)

$

$

1,095,198

$

50,098

$

131,270

$

577,575

$

336,255

890

821

69

—

—

148,470

51,128

83,382

2,535

11,425

25,972
99,005

11,248
26,568

5,392
34,237

9,332
18,551

—
19,649

1,369,535

$

139,863

$

254,350

$

607,993

$

367,329

(1)
Long-term debt obligations represent future principal and interest payments related to the Notes through maturity in 2016 and
borrowings under the senior secured credit facility through maturity in 2014. The future interest payments related to our existing debt
obligations are based on fixed and variable interest rates specified in the associated debt agreements.
(2)
The purchase obligations primarily arise from sports sponsorship agreements intended to promote the Company's ticket resale
services.
(3)
The Company has certain contingent obligations related to acquisitions of various artist management companies. Of the $26.0 million
total estimated earn-out payments at December 31, 2009, $7.1 million represents commitments arising from acquisitions completed
prior to the effective date of the current guidance for business combinations, which now requires contingent considerations to be
accrued at the time of acquisition. These amounts have not been accrued for in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, but
remain subject to payout following the achievement of future performance targets. Such contingent payouts may be payable in 2010.
As the remaining $18.9 million balance of estimated earn-out payments relates to acquisitions completed subsequent to the adoption
of the current guidance for business combinations, the Company has accrued $4.0 million and $10.1 million in "Other accrued
expenses and current liabilities" and "Other long-term liabilities," respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet for
the year ended December 31, 2009, representing the fair value of the estimated earn-out arrangements.
(4)
Amounts exclude potential redemption amounts due to noncontrolling interests of $1.2 million that are currently redeemable,
$39.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2011, $7.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, $30.3 million in the year
ended December 31, 2013, and $13.7 million contingent upon the occurrence of other events. See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial
Statement Schedules—Note 11—Temporary Equity and Equity—Redeemable Noncontrolling
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Interests to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion of redeemable noncontrolling interests.
At December 31, 2009, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $5.6 million. The Company is unable to reasonably predict the
timing of tax settlements, as tax audits can involve complex issues and the resolution of those issues may span multiple years. See Item 15. Exhibits and
Financial Statement Schedules—Note 8—Income Taxes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion of the Company's unrecognized
tax benefits.
The Company also has funding commitments that could potentially require its performance in the event of demands by third parties or contingent events,
such as under letters of credit or guarantees of debt, as follows (in thousands):
Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
Other Commercial Commitments

Guarantees, surety bonds and
letters of credit

Total
Amounts
Committed

$

4,667

Less Than
1 Year

1 - 3 Years

$

$

1,217

3,250

3 - 5 Years

$

200

More Than
5 Years

$

—

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Other than the contractual obligations and other commercial commitments described above, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements
as of December 31, 2009.
Seasonality
The Company's ticketing sales are impacted by fluctuations in the availability of events for sale to the public, which may vary depending upon scheduling
by its clients. Generally, the second and third quarters of the year experience the highest domestic ticketing revenue, earned primarily in the Concerts and Sports
categories. Generally, international revenues are highest in the fourth quarter of the year, earned primarily in the Concerts category.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Certain of the Company's significant accounting policies are summarized below. Also see Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules—Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the Company's accounting
policies.
The Company's management is required to make certain estimates and assumptions during the preparation of its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with GAAP. These estimates and assumptions impact the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. They also impact the reported amount of net earnings during any period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
Significant estimates underlying the accompanying consolidated financial statements include: the recoverability of contract advances; the recoverability of
long-lived assets; the recovery of goodwill and intangible assets; the determination of income taxes payable and deferred income taxes, including related
valuation allowances; and assumptions related to the determination of stock-based compensation.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured.
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Determining whether some or all of these criteria have been met involves assumptions and judgments, including the evaluation of multiple element arrangements
that can have an effect on the timing and amount of revenue the Company reports.
Gross versus Net Revenue Recognition
The Company reports revenue on a gross or net basis based on management's assessment of whether it acts as a principal or agent in the transaction. To the
extent the Company acts as the principal in a transaction, revenues are reported on a gross basis. The determination of whether the Company acts as a principal or
an agent in a transaction is based on an evaluation of whether it has the substantial risks and rewards of ownership under the terms of an arrangement.
Ticketing Revenue
Revenue, which primarily consists of convenience and order processing fees from ticketing operations, is recognized as tickets are sold, and is recorded on a
net basis (net of the face value of the ticket) as the Company acts as an agent in these transactions. Interest income is earned on funds that are collected from
ticket purchasers and invested until remittance to the applicable clients. As the process of collecting, holding and remitting these funds is a critical component of
providing service to these clients, the interest earned on these funds is included in revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, $3.2 million,
$16.2 million and $18.7 million, respectively, of interest income is included in revenue. Revenue is presented net of sales tax.
Artist Services Revenue
Front Line secures work for the clients it represents, for which it receives a commission. Generally, commissions are payable by clients upon their receipt of
payments for performance of services or upon the delivery or use of materials which they created. Revenue is generally recognized in the month of the artist
event. Contingent commissions, such as those based on profits or gross receipts, are recorded upon determination of the amounts. Revenue is not recognized
before persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the amount to be received is fixed or determinable, and collectability is
reasonably assured.
Front Line also earns revenue from the sales of entertainment packages to consumers in connection with live performances. Entertainment packages are sold
and cash is received from consumers in advance of the event. Revenue and related expenses incurred are deferred until the event occurs. In addition, Front Line
sells merchandise associated with musical artists at live musical performances, to retailers and directly to consumers via a website. For retail and Internet sales,
revenue is recognized upon shipment of the merchandise. Touring revenue, including the sale of merchandise, is recognized in the month of the event.
Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price of an acquired entity over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Indefinite-lived
intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially recorded at management's estimate of their fair values. For the year ended December 31, 2009,
the Company identified one reporting unit in the ticketing segment and three in the artist services segment (artist management, VIP ticketing and merchandising).
For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company had identified two reporting units in the ticketing segment (ticketing and Echo Music) and three reporting
units in the artist services segment (artist management, VIP ticketing and merchandising). The reduction in the number of reporting units identified within the
ticketing segment is a result of a change in the Company's reporting structure, with the Echo Music
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reporting unit being merged into the ticketing reporting unit. As of December 31, 2008, the Echo Music reporting unit had no goodwill.
Testing of goodwill for impairment consists of a two-step process. The first step involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to its
carrying amount, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired and
the second step of the impairment test is not required. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, then the second step of the
goodwill impairment test must be performed in which the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared to its goodwill carrying amount to
measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an
impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The Company determines the fair value of the reporting units based on the present value of the
cash flows the reporting units can be expected to generate in the future.
We also test our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually on the first day of our fiscal fourth quarter, or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The impairment test for indefinite-lived intangible assets involves a comparison of the
estimated fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying value. If the carrying value of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is
recognized in an amount equal to that excess. In our case, the Ticketmaster trade name is the only intangible asset not subject to amortization. The fair value of
the Ticketmaster trade name is estimated using a multi-period royalty savings method, which reflects the savings realized by owning the trade name, and thus not
having to pay a royalty fee to a third party.
The Company performed its annual testing of goodwill on October 1, 2009. As a result of testing, the Company determined that there were no indications of
goodwill impairment for any of the reporting units for the year ended December 31, 2009.
As a result of our annual goodwill impairment test in 2008, the Company concluded that goodwill in the Company's ticketing and Echo Music reporting
units was likely impaired. The factors indicating a likely impairment included the decline in the global economy, which resulted in downward adjustments in
forecasted future operating income and cash flows, and a significant decline in the Company's stock price. In determining the impairment charge, the Company
used certain DCF analyses. The analyses included seven years of projected cash flows with forecasted sales growth rates ranging from -5.7% to 12.5% with a
terminal growth rate of 3%. The discount rates used in the DCF analyses for the step one tests were 12% with a 9% rate for the terminal value. The Company
also considered the market approach which evaluates market transactions involving similarly situated companies, however it was not considered meaningful in
the final evaluation because of the lack of comparability between the reporting units and guideline public companies. In addition, the Company assessed the
reasonableness of its determined fair values by reference to the Company's market capitalization and determined that the implied control premium was
reasonable. To quantify the impairment, the Company allocated the fair value of the reporting units to the reporting units' individual assets and liabilities utilizing
the purchase price allocation guidance. The resulting implied value of the ticketing and Echo Music reporting units' goodwill was $1.1 billion less than the
current carrying value of the goodwill. The difference was recorded as a non-cash impairment charge to reduce the goodwill in the ticketing and Echo Music
reporting units to $261.6 million and zero, respectively. There was no impairment recorded for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2007.
The Company's impairment test for the indefinite-lived trademark indicated no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.
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Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets with Definite Lives
Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives, are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that may indicate that an asset is impaired include, but are not
limited to, significant decreases in the market value of an asset, significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results,
a change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, shifts in technology, loss of key personnel, significant negative industry or economic trends, changes
in the Company's operating model or strategy, and competitive forces. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. If the carrying amount is deemed to not be recoverable, an
impairment loss is recorded as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Amortization of definite lived intangible
assets is recorded either on a straight-line basis or a basis more representative of the time pattern over which the benefit is derived.
In connection with its annual assessment in 2008, the Company identified and recorded an impairment charge of $0.6 million for the write-off of a covenant
not to compete related to the Company's operations in Germany. The intangible asset impairment charge was included in the amortization of intangible assets in
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2008. There was no definite-lived intangible asset impairment
recorded for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2007.
Long-Term Investments
The Company owns certain investments in common stock of entities which do not have readily determinable fair values. Investments in which the Company
has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial matters of the investee are accounted for using the equity method. Investments in
which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial matters of the investee are accounted for using the
cost method. The Company evaluates each equity and cost method investment for impairment on a quarterly basis and recognizes an impairment loss if a decline
in value is determined to be other-than-temporary. If the Company has not identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse
effect on the fair value of a cost investment, then the fair value of such cost method investment is not estimated, as it is impracticable to do so.
Contract Advances
Contract advances, which can be either recoupable or non-recoupable, represent amounts paid in advance to the Company's clients pursuant to ticketing
agreements. . Recoupable contract advances provide for the client's participation in the convenience charges and/or order processing fees and are generally
recoupable against future royalties earned by the clients based on the contract terms over the life of the contract (generally 3 to 7 years). Non-recoupable contract
advances are fixed additional incentives sometimes paid by the Company to secure exclusive ticketing rights with certain clients and are normally amortized over
the life of the contract on a straight-line basis (generally 3 to 7 years). Recoupment of contract advances and amortization of non-recoupable contract advances
are included in cost of sales in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue primarily consists of unredeemed gift cards issued by the Company. Upon the purchase of a gift card, deferred revenue is established for
the cash value of the gift card. Deferred revenue is relieved and net revenue is recorded upon redemption by the customer or the expiration of
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the gift card, if applicable. Over time, some portion of the gift cards issued without expiration dates are not redeemed. This amount is recorded as revenue when
it can be determined that the likelihood of the gift card being redeemed is remote and there is no legal obligation to remit the unredeemed gift cards to relevant
jurisdictions. We determine the probability of the gift cards being redeemed based on historical gift card redemption patterns. Income from gift card revenue, net
of any amounts subject to escheat laws, is included in revenue in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
In connection with the acquisition of certain subsidiaries, the Company is party to fair value put arrangements with respect to the common securities that
represent the remaining noncontrolling interests of the acquired company. These put arrangements are exercisable at fair value by the counter-party outside the
control of the Company and are classified as temporary equity. Adjustments to the carrying amount of redeemable noncontrolling interests issued in the form of a
common security to reflect a fair value redemption feature do not impact the Company's earnings per share. Accordingly, to the extent that the fair value of these
redeemable noncontrolling interests exceeds the value determined by normal noncontrolling interest accounting, the value of such interests is adjusted to fair
value with a corresponding adjustment to additional paid-in capital. Redeemable noncontrolling interests for which the put arrangements are not currently
redeemable are accounted for by normal noncontrolling interest accounting, and changes in the redemption fair value are accreted over the period from the date
of issuance to the earliest redemption date of the security using the interest method. For the noncontrolling interests that are not currently redeemable, the total
redemption fair value being accreted to is $76.6 million.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules—Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for a description of recent accounting pronouncements.

TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT'S PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Company reports Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to GAAP. This measure is one of the primary metrics by which the Company evaluates
the performance of its segments and businesses, on which its internal budgets are based and by which management is compensated. The Company believes that
investors should have access to the same set of tools that it uses in analyzing its results. This supplemental measure should be considered in addition to results
prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should not be considered a substitute for or superior to GAAP results. The Company provides and encourages investors
to examine the reconciling adjustments between the GAAP and supplemental measure, which are discussed below.
Definition of Ticketmaster Entertainment's Supplemental Measure
Adjusted EBITDA, is defined as operating income excluding, if applicable: (1) depreciation expense, (2) non-cash and stock-based compensation expense,
(3) amortization and impairment of intangibles, (4) goodwill and other impairments, (5) pro forma adjustments for significant acquisitions, fair value adjustments
to contingent consideration and executive compensation expense associated with significant transactions or the Merger with Live Nation, and (6) one-time items.
The Company believes this measure is useful to investors because it represents the operating results from the Company's businesses excluding the effects of
non-cash expenses. The Adjusted EBITDA metric was named Adjusted Operating Income in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, for the
year ended December 31, 2008. Adjusted EBITDA has certain limitations in that it does not take into account the impact to the Company's Consolidated
Statement of Operations of certain expenses,
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including acquisition-related accounting. The Company endeavors to compensate for the limitations of the supplemental measure presented by also providing the
comparable GAAP measure with equal or greater prominence and descriptions of the reconciling items, including quantifying such items, to derive the
supplemental measure.
Pro Forma Results
The Company will only present Adjusted EBITDA on a pro forma basis if a particular transaction is significant within the meaning of Rule 11-01 of
Regulation S-X or if it views a transaction as so significant in nature that disclosure of pro forma financial information would be material to investors. For the
periods presented in this report, there are no transactions that the Company has included on a pro forma basis.
One-Time Items
Adjusted EBITDA is presented before one-time items, if applicable. These items are truly one-time in nature and nonrecurring, infrequent or unusual, and
have not occurred in the past two years or are not expected to recur in the next two years, in accordance with SEC rules. For the periods presented in this report,
there are no one-time items.
Non-Cash Expenses That Are Excluded From Ticketmaster Entertainment's Supplemental Measure
Non-cash and stock-based compensation expense consists principally of expense associated with the grants, including unvested grants assumed in
acquisitions, of restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock options. These expenses are not paid in cash, and the Company will include the related shares in
its future calculations of fully diluted shares outstanding. For the majority of the awards, upon vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units and the
exercise of certain stock options, the awards will be settled, at the Company's discretion, on a net basis, with the Company remitting the required tax withholding
amount from its current funds. For certain stock-based awards which are classified as liabilities, upon vesting of the awards, the awards will be redeemed in cash
at the then fair value of the stock awards.
Amortization of intangibles is a non-cash expense relating primarily to acquisitions. At the time of an acquisition, the intangible assets of the acquired
company, such as purchase and distribution agreements, are valued and amortized over their estimated lives. While it is likely that the Company will have
significant intangible amortization expense as it continues to acquire companies, the Company believes that since intangibles represent value created by the
acquired company prior to acquisition, they are part of transaction costs.

RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED EBITDA
For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net income (loss) attributable to Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC for the years ended December 31, 2009,
2008 and 2007, see Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules—Note 7—Segment Information to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk
Our market risk is affected by changes in interest rates that may impact our outstanding borrowings. The Company had $812.0 million of total debt
outstanding as of December 31, 2009. Of the total amount, the Company has $287.0 million of fixed-rate debt and $525.0 million of variable-rate debt.
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The $525.0 million of variable-rate debt is comprised of a $100.0 million Term Loan A, $340.0 million Term Loan B and $85.0 million outstanding under
the Revolver. In aggregate, these balances are referred to as our senior secured credit facilities. Under the borrowing terms in effect as of December 31, 2009, the
interest rate per annum applicable to loans under the senior secured credit facilities are, at the Company's option, equal to either a base rate or a LIBOR rate plus
an applicable margin, which in the case of the Term Loan A and the Revolver will vary with the total leverage ratio of the Company. For the year ended
December 31, 2009, the applicable margin for the Term Loan B was 3.25% per annum for LIBOR loans and 2.25% per annum for base rate loans. The base rate
means the greater of (i) the prime rate as quoted from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. or (ii) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5%.
On May 12, 2009, the Company entered into an amendment to the senior secured credit facilities which became effective upon consummation of the Merger
and payment by the Company of certain consent fees to each lender that consented to the amendment. Among other changes to the existing terms, the amendment
increases the interest spreads under each of the Term Loan A, Term Loan B and revolving credit facility by 1.25%, and institutes a LIBOR floor of 2.50% for the
senior secured credit facilities. Based on the LIBOR rate as of December 31, 2009, the LIBOR floor of 2.50% would be applied when determining the interest
payable to the borrowers.
For the period from January 1, 2010 through January 25, 2010, a 100 basis point change in the interest rate under our senior secured credit facilities would
impact the interest expense by approximately $0.4 million. Based on the three-month LIBOR rate as of December 31, 2009, a 100 basis point increase would
result in a rate of 1.25%. As this is below the stipulated LIBOR floor of 2.50%, there would be no impact on the interest expense calculation for the period
beginning January 25, 2010 through the end of the year.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
The Company conducts business in certain foreign markets, primarily in the United Kingdom, the European Union and Canada. The Company's primary
exposure to foreign currency risk relates to investments in foreign subsidiaries that transact business in a functional currency other than the U.S. Dollar, primarily
the Euro, British Pound Sterling and Canadian Dollar. However, the exposure is mitigated as the Company has generally reinvested profits from its international
operations in order to fund the growth of its international operations including through acquisitions. The Company is also exposed to foreign currency risk related
to its assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency.
As currency exchange rates change, translation of the income statements of the Company's international businesses into U.S. dollars affects year-over-year
comparability of operating results. Historically, the Company has not hedged translation risks because cash flows from international operations generally have
been reinvested locally. However, the Company periodically reviews its strategy for hedging transaction risks. The Company's objective in managing its foreign
exchange risk is to minimize its potential exposure to the changes that exchange rates might have on the Company's earnings, cash flows and financial position.
However, the Company estimates that a 10% change in overall foreign currency exchange rates over an entire year would impact reported revenue by
approximately $40.8 million and reported earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests by approximately $0.4 million.
In certain limited instances, the Company enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to mitigate the risk of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates on short-term intercompany loans payable to certain international subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had foreign
currency forward exchange contracts outstanding with nominal amounts of CAD 3.2 million and AUD 16.5 million, respectively. Gains and losses on these
foreign currency exchange contracts are
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recognized in "Other income" in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as the contracts were not designated as hedging instruments, substantially offsetting
currency transaction gains and losses on the short-term intercompany loans. The gains or losses are carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheets on a gross basis
in "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and "Other accrued expenses and current liabilities," respectively. The change in fair value of these instruments
from date of purchase through December 31, 2009 and 2008 was a loss of $0.1 million and a loss of $0.5 million, respectively.
Foreign exchange net gains for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were $5.4 million, $4.9 million and $1.1 million, respectively.
As the Company increases its operations in international markets it becomes increasingly exposed to potentially volatile movements in currency exchange
rates. The economic impact of currency exchange rate movements on the Company is often linked to variability in real growth, inflation, interest rates,
governmental actions and other factors. These changes, if material, could cause the Company to adjust its financing, operating and hedging strategies.
Item 8.

Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements and supplementary data are included at the end of this report, beginning on page F-1.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2009. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2009, the disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that material information
required to be disclosed in the Company's reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act has been made known to them in a timely fashion.
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d—15(f) under the Exchange
Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2009, that have materially affected, or are reasonable likely to materially affect, the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2009.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Managers and Member of Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC
We have audited Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2009, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations, temporary equity and equity, and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2009 of Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. and our report dated February 25, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Los Angeles, California
February 25, 2010
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Item 9B.

Other Information

None.
PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) to Form 10-K.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

Omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) to Form 10-K.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) to Form 10-K.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) to Form 10-K.
Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth fees for all professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP to Ticketmaster Entertainment for each of the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008.
Description

2009

Audit Fees(1)
Audit-Related
Fees(2)
Tax Fees
Other Fees
Total Fees

$

2,442,839

$

140,537
—
—
2,583,376

2008

$

1,816,694

$

652,280
—
—
2,468,974

(1)
Audit Fees include fees associated with the annual audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements;
accounting consultations and expenses associated with the audit; and statutory audits. Statutory audits include audits
performed for certain Ticketmaster Entertainment businesses in various jurisdictions abroad, which audits are required
by local law.
(2)
Audit-Related Fees include SAS 70 fees, due diligence fees and accounting consultations in connection with
acquisitions.
Audit Committee Policy Regarding Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of our Independent Auditors
The Audit Committee of Ticketmaster Entertainment approved all of the audit and permissible non-audit services performed by Ernst & Young LLP during
the 2009 fiscal year. From and after the Merger on January 25, 2010, the Audit Committee of the Company's parent, Live Nation, performs the audit committee
function for the Company. The Audit Committee has established procedures for the approval of all audit and non-audit services provided by our independent
registered public accounting firm. Pursuant to this policy, the Audit Committee approves all audit and non-audit services provided by the independent registered
public accounting firm, including the fees and other terms of the engagements. Before the independent registered public accounting firm is engaged to perform
any non-audit services, the Audit Committee must review and pre-approve such services. The Audit Committee may delegate its approval authority to its
Chairperson, provided that any services approved by the Chairperson are reported to the Audit Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting.
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PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements
The financial statements listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 are filed as part of this Form 10-K.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts on page F-59
All other financial statement schedules are either included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements or are omitted because they are not applicable.
(a)(3) Exhibits
Exhibit

Description

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 10, 2009, by and among Ticketmaster Entertainment Inc., Live Nation, Inc. and, from and
after its accession to the Agreement, Merger Sub (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed February 13,
2009)

3.1

Certificate of Formation of LN-TM Merger Sub, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K,
filed February 5, 2010)

3.2

Limited Liability Company Agreement of LN-TM Merger Sub, LLC, dated January 22, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of
Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed February 5, 2010)

10.1

Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2008, by and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Inc., Interval Leisure
Group, Inc., Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed August 25, 2008)

10.2

Tax Sharing Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2008, by and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Inc., Interval Leisure Group, Inc.,
Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed August 25, 2008)

10.3

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2008, by and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Inc., Interval Leisure Group, Inc.,
Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed August 25, 2008)

10.4

Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2008, by and among IAC/InterActiveCorp, HSN, Inc., Interval Leisure Group, Inc.,
Ticketmaster and Tree.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed August 25, 2008)

10.5

Credit Agreement among Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, dated as of July 25, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's
Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.6

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement among Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative and Collateral Agent, dated as of July 25, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009)
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Exhibit

Description

10.7

Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2008, among Ticketmaster, as Issuer, the Guarantors identified therein, and The Bank of New York Mellon, as
Trustee (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.8

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 20, 2008, to the Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2008, among Ticketmaster, as Issuer, the
Guarantors identified therein and The Bank of New York Mellon as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's
Form 8-K, filed August 25, 2008)

10.9

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 30, 2009, to the Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2008, among Ticketmaster, as Issuer, the
Guarantors identified therein and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Ticketmaster
Entertainment's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009)

10.10

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 23, 2009, to the Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2008, among Ticketmaster, as Issuer, the
Guarantors identified therein and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Ticketmaster
Entertainment's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009)

10.11

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated January 25, 2010, by and among Ticketmaster Entertainment, LLC, Ticketmaster Noteco, Inc., the
Guarantors party thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee, to the Indenture dated July 28, 2008, among Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc., as Issuer, the Guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Live
Nation Entertainment, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated January 25, 2010)

10.12

Letter Agreement between Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of July 31, 2006 (incorporated by
reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.13

Letter Agreement between Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of February 6, 2006 (incorporated
by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.14

Letter Agreement between Ticketmaster L.L.C. and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of October 17, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.15

Letter Agreement between Ticketmaster L.L.C. and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of March 21, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.16

Letter Agreement between Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of February 7, 2001 (incorporated
by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.17

Amendment to License Agreement between Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of August 31,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.18

Letter Agreement between Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of July 28, 1997 (incorporated by
reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)
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Description

10.19

Consent and Agreement between Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of January 5, 1996
(incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.20

License Agreement between Ticketmaster Corporation and Ticketmaster Group Limited Partnership, dated as of May 23, 1991 (incorporated by
reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)

10.21

Amended and Restated Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex K to
Ticketmaster Entertainment's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed November 6, 2009)†

10.22

Agreement and Plan of Merger among Ticketmaster, V.I.P. Merger Sub Inc., The V.I.P. Tour Company, TNSH, LLC, and certain stockholders
of The V.I.P. Tour Company, dated January 11, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Registration Statement on
Form S-1, filed August 1, 2008)

10.23

Stockholder Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2009, by and among Live Nation, Inc., Liberty Media Corporation, Liberty USA
Holdings, LLC and Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster' Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed February 13,
2009)

10.24

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 22, 2008, by and among FLMG Holdings Corp., MM Investment Inc. and WMG Church Street
Limited (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008)

10.25

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 22, 2008, by and among Irving Azoff, Ticketmaster Entertainment Inc., and for certain purposes,
the Azoff Family Trust of 1997 (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed November 4, 2008)†

10.26

Employment Agreement, dated October 21, 2009, by and among Irving Azoff, Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. and the Azoff Family Trust of
1997, dated May 27, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed October 21, 2009)†

10.27

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of October 21, 2009, by and between Front Line Management Group, Inc. and Irving
Azoff (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed October 21, 2009)†

10.28

Restricted Stock Award Agreement, dated as of June 8, 2007, by and between Front Line Management Group, Inc. and Irving Azoff
(incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed November 4, 2008)†

10.29

Amended and Restated Stockholders' Agreement of Front Line Management Group, Inc., dated as of June 9, 2008, by and among Front Line
Management Group, Inc., FLMG Holdings Corp., for certain purposes IAC/ InterActiveCorp, The Azoff Family Trust of 1997, MM
Investment Inc., WMG Church Street Limited, Madison Square Garden, L.P. and the other parties named therein (incorporated by reference to
Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed November 4, 2008)†

10.30

Note, dated January 24, 2010, by and among Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., Azoff Family Trust of 1997 and Irving Azoff (incorporated by
reference to Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.'s Form 8-K dated January 25, 2010)†
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10.31

Employment Agreement between Brian Regan and Ticketmaster L.L.C., dated as of May 19, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Ticketmaster
Entertainment's Registration Statement on Form 10-12B/A, filed June 26, 2008)†

10.32

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated as of May 19, 2008, between Brian Regan and Ticketmaster L.L.C. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed July 31, 2009)†

10.33

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement dated as of May 19, 2008, between Brian Regan and Ticketmaster L.L.C. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed July 31, 2009)†

10.34

Employment Agreement by and between Eric Korman and Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., dated as of July 27, 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K, filed July 31, 2009)†

10.35

Employment Agreement dated as of December 9, 2004, between Ticketmaster L.L.C. and Chris Riley (incorporated by reference to
Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2008)†

10.36

Amendment No. 1 dated as of January 4, 2008, to Employment Agreement between Ticketmaster L.L.C. and Chris Riley (incorporated by
reference to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2008)†

10.37

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement dated as of November 4, 2004, between Chris Riley and Ticketmaster L.L.C. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Ticketmaster Entertainment's Form 8-K filed August 21, 2009)†

14.1

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

32.2

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

99.1

"Risk Factors" as set forth in Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009

†
Reflects management contracts and management and director compensatory plans
Unless otherwise noted, exhibits are filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC
(Registrant)
Date: February 25, 2010
By:

/s/ MICHAEL RAPINO

Michael Rapino
Chief Executive Officer,
Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.*
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
on February 25, 2010 in the capacities indicated.
Signature

Title

/s/ MICHAEL RAPINO

Chief Executive Officer, Live Nation
Entertainment, Inc. & Manager
(Principal Executive Officer)

Michael Rapino
/s/ BRIAN REGAN
Brian Regan

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC & Manager
(Principal Financial & Accounting Officer)

/s/ MICHAEL ROWLES
Manager
Michael Rowles

*
Mr. Rapino, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company's parent, Live Nation Entertainment, Inc., performs the function of Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.
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TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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F-2

F-3
F-4

F-5

F-6
F-7
F-59

Explanatory Note
The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements are labeled as those of Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., whereas this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 is being filed by Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC. As of December 31, 2009, Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc.
was a stand alone public entity. On January 25, 2010, Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. merged with and into an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live
Nation, creating Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC. The separate corporate existence of Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. ceased at such time, and Ticketmaster
Entertainment LLC succeeded to the assets, liabilities, rights, obligations and duties of Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. These financial statements reflect the
previous name, Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., because that was the name and structure of the entity as of December 31, 2009.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Managers and Member of Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. (the "Company," as described in Note 1) as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, temporary equity and equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2009. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule on page F-59. These financial statements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the financial
statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc. at December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2009, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Financial Statements—an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, (codified in FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 810, Consolidation) and retroactively applied its presentation and disclosure requirements.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Los Angeles, California
February 25, 2010
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TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue
Interest on funds held for
clients
Total revenue
Cost of sales (exclusive of
depreciation shown
separately below)
Gross profit
Selling and marketing
expense
General and administrative
expense
Amortization of
intangibles
Depreciation
Goodwill impairment
Operating income
(loss)
Other (expense) income,
net:
Interest income
Interest expense
Equity in income of
unconsolidated
affiliates
Impairment of
long-term
investments
Other income
Total other (expense)
income, net
Earnings (loss) before
income taxes and
noncontrolling interests
Income tax provision
Net income (loss)
Loss attributable to
noncontrolling interests,
net
Net income (loss)
attributable to
Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc

$

1,482,997

$

1,438,282

1,221,798

3,170
1,486,167

16,243
1,454,525

18,679
1,240,477

896,152
590,015

927,889
526,636

766,538
473,939

94,657

102,631

43,487

271,337

190,054

149,478

71,608
56,293
—

44,109
49,894
1,094,091

26,200
38,458
—

96,120

(954,143)

2,392
(63,518)

13,926
(39,216)

33,065
(1,003)

3,872

2,659

6,301

(9,914)
9,172

(12,334)
4,914

—
1,120

(57,996)

(30,051)

39,483

38,124
(19,096)
19,028

(984,194)
(25,627)
(1,009,821)

11,226

$

$

30,254

216,316

255,799
(89,007)
166,792

4,322

$

(1,005,499)

2,559

$

169,351

Net earnings (loss) per
share available to
common stockholders:
Basic
$
0.53
$
(17.84)
$
3.01
Diluted
$
0.50
$
(17.84)
$
3.01
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

(In thousands, except per share data)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, client accounts
Accounts receivable, net of allowance
of $6,799 and $3,662 at
December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively
Deferred income taxes
Contract advances
Prepaid expenses and other current
assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Long-term investments
Other non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY
EQUITY AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable, client accounts
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Deferred revenue
Income taxes payable
Other accrued expenses and current
liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Income taxes payable
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Commitments and contingencies
TEMPORARY EQUITY:
Series A convertible redeemable
preferred stock, $0.01 par value,
25,000 shares authorized, 1,750
non-vested shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2009
and December 31, 2008
Redeemable noncontrolling interests
EQUITY:
Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc.
stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value,
300,000 shares authorized; 57,383
shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2009 and 57,213
shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2008
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)
Total Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc.
stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES,
TEMPORARY EQUITY AND
EQUITY

$

$

$

554,482
—
62,964

$

43,150
26,661
47,923

46,459
14,038
44,927

34,197
769,377
101,048
482,341
300,305
8,809
127,878
1,789,758

37,758
679,416
111,291
455,751
330,061
17,487
112,561
1,706,567

364,893
25,697
46,384
32,483
11,196

$

$

324,164
29,251
39,683
33,244
7,522

100,275
580,928
811,980
4,448
28,016
60,337

82,435
516,299
865,000
1,680
10,286
67,300

16,130
57,086

9,888
42,483

574
1,219,822
(1,028,504)

$

464,618
1,495
70,121

572
1,235,019
(1,058,758)

7,001

(11,374)

198,893
31,940
230,833

165,459
28,172
193,631

1,789,758

$

1,706,567

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF TEMPORARY EQUITY AND EQUITY
(In thousands)
Temporary Equity

Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. Stockholders' Equity

Redeemable Preferred Redeemable
Common Stock
NonStock $0.01 Par Value
$0.01 Par Value
controlling
Interests
Amount
Shares
Amount
Shares
Balance as of
December 31,
2006
Comprehensive
income:
Net income (loss)
for the year ended
December 31,
2007
Foreign currency
translation

$

Comprehensive
loss
Distributions to and
contributions
from IAC, net of
extinguishment of
intercompany
amounts
Capitalization as a
result of the
Spin-off
Issuance of
common stock at
the Spin-off
Issuance of
common stock
upon exercise of
stock options
Fair value of RSU
liability
adjustment
Stock awards
related to Front
Line acquisition
Redeemable
preferred stock
Stock-based
compensation
Acquisition of
controlling
interests in
subsidiaries
Fair value of
redeemable
noncontrolling
interests
adjustments
Distributions to
noncontrolling
interests
Balance as of
December 31,
2008
Comprehensive
loss:
Net income (loss)
Minimum pension
liability
adjustment
Foreign currency
translation
Comprehensive
loss
Issuance of
common stock
upon exercise of
stock options
Fair value of RSU
liability
adjustment
Stock-based
compensation
Repurchase of
outstanding
options
Tax adjustment
related to the
Spin-off
Acquisition of
controlling
interests in
subsidiaries
Fair value of
redeemable
noncontrolling
interests
adjustments
Exercise of
redemption
feature of
noncontrolling
interest.
Distributions to
noncontrolling
interests
Other
Balance as of
December 31,
2009

—

$

669

$ —

—

$ 1,874,710

$

Accumulated
Deficit

—

$

—

Receivables
from IAC and
Subsidiaries

$ (539,861)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$ 22,988

Noncontrolling
Interests

$

—

Total

$ 1,357,837
—

Comprehensive
income
Cumulative effect
of adoption of
ASC Topic 740
Stock-based
compensation
Net transfers from
IAC (principally
the transfer of an
investment and
funding for
acquisitions
Net change in
receivables from
IAC and
subsidiaries
Acquisition of
controlling
interests in
subsidiaries
Balance as of
December 31,
2007
Comprehensive
loss:
Net income prior to
the Spin-off
Net loss after the
Spin-off
Foreign currency
translation

—

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Invested
Capital

—

—

—

—

(2,560)
72

—

—

169,351

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

17,802

—

17,802

—

187,153

(2,488)

$

169,351

—

—

—

—

—

1,344

—

—

—

—

—

1,344

—

—

2,445

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

127,092

—

—

—

—

—

127,092

65,751

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

65,751

—

—

—

—

7,186

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

$ 7,812

$ —

—

$ 2,172,497

—

$ (474,110)

$ 40,790

—

$ 1,739,177

—

53,259

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
(5,394)
—

—

$

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

—

—

(1,058,758)

—

—

—

$

—

—

—

1,072

(1,057,686)

—

(52,164)

1,072

(1,056,591)

(538,850)

(52,164)

(5,394)

53,259

—

—

—

—

—

(1,012,960)

—

—

474,110

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1,212,796)

1,212,796

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

562

56,210

(562)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3

—

50

—

—

—

—

50

—

—

—

—

—

—

826

—

—

—

—

826
13,168

—

—

—

10

1,000

—

13,158

—

—

—

—

8,848

1,750

—

—

—

—

(8,848)

—

—

—

—

(8,848)

1,040

—

2,415

—

—

—

18,265

—

—

—

—

18,265

—

—

42,840

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

29,074

29,074

—

—

—

—

666

—

—

—

(666)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

$ 9,888

1,750

—

—

$ 572

57,213

—

$ 1,235,019

—

$ (11,374)

—

—

—

—

30,254

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(206)

—

—

27

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

2

170

—

815

—

—

—

—

817

—

—

—

—

—

—

(266)

—

—

—

—

(266)

6,242

—

3,478

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(388)

—

—

—

—

(388)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(5,188)

—

—

—

—

(5,188)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

12,625

—

—

23,637

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(5,856)

$ 42,483
(4,437)

$

$ (1,058,758)

$

18,581

(4,410)

(666)

$ 28,172

(1,974)

$

(6,789)

12,603

—

(22,773)

—

—

(382)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

(7,878)
158

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

$ 16,130

1,750

$ 574

57,383

—

$ 1,219,822

$

$ (1,028,504)

$

—

$

7,001

(206)

—

18,581
41,840

12,603

12,625

(22,773)

—

—

(2,068)
—

$ 31,940

193,631
23,465

—

(6,789)

—
—

$ 57,086

—
(1,974)

(2,068)
—

$

230,833

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating
activities:
Net income (loss).
Adjustments to reconcile net
income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating
activities:
Amortization of
intangibles
Depreciation
Goodwill impairment
Impairment of
long-term
investments
Amortization of debt
issuance costs
Provision for
doubtful accounts
Stock-based
compensation
expense
Deferred income
taxes
Gain on disposal of
property and
equipment
Gain on
extinguishment of
debt
Gain on sale of
long-term
investments
Equity in income of
unconsolidated
affiliates, net of
dividends
Excess tax benefits
from stock-based
awards
Changes in assets and
liabilities, excluding
acquisition effects:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and
other current
assets
Accounts payable
and other current
liabilities
Income taxes
payable
Deferred revenue
Funds collected on
behalf of clients,
net
Other, net
Net cash provided by
operating activities
Cash flows from investing
activities:
Transfers (to) from
IAC
Cash paid for

$

19,028

$

(1,009,821)

$

166,792

71,608
56,293
—

44,109
49,894
1,094,091

26,200
38,458
—

9,914

12,334

—

4,536

1,697

—

3,362

2,409

464

22,323

23,731

12,572

(34,044)

(32,247)

(11,210)

(2,438)

—

—

(902)

—

—

(2,902)

—

—

135

953

1,035

—

(55)

(3,029)

9,302

3,694

(10,878)

(1,987)

3,266

(77,559)

1,573

4,678

(9,645)

6,982
(2,182)

12,199
7,209

4,110
2,038

21,224
—

(23,198)
245

72,093
526

181,825

195,188

211,967

—
(33,636)

(910,088)
(506,602)

64,548
(29,423)

Source: TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC, 10-K, February 25, 2010
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acquisitions, net
of cash acquired
Purchases of
property and
equipment
Purchase of
marketable
securities
Proceeds from sales
and maturities of
marketable
securities
Proceeds from sales
of property and
equipment
Proceeds from sales
of long-term
investments
Cash paid for
long-term
investments
Net cash used in investing
activities
Cash flows from financing
activities:
Capital contributions
from IAC
Proceeds from
issuance of
long-term debt
Proceeds from bank
borrowings
Principal payments
on long-term
obligations
Payment of deferred
financing costs
Purchase of
noncontrolling
interest
Distributions to
noncontrolling
interests
Excess tax benefits
from equity
awards
Other, net
Net cash (used in) provided
by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash
equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year

(46,275)

(50,838)

—

(7,634)

—

1,497

5,043

—

6,400

—

—

7,042

—

—

(226)

(5,830)

(630)

(65,198)

(1,475,949)

(13,026)

—

405,498

29,423

—

300,000

—

—

565,000

—

(53,341)

(2,101)

(2,175)

—

(27,169)

—

—

(764)

—

(7,830)

—

(9,946)

$

(47,521)

—
(333)

55
50

3,029
—

(63,620)

1,232,739

30,277

36,857

(55,777)

21,622

89,864

(103,799)

250,840

464,618

568,417

317,577

554,482

$

464,618

$

568,417

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Company Overview
Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., a Delaware limited liability company ("Ticketmaster Entertainment," "we," "our," "us" or the "Company"), consists of
Ticketmaster and Front Line Management Group, Inc. ("Front Line"). Ticketmaster operates in 19 global markets, providing ticket sales, ticket resale services,
marketing and distribution through www.ticketmaster.com, numerous retail outlets and worldwide call centers. Established in 1976, Ticketmaster serves clients
worldwide across multiple event categories, providing exclusive ticketing services for leading arenas, stadiums, professional sports franchises and leagues,
college sports teams, performing arts venues, museums and theaters. The Company acquired a controlling interest in Front Line in October 2008. Founded by
Irving Azoff and Howard Kaufman in 2004, Front Line is an artist management company.
Spin-off from IAC/InterActiveCorp
On July 1, 2008, the Board of Directors of IAC/InterActiveCorp ("IAC") approved a plan to separate IAC into five separate, publicly-traded companies via
the distribution of all of the outstanding shares of common stock of four wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Spincos"), including Ticketmaster Entertainment.
On August 20, 2008, IAC distributed to its stockholders all of the outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Ticketmaster
Entertainment (the "Spin-off"). The Company's businesses include the businesses that formerly comprised IAC's Ticketmaster segment (which, at the time of the
Spin-off, included IAC's domestic and international ticketing and ticketing-related businesses, subsidiaries and investments, and excluded the Company's Reserve
America subsidiary and its investment in Active.com). At the time of the Spin-off, the Company also included IAC's minority investment in Front Line. On
October 29, 2008, the Company acquired additional equity interests in Front Line, giving the Company a controlling interest.
Upon completion of the Spin-off (and for a short period prior to that, on a "when issued" basis), the Company's shares began trading on The Nasdaq Global
Select Market ("NASDAQ") under the symbol "TKTM." In conjunction with the Spin-off, the Company completed the following transactions: (1) extinguished
all intercompany receivable balances due from IAC and its subsidiaries, which totaled $604.4 million, by recording a non-cash distribution to IAC,
(2) recapitalized the invested equity balance with common stock, whereby holders of IAC stock received one fifth of a share of Ticketmaster Entertainment
common stock for each share of common and class B common stock of IAC held, as described in our Post Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 (Commission
File Number 333-152702) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on August 20, 2008, and (3) distributed $752.9 million in cash to IAC in
connection with the Company's separation from IAC, which included the net proceeds of $723.6 million from a combination of privately-issued debt securities
and bank borrowings. Refer to Note 9—Long-Term Debt for further discussion of the Company's outstanding debt balance.
Merger with Live Nation
On February 10, 2009, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to merge (the "Merger Agreement") with Live Nation, Inc. ("Live Nation"). The
merger (the "Merger") was completed on January 25, 2010. As part of the Merger, among other things, (i) Ticketmaster Entertainment, which up to that time was
a Delaware corporation named Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. ("Old Ticketmaster"), merged into an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation
("Merger Sub"), (ii) Merger Sub continued as the surviving entity and Old Ticketmaster ceased to exist, (iii) Merger Sub was renamed Ticketmaster
Entertainment LLC, a single member limited liability company with an
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NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation as its sole member, (iv) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of Old Ticketmaster was converted
into 1.4743728 shares of common stock of Live Nation plus cash in lieu of any fractional shares, and (v) Live Nation changed its name to Live Nation
Entertainment, Inc. As a result, Ticketmaster Entertainment is now an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Live Nation, and Live Nation remains a
publicly-traded company with its shares listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "LYV." Refer to Note 3—Merger with Live Nation for a more
detailed discussion of the Merger.
Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements present our results of operations, financial position, temporary equity and equity, comprehensive income (loss) and
cash flows on a consolidated basis. The consolidated financial statements include the Company's investment in Front Line, which was consolidated beginning on
October 29, 2008, when the Company increased its ownership interest from 39.4% to 82.3% (approximately 75% on a diluted basis). Prior to October 29, 2008,
the investment in Front Line was accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
We prepared the consolidated financial statements from the historical results of operations and historical basis of the assets and liabilities of the Company
with the exception of income taxes. We computed income taxes using our stand-alone tax rate. Our income tax payables as well as deferred tax assets and
liabilities represent the estimated impact of filing a consolidated income tax return with IAC through the Spin-off, and filing a stand-alone consolidated income
tax return thereafter. We eliminated all significant intercompany transactions and accounts for periods prior to the Spin-off.
Until the Spin-off, we recorded expense allocations from IAC, which consisted of certain general corporate overhead expenses, based on the ratio of our
revenue as a percentage of IAC's total revenue. The general corporate overhead allocations primarily included expenses relating to accounting, treasury, legal,
tax, corporate support, human resource functions and internal audit. Since the Spin-off, we have been performing these functions using our own resources or
purchased services, including services purchased from IAC pursuant to the transitional services agreement among IAC and the Spincos.
The historical financial statements prior to the Spin-off are based on certain assumptions about Ticketmaster Entertainment as a stand-alone company. Our
management believes the assumptions underlying the historical consolidated financial statements of the Company are reasonable. However, this financial
information does not necessarily reflect what the historical financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company would have been if the
Company had been a stand-alone company during the entire period presented.
NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The
Company consolidates all entities that we control by ownership of a majority voting interest as well as certain variable interest entities for which the Company is
the primary beneficiary.
We use the equity method to account for our investments for which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial
policies. Consolidated net income includes the Company's proportionate share of the net income or net loss of these companies.
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NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
We use the cost method to account for our investments in companies that we do not control and for which we do not have the ability to exercise significant
influence over operating and financial policies. In accordance with the cost method, these investments are recorded at cost or fair value, as appropriate.
We eliminate from our financial results all significant intercompany transactions, including the intercompany transactions with variable interest entities and
the intercompany portion of transactions with equity method investees.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Determining
whether some or all of these criteria have been met involves assumptions and judgments, including the evaluation of multiple element arrangements that can have
an effect on the timing and amount of revenue the Company reports.
Gross versus Net Revenue Recognition
The Company reports revenue on a gross or net basis based on management's assessment of whether the Company acts as a principal or agent in the
transaction. To the extent the Company acts as the principal in a transaction, revenues are reported on a gross basis. The determination of whether the Company
acts as a principal or an agent in a transaction is based on an evaluation of whether the Company has the substantial risks and rewards of ownership under the
terms of an arrangement.
Ticketing
Ticketing revenue, which primarily consists of convenience and order processing fees from ticketing operations, is recognized as tickets are sold, and is
recorded on a net basis (net of the face value of the ticket) as the Company acts as an agent in these transactions. Interest income is earned on funds that are
collected from ticket purchasers and invested until remittance to the applicable clients. As the process of collecting, holding and remitting these funds is a critical
component of providing service to these clients, the interest earned on these funds is included in revenue. Revenue is presented net of sales tax.
Artist Services
Front Line secures work for the clients it represents, for which it receives a commission. Generally, commissions are payable by clients upon their receipt of
payments for performance of services or upon the delivery or use of materials which they created. Revenue is generally recognized in the month of the artist
event. Contingent commissions, such as those based on profits or gross receipts, are recorded upon determination of the amounts. Revenue is not recognized
before persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the amount to be received is fixed or determinable, and collectability is
reasonably assured.
Front Line also earns revenue from the sales of entertainment packages to consumers in connection with live performances. Entertainment packages are sold
and cash is received from consumers in advance of the event. Revenue and related expenses incurred are deferred until the event occurs. In addition, Front Line
sells merchandise associated with musical artists at live musical performances, to retailers, and directly to consumers via a website. The Company recognized
revenue
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of $76.8 million, $16.9 million and zero related to the sale of merchandise for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. For retail and internet sales,
revenue is recognized upon shipment of the merchandise. Touring revenue, including the sale of merchandise, is recognized in the month of the event.
Cost of Sales (exclusive of depreciation)
In our ticketing segment, costs associated with processing and delivering ticketing orders to customers are recorded as cost of sales. In our artist services
segment, merchandise inventory, related shipping costs and costs associated with VIP ticket packages are recorded as cost of sales. The Company recognized
cost of sales of $66.2 million, $14.3 million and zero related to the sale of merchandise for the year ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, money market instruments and time deposits with maturities of less than 91 days. These balances are stated at cost,
which approximates fair value. Cash and cash equivalents include $301.9 million and $254.0 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, of collected
proceeds relating to the face value of the tickets, which are payable to clients and reflected as accounts payable, client accounts. Cash and cash equivalents held
in international territories totaled $339.7 million and $301.3 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Marketable Securities
At times, the Company invests in marketable securities. The Company only invests in marketable securities with active secondary or resale markets to
ensure portfolio liquidity and the ability to readily convert investments into cash to fund current operations, or satisfy other cash requirements as needed. When
held by the Company, marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value based on quoted market prices.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable, client accounts, are due principally from ticketing outlets and credit card processors and represent the face value of tickets sold plus
convenience and order processing fees, generally net of outlet commissions.
Accounts receivable include amounts relating to artist management, merchandising, advertising, and software licensing sales and are stated at amounts due,
net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable outstanding longer than the contractual payment terms are considered past due. The Company
determines its allowance for doubtful accounts by considering a number of factors, including the length of time accounts receivable are past due, the Company's
previous loss history, the specific customer's current ability to pay its obligation to the Company and the condition of the general economy and the customer's
industry. The Company writes off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at lower of cost or net realizable market value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. At December 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively, Front Line merchandise inventory of $2.2 million and $1.8 million was included in "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, including significant improvements, are recorded at cost. Any gains or losses on dispositions are included in operations.
Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis to allocate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimated service lives.
Depreciation
Period

Asset Category

Computer equipment and capitalized software
1 to 5 years
Furniture and other equipment
5 to 7 years
Buildings and leasehold improvements
3 to 40 years
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the economic useful life or the remaining lease term. Expenditures
for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred, whereas expenditures for renewal and improvements are capitalized. Assets recorded under
capital leases are amortized over the shorter of the economic useful life or the remaining lease term; the amortization is included in depreciation expense.
The Company capitalizes certain qualified costs incurred in connection with the development of internal use software. Capitalization of internal use software
costs begins when the preliminary project stage is completed, management with the relevant authority authorizes and commits to the funding of the software
project, and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used to perform the function intended. Capitalized internal use software is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software. Capitalized internal software costs, net of accumulated depreciation, totaled
$40.8 million and $33.9 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and are included in "Property and equipment, net" in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess fair value of an acquired entity over the fair value of the identifiable net tangible and intangible assets acquired.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially recorded at management's estimate of their fair values. We test our goodwill for
impairment annually on the first day of our fiscal fourth quarter (October 1, 2009 of fiscal 2009), or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable. For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company identified one reporting unit in the ticketing segment and three in
the artist services segment (artist management, VIP ticketing and merchandising). For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company had identified two
reporting units in the ticketing segment (ticketing and Echo Music) and three reporting units in the artist services segment (artist management, VIP ticketing and
merchandising). The reduction in the number of reporting units identified within the ticketing segment is a result of a change in the Company's reporting
structure, with the Echo Music reporting unit being merged into the ticketing reporting unit. As of December 31, 2008, the Echo Music reporting unit had no
goodwill.
The testing of goodwill for impairment consists of a two-step process. The first step involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to
its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired
and the second step of the impairment test is not required. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, then the second step of the
goodwill impairment test must be performed in which the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared to its
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goodwill carrying amount to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill exceeds the implied fair value
of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The Company determines the fair value of the reporting units based on the
present value of the cash flows the reporting units can be expected to generate in the future.
We also test our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually on the first day of our fiscal fourth quarter, or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The impairment test for indefinite-lived intangible assets involves a comparison of the
estimated fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying value. If the carrying value of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is
recognized in an amount equal to that excess. In our case, the Ticketmaster trade name is the only intangible asset not subject to amortization. The fair value of
the Ticketmaster trade name is estimated using a multi-period royalty savings method, which reflects the savings realized by owning the trade name, and thus not
having to pay a royalty fee to a third party.
Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets with Definite Lives
Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives, are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of
the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. If the carrying amount is deemed to not be recoverable, an
impairment loss is recorded as the amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Amortization of definite lived intangible
assets is recorded either on a straight-line basis or a basis more representative of the time pattern over which the benefit is derived.
Long-Term Investments
The Company owns certain investments in common stock which do not have readily determinable fair values. Investments in which the Company has the
ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial matters of the investee are accounted for using the equity method. Other investments in
which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial matters of the investee are accounted for using the
cost method. The Company evaluates each equity and cost method investment for impairment on a quarterly basis and recognizes an impairment loss if a decline
in value is determined to be other-than-temporary. If the Company has not identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant adverse
effect on the fair value of a cost investment, then the fair value of such cost method investment is not estimated, as it is impracticable to do so.
Contract Advances
Contract advances, which can be either recoupable or non-recoupable, represent amounts paid in advance to the Company's clients pursuant to ticketing
agreements. Recoupable contract advances provide for the client's participation in the convenience charges and/or order processing fees and are generally
recoupable against future royalties earned by the clients based on the contract terms over the life of the contract (generally 3 to 7 years). Non-recoupable contract
advances are fixed additional incentives sometimes paid by the Company to secure exclusive ticketing rights with certain clients and are normally amortized over
the life of the contract on a straight-line basis (generally 3 to 7 years).
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Recoupment of contract advances and amortization of non-recoupable contract advances are included in "Cost of sales" in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
Accounts Payable, Client Accounts
Accounts payable, client accounts consist of contractual amounts due to clients for tickets sold on behalf of the organizations that sponsor events and receive
ticketing royalties, which arise from the clients' share of convenience and order processing charges.
Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue primarily consists of unredeemed gift cards issued by the Company. Upon the purchase of a gift card, deferred revenue is established for
the cash value of the gift card. Deferred revenue is relieved and net revenue is recorded upon redemption by the customer or the expiration of the gift card, if
applicable. Over time, some portion of the gift cards issued without expiration dates are not redeemed. This amount is recorded as revenue when it can be
determined that the likelihood of the gift card being redeemed is remote and there is no legal obligation to remit the unredeemed gift cards to relevant
jurisdictions. We determine the probability of the gift cards being redeemed based on historical gift card redemption patterns. Income from gift card revenue, net
of any amounts subject to escheat laws, is included in revenue in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
In connection with the acquisition of certain subsidiaries, the Company is party to fair value put arrangements with respect to the common securities that
represent the remaining noncontrolling interests of the acquired company. These put arrangements are exercisable at fair value by the counter-party outside the
control of the Company and are classified as temporary equity. Adjustments to the carrying amount of redeemable noncontrolling interests issued in the form of a
common security to reflect a fair value redemption feature do not impact the Company's earnings per share. Accordingly, to the extent that the fair value of these
redeemable noncontrolling interests exceeds the value determined by normal noncontrolling interest accounting, the value of such interests is adjusted to fair
value with a corresponding adjustment to additional paid-in capital. Redeemable noncontrolling interests for which the put arrangements are not currently
redeemable are accounted for by normal noncontrolling interest accounting, and changes in the redemption fair value are accreted over the period from the date
of issuance to the earliest redemption date of the security using the interest method. For the noncontrolling interests that are not currently redeemable, the total
redemption fair value being accreted to is $76.6 million.
Advertising
Advertising costs are charged to expense in the period incurred and represent both offline costs, including sports sponsorships and radio advertising, and
online advertising costs, including fees paid to search engines and distribution partners. Advertising expense was $66.1 million, $70.2 million and $21.6 million
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Research and Development
Research and development costs, which relate primarily to software development, are charged to operations as incurred. Based on the Company's
development process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. Costs incurred prior to the completion of a working model are
expensed as incurred. Costs incurred subsequent to the completion of a working model and
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to the point at which the software is ready for general release are capitalized. Research and development costs were $31.4 million, $34.5 million and
$21.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method, and deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation
allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company records
interest on potential tax contingencies as a component of income tax expense and records interest net of any applicable related income tax benefit.
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted authoritative guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. Under this guidance, we may
recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing
authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based
on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.
Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gains and Losses
The financial position and operating results of substantially all foreign operations are consolidated using the local currency as the functional currency. Local
currency assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange as of the balance sheet date, and local currency revenue and expenses are translated at
average rates of exchange during the period. Resulting translation gains or losses are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, a
separate component of equity. The cumulative translation adjustment was a net gain of $7.2 million and a net loss of $11.4 million at December 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively. Transaction gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity involved are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
In certain limited instances, the Company enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to mitigate the risk of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates on short-term intercompany loans payable to certain international subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had foreign
currency forward exchange contract outstanding with nominal amounts of CAD 3.2 million and AUD 16.5 million, respectively. Gains and losses on these
foreign currency exchange contracts are recognized in "Other income" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations immediately as the contracts were not
designated as hedging instruments, substantially offsetting currency transaction gains and losses on the short-term intercompany loans. The gains or losses are
carried on the Consolidated Balance Sheet on a gross basis in "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and "Other accrued expenses and current liabilities,"
respectively. The change in fair value of these instruments from date of purchase through December 31, 2009 and 2008 was a loss of $0.1million and a loss of
$0.5 million, respectively.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized to interest expense over the terms of debt. The Company utilizes the effective interest method to amortize
debt issuance costs.
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Stock-Based Compensation
The Company follows the current accounting guidance for stock-based compensation, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including employee stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs") based on the
grant-date fair values of the awards.
The Company adopted the current guidance using the modified prospective transition method, and the Company's consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 reflect the impact of the adoption. Stock-based compensation recognized for the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007 was $23.8 million, $23.7 million and $12.6 million, respectively, which was primarily related to RSUs and stock options. In accordance
with current guidance, the Company has been recognizing expense for all stock-based grants since it became wholly owned by IAC on January 17, 2003.
Determining the fair value of share-based awards at the measurement date requires judgment, including estimating the expected term that stock options will
be outstanding prior to exercise, the associated volatility, and the expected dividends. The Company estimates the fair value of share based payment awards on
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as an expense
over the requisite service periods in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Under current guidance, forfeiture rates must be estimated at the time of grant in order to calculate the amount of share-based payment awards ultimately
expected to vest. The forfeiture rate is based on historical rates. Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 has been reduced for estimated forfeitures as it is based on equity awards ultimately expected to vest.
Net Income (Loss) Per Share
Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
during the period, net of shares subject to repurchase rights, and excludes any dilutive effects of options or warrants, Restricted Stock, RSUs, and convertible
securities, if any. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common stock and common stock equivalent shares
outstanding (including the effect of restricted stock) during the period. Common stock equivalent shares are excluded from the computation if their effect is
antidilutive.
Legal Contingencies
The Company is currently involved in certain legal proceedings. The Company records liabilities related to pending litigation when an unfavorable outcome
is probable and management can reasonably estimate the amount of loss. The Company does not record liabilities for pending litigation when there are
uncertainties related to assessing either the amount or the probable outcome of the claims asserted in the litigation. As additional information becomes available,
the Company continually assesses the potential liability related to such pending litigation.
Operating Leases
The Company leases office space, data centers and certain office equipment under operating lease agreements. Certain of the lease agreements contain rent
holidays and rent escalation provisions. Rent holidays and rent escalation provisions are considered in determining straight-line rent expense to be
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recorded over the lease term. The lease term begins on the date of initial possession of the leased property for purposes of recognizing lease expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease renewal periods are considered on a lease-by-lease basis and are generally not included in the initial lease
term.
Segments
The Company complies with the segment reporting requirements as outlined in the current accounting guidance. After the October 29, 2008 acquisition of a
controlling interest in Front Line, based upon changes in the internal management structure and how the chief operating decision maker viewed the business, the
Company began reporting two segments: ticketing and artist services.
Accounting Estimates
The Company's management is required to make certain estimates and assumptions during the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. These estimates and assumptions impact the reported amount of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. They also impact the reported amount of net earnings during
any period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Significant estimates underlying the accompanying consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to: the recoverability of contract advances;
the recoverability of long-lived assets; the recovery of goodwill and intangible assets; the determination of income taxes payable and deferred income taxes,
including related valuation allowances; and assumptions related to the determination of stock-based compensation.
Certain Risks and Concentrations
The Company's business is subject to certain risks and concentrations including dependence on third-party technology providers, exposure to risks
associated with online commerce security and credit card fraud.
Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents are maintained with quality financial institutions of high credit and cash held in the U.S. is in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
insurance limits.
As of December 31, 2009, the Company has no customers that individually comprise more than 10% of total revenue. For the year ended December 31,
2008 and 2007, the Company had one customer, Live Nation, (including its subsidiary House of Blues) that comprised more than 10% of total revenue. Refer to
Note 7—Segment Information for information regarding significant customers.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued authoritative guidance that establishes the FASB Accounting Standards
Codification ("Codification" or "ASC"), as the single source of authoritative United States accounting and reporting standards applicable for all
non-governmental entities, with the exception of guidance promulgated by the SEC and its staff. The Codification, which changes the referencing of financial
standards, is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending after September 15, 2009. We adopted the guidance in the third quarter of 2009. Since the
guidance did not change GAAP, the Codification did not impact the Company's financial statements.
Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets
In April 2008, the FASB issued authoritative guidance that revises the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions in
determining the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under the guidance. We adopted the guidance in the first quarter of 2009 on a prospective basis, and
the standards did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements
In December 2007, the FASB issued authoritative guidance that impacts the accounting and reporting for noncontrolling interests. Noncontrolling interests
are to be reported as a component of equity separate from the parent's equity, and purchases or sales of equity interests that do not result in a change in control
are to be accounted for as equity transactions. In addition, net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest should be included in consolidated net income on
the face of the Consolidated Statements of Operations and upon a loss of control, the interest sold, as well as any interest retained, should be recorded at fair
value with any gain or loss recognized in earnings. The guidance is applied prospectively, except for the presentation and disclosure requirements, which are
applied retrospectively for all periods presented. We adopted the guidance in the first quarter of 2009.
As a result of the adoption, we have reclassified certain noncontrolling interests from liabilities to a component of equity. Securities that are redeemable at
the option of the holder and not solely within the control of the issuer must be classified outside of equity. Since the noncontrolling interests held by third parties
in certain consolidated subsidiaries are exercisable outside the control of the Company, these interests are classified as a component of temporary equity in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Business Combinations
In December 2007, the FASB issued authoritative guidance that establishes revised principles and requirements for the recognition and measurement of
assets and liabilities in a business combination. The guidance requires (i) recognition of 100% of the fair values of acquired assets, including goodwill, and
assumed liabilities upon obtaining control, (ii) contingent consideration to be accounted for at fair value at the acquisition date, (iii) transaction costs to be
expensed as incurred, (iv) pre-acquisition contingencies to be accounted for at the acquisition date at fair value and (v) costs of a plan to exit an activity or
terminate or relocate employees to be accounted for as post combination costs. We adopted the guidance in the first quarter of 2009 on a prospective basis. As of
December 31, 2008, approximately $0.6 million of transaction costs related to transactions not consummated were
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capitalized and included in prepaid expenses and other current assets. These costs were charged to expense during the first quarter of 2009.
In April 2009, the FASB issued an amendment to amend and clarify the guidance on business combinations to require that an acquirer recognize at fair
value, at the acquisition date, an asset acquired or a liability assumed in a business combination that arises from a contingency if the acquisition-date fair value of
that asset or liability can be determined during the measurement period. If the acquisition-date fair value of such an asset acquired or liability assumed cannot be
determined, the acquirer should apply the provisions of the guidance on business combinations to determine whether the contingency should be recognized at the
acquisition date or after it. We adopted the guidance in the first quarter of 2009, and the standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.
Subsequent Events
In May 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance that establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the
balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. In particular, the guidance sets forth the following: (i) the period after
the balance sheet date during which management of a reporting entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or
disclosure in the financial statements; (ii) the circumstances under which an entity should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date
in its financial statements; and (iii) the disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date. The guidance
is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009 on a prospective basis. We adopted the guidance in the second quarter of 2009, and
the standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements and disclosures.
Fair Value Accounting
In April 2009, the FASB issued guidance that requires disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments for interim reporting periods ending after
June 15, 2009. The guidance also requires those disclosures in summarized financial information at interim financial periods. The Company adopted the guidance
in the second quarter of 2009, and the standard did not have an impact on the Company's financial statement disclosures.
In August 2009, the FASB issued guidance related to the fair value measurement of liabilities. The guidance provides clarification that in circumstances in
which a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available, an entity is required to measure fair value utilizing one or more of the
following techniques: (1) a valuation technique that uses the quoted market price of an identical liability or similar liabilities when traded as assets; or (2) another
valuation technique that is consistent with the principles of fair value measurements, such as a present value technique. We adopted the guidance in the fourth
quarter of 2009, and the standards did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
Variable Interest Entities
In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance that amends the existing guidance related to variable interest entities. Among other accounting and disclosure
requirements, the guidance replaces the quantitative-based risks and rewards calculation for determining which enterprise has a controlling financial interest in a
variable interest entity with an approach focused on identifying which enterprise has the power to direct the activities of a variable interest entity and the
obligation to absorb losses of
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the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity. The Company will adopt the guidance in its first annual and interim reporting periods beginning after
November 15, 2009. The Company is evaluating the impact the guidance will have on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
NOTE 3—MERGER WITH LIVE NATION
On January 25, 2010, the Company and Live Nation completed their Merger following the receipt of regulatory clearances from the U.S. Department of
Justice (the "DOJ") and the Canadian Bureau of Competition (having previously received clearance from all other government authorities required under the
Merger Agreement), and the approval of Ticketmaster Entertainment and Live Nation stockholders. As part of the Merger, the Company's stockholders received
1.4743728 shares of Live Nation common stock for each share of Ticketmaster Entertainment common stock they owned. Effective on the date of the Merger,
the merged entity changed its name to Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. On January 28, 2010, the Company and Live Nation received notice from the UK
Competition Commission that it would re-open its investigation of the Merger in response to an appeal filed by CTS Eventim, and since then the Commission has
officially reported that it will complete its work in the re-opened investigation on or before May 11, 2010.
The combined company is led by Michael Rapino as CEO and President of Live Nation Entertainment and Irving Azoff as Executive Chairman of Live
Nation Entertainment and CEO of Front Line. Barry Diller serves as Chairman of the Board of Live Nation Entertainment. The Board consists of 14 directors,
seven of whom were designated by each the Company and Live Nation.
Under the terms of the agreement reached with the DOJ, the Company and Live Nation agreed to divest the Company's ticketing subsidiary, Paciolan, Inc.,
and to license the Ticketmaster Host technology to Anschutz Entertainment Group, Inc., as well as to other terms intended to protect competitive conditions in
ticketing and promotions.
On May 12, 2009, the Company had entered into an amendment to the senior secured credit facilities, which was contingent on the consummation of the
Merger. The amendment effects certain changes to the senior secured credit facilities, which became effective upon the Company notifying the administrative
agent under the senior secured credit facilities that the Merger was completed pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement and the payment to each lender that
has consented to the amendment of a consent fee equal to 0.50% of the sum of the principal amount of the term loans outstanding to such lender as of May 12,
2009 and the full amount of such lender's revolving commitment as of May 12, 2009. The amendment permits the senior secured credit facilities to remain
outstanding following the Merger, increases the interest spreads under each of the Term Loan A, Term Loan B and revolving credit facility by 1.25%, institutes a
LIBOR floor of 2.50% for the senior secured credit facilities, conditions each borrowing under the revolving credit facility and certain other debt incurrences on
the Company having a pro forma consolidated total leverage ratio of no more than 3.50 to 1.00, creates restrictions on the Company and its subsidiaries
transferring assets to Live Nation or Live Nation's other subsidiaries in certain circumstances and would effect certain other changes to facilitate the integration
of the Company and its subsidiaries with Live Nation and its subsidiaries following consummation of the Merger.
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The balance of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, net is as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2009

Goodwill
Indefinite-lived intangible
assets, trade name
Total goodwill and
indefinite-lived
intangible
assets, net

$

2008

482,341

$

455,751

62,585

$

544,926

62,585

$

518,336

The following tables present the balance of goodwill, including the changes in carrying amount of goodwill, for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
2008 (in thousands):
Ticketing

Artist Services

Total

(In thousands)

Balance as of January 1,
2008
Goodwill
Accumulated
impairment
loss

$

Increase in goodwill
related to
acquisitions
Reduction of goodwill
related to impairment
Effect of foreign
currency
Balance as of
December 31, 2008
Goodwill
Accumulated
impairment
loss
Increase in goodwill
related to
acquisitions
Effect of foreign
currency
Balance as of
December 31, 2009
Goodwill
Accumulated
impairment
loss
$

1,090,418

$

—

$

1,090,418

—
1,090,418

—
—

—
1,090,418

284,990

194,160

479,150

(1,094,091)

—

(1,094,091)

(19,726)

—

(19,726)

1,355,682

194,160

1,549,842

(1,094,091)
261,591

—
194,160

(1,094,091)
455,751

—

18,072

18,072

8,518

—

8,518

1,364,200

212,232

1,576,432

(1,094,091)
270,109

—
212,232

$

$

(1,094,091)
482,341

For the year ended December 31, 2009, goodwill additions of $15.0 million resulted from acquisitions of four separate artist management companies. These
acquisitions were not considered material and the acquired businesses did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or
cash flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009. Additionally, $3.1 million of goodwill was recognized due to payments arising from contingent
earn-outs on acquisitions completed prior to the effective date of the current guidance for business combinations.
For the year ended December 31, 2008, additions to the ticketing segment principally related to the 2008 acquisitions of TicketsNow, Paciolan, and GET
ME IN! The aggregate purchase price for these acquisitions totaled approximately $428.0 million with approximately $151.6 million of intangible assets and
$282.1 million of goodwill identified. For the artist services segment, $194.2 million of goodwill was recorded as a result of the acquisition of a controlling
interest in Front Line, which included $147.4 million in historical basis and $46.8 million resulting from the excess of the purchase price over fair value of
identified assets for the stepped-up portion of the acquisition.
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NOTE 4—GOODWILL AND INDEFINITE-LIVED INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Impairment Testing
The Company performed its annual impairment testing of goodwill on October 1, 2009. As a result of testing, the Company determined that there were no
indications of goodwill impairment for any of the reporting units for the year ended December 31, 2009.
As a result of our annual impairment test in 2008, the Company concluded that goodwill in the Company's ticketing and Echo Music reporting units was
likely impaired. The factors indicating a likely impairment included the decline in the global economy, which resulted in downward adjustments in forecasted
future operating income and cash flows, and a significant decline in the Company's stock price. In determining the impairment charge, the Company used certain
discounted cash flow ("DCF") analyses. The analyses included seven years of projected cash flows with forecasted sales growth rates ranging from -5.7% to
12.5% with a terminal growth rate of 3%. The discount rates used in the DCF analyses for the step one tests were 12% with a 9% rate for the terminal value. The
Company also considered the market approach which evaluates market transactions involving similarly situated companies, however it was not considered
meaningful in the final evaluation because of the lack of comparability between the reporting units and guideline public companies. In addition, the Company
assessed the reasonableness of its determined fair values by reference to the Company's market capitalization and determined that the implied control premium
was reasonable. To quantify the impairment, the Company allocated the fair value of the ticketing and Echo Music reporting units to the reporting units'
individual assets and liabilities utilizing the purchase price allocation guidance. The resulting implied value of the ticketing and Echo Music reporting units'
goodwill was a total of $1.1 billion less than the current carrying value of the goodwill. The difference was recorded as a non-cash impairment charge to reduce
the goodwill in the ticketing and Echo Music reporting units to $261.6 million and zero, respectively.
There was no goodwill impairment recorded for the year ended December 31, 2007. In addition, the Company's impairment test for the indefinite-lived
trademark indicated no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.
NOTE 5—LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH DEFINITE LIVES
Intangible assets with definite lives related to the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2009

Cost

Artist
relationships
Purchase
agreements
Broker
relationships
Customer
relationships
Technology
Distribution
agreements
Non-compete
agreements
Trademarks and
trade names
Other
Total

Accumulated
Amortization

December 31, 2008
Weighted
Average
Amortization
Period
(Years)

$ 172,588

$ (65,650)

157,563

(157,396)

6.1

64,375

(9,832)

12.0

53,115
31,377

(18,443)
(21,635)

8.2
3.5

27,805

(27,596)

6.3

27,577

(17,767)

24,896
3,927
$ 563,223

(5,861)
(1,323)
$ (325,503)

Cost

20.0 $ 138,369

Accumulated
Amortization

Weighted
Average
Amortization
Period
(Years)

$ (38,720)

20.0

(151,209)

6.1

64,331

(4,468)

12.0

53,086
31,333

(8,060)
(14,494)

7.9
3.5

27,333

(23,959)

6.3

5.3

23,968

(12,950)

4.8

9.1
10.9

24,740
3,873
$ 524,985

(2,716)
(933)
$ (257,509)

9.1
10.9

157,952
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NOTE 5—LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH DEFINITE LIVES (Continued)
Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives, are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. There was no definite-lived intangible asset impairment recorded for the year ending
December 31, 2009. In 2008, the Company identified and recorded an impairment charge of $0.6 million for the write-off of a covenant not to compete related to
the Company's ticketing operations in Germany. The intangible asset impairment charge was included in "Amortization of intangible assets" in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
In the 2009, as a result of consideration of operating results and other events impacting the business, the Company evaluated the remaining useful lives
attributed to certain intangible assets. The Company determined that circumstances warranted a revision to the remaining period of amortization for the related
intangible assets. The Company determined that certain international ticketing agreement intangible assets did not have a useful life beyond 2009, and as such,
the Company accelerated the amortization of these assets to fully amortize the assets as of June 30, 2009. The additional amortization expense related to the
ticketing agreement intangible assets equaled $5.1 million. Amortization of intangible assets with definite lives is based on the nature of the applicable intangible
asset and expected future cash flows derived from the intangible asset. As of December 31, 2009, the amortization for the next five years and thereafter is
estimated to be as follows (in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter
Total

$

53,071
36,728
31,142
27,136
22,209
67,434
237,720

$

As acquisitions and dispositions occur in the future and the valuation of intangible assets for recent acquisitions is completed, amortization expense may
vary.
NOTE 6—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment, net is as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2009

Computer equipment
and capitalized
software
Buildings and leasehold
improvements
Furniture and other
equipment
Projects in progress
Land
Less: accumulated
depreciation
Total property
and
equipment,
net

$

$

2008

342,995

$

300,331

18,519

19,374

21,349
12,862
—
395,725

21,461
13,198
2,058
356,422

(294,677)

(245,131)

101,048

$

111,291
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NOTE 6—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
In October 2009, the Company completed a transaction to sell both the land and existing commercial building located in Vancouver, British Columbia,
which had a net book value of $2.8 million at the time of the sale, for a total of $6.4 million, net of commissions. As part of the sales transaction, the Company
entered into an operating lease with the buyer covering a period of three years. Under the terms of the lease agreement, the Company retains usage rights to the
property that are more than minor but less than substantially all of the property. In accordance with guidance for sale-leaseback transactions, the Company has
recognized $2.8 million of the gain in the current year as a reduction of "General & administrative expense" in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the
year ended December 31, 2009. The $0.8 million remaining balance of the gain has been deferred and will be recognized as a reduction of "General &
administrative expense" ratably over the remaining term of the lease.
NOTE 7—SEGMENT INFORMATION
Prior to the October 29, 2008 acquisition of Front Line, the Company had one operating segment in accordance with the internal management structure and
based upon how the chief operating decision maker viewed the business, its organizational structure and the type of service provided, which primarily was online
and offline ticketing services. Following the acquisition, based upon changes in the internal management structure and how the chief operating decision maker
and executive management viewed the business, the Company began reporting two segments: ticketing and artist services.
The ticketing segment is primarily an agency business that sells tickets for events on behalf of our clients and retains a convenience charge and order
processing fee for our services. We sell tickets through a combination of websites, telephone services and ticket outlets.
The artist services segment primarily provides management services to music recording artists in exchange for a commission on the earnings of these artists.
Artist services also sells merchandise associated with musical artists at live musical performances, to retailers, and directly to consumers via a website.
Revenue and expenses earned and charged between segments are eliminated in consolidation. Corporate expenses, interest income, interest expense, equity
in losses (earnings) of nonconsolidated affiliates, loss attributable to noncontrolling interests, other expense (income)—net and income taxes expense are
managed on a total company basis. Corporate expenses primarily include compensation and other employee costs (including stock-based compensation), outside
services and professional fees.
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands)

Revenue:
Ticketing
Artist Services
Total
revenue

$

1,294,381
191,786

$

1,408,820
45,705

$

1,240,477
—

$

1,486,167

$

1,454,525

$

1,240,477
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Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands)

Operating income
(loss):
Ticketing
Artist Services
Corporate and
unallocated
Total
operating
income
(loss)

$

201,677
2,222

$

(872,083)
7,642

(107,779)

$

$

290,070
—

(89,702)

96,120

$

(73,754)

(954,143)

$

216,316

Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands)

Adjusted EBITDA(a):
Ticketing
Artist Services
Corporate and
unallocated
Total
Adjusted
EBITDA

$

288,076
55,999

$

312,949
16,985

(96,238)

$

$

356,125
—

(72,252)

247,837

$

(62,579)

257,682

$

293,546

Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands)

Capital expenditures:
Ticketing
Artist Services
Corporate and
unallocated
Total capital
expenditures

$

42,586
490

$

43,821
150

3,199
$

46,275

$

6,867
$

50,838

41,354
—
6,167

$

47,521

The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to Operating income (loss) for the Company's reportable segments to net income (loss) attributable to
Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc.:

Adjusted
EBITDA(a)

Year Ended December 31, 2009
Non-cash and
stock-based
compensation Amortization Depreciation
expense
of intangibles
expense

Operating
income (loss)

(In thousands)

Ticketing
Artist Services
Corporate and
unallocated
Total

$288,076
55,999

$ (1,371)
(14,031)

$(32,630)
(38,978)

$(52,398)
(768)

$ 201,677
2,222

(96,238)
$247,837

(8,414)
$(23,816)

—
$(71,608)

(3,127)
$(56,293)

(107,779)
$ 96,120

Other expense, net
Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests
Income tax provision
Net income
Plus: Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests, net
Net income attributable to Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc

(57,996)
38,124
(19,096)
19,028
11,226
$ 30,254
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Year Ended December 31, 2008

Adjusted
EBITDA(a)

Non-cash and
stock-based
compensation
expense

Amortization
of intangibles

Depreciation
expense

Goodwill
impairment

Operating
income (loss)

(In thousands)

Ticketing
Artist Services
Corporate and
unallocated
Total

$ 312,949
16,985

$ (7,848)
(2,153)

$ (37,103)
(7,006)

$ (45,990)
(184)

$ (1,094,091)
—

$ (872,083)
7,642

(72,252)
$ 257,682

(13,730)
$ (23,731)

—
$ (44,109)

(3,720)
$ (49,894)

—
$ (1,094,091)

(89,702)
$ (954,143)

Other expense, net
Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests
Income tax provision
Net loss
Plus: Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests, net
Net loss attributable to Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc

Adjusted
EBITDA(a)

(30,051)
(984,194)
(25,627)
(1,009,821)
4,322
$ (1,005,499)

Year Ended December 31, 2007
Non-cash and
stock-based
compensation
Amortization
Depreciation
expense
of intangibles
expense

Operating
income (loss)

(In thousands)

Ticketing
Corporate and
unallocated
Total

$ 356,125

$ (4,121)

$ (26,200)

$ (35,734)

$ 290,070

(62,579)
$ 293,546

(8,451)
$ (12,572)

—
$ (26,200)

(2,724)
$ (38,458)

(73,754)
$ 216,316

Other income, net
Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests
Income tax provision
Net income
Plus: Loss attributable to noncontrolling interests, net
Net income attributable to Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc

39,483
255,799
(89,007)
166,792
2,559
$ 169,351

(a)
Our primary operating metric for evaluating segment performance is Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Income Taxes, Depreciation
and Amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA"), which is defined as Operating income excluding, if applicable: (1) depreciation expense,
(2) non-cash and stock-based compensation expense, (3) amortization and impairment of intangibles, (4) goodwill or other
impairments, (5) pro forma adjustments for significant acquisitions, fair value adjustments to contingent consideration and
compensation expense associated with significant transactions or the Merger with Live Nation and (6) one-time items. The Company
believes this measure is useful to investors because it represents its consolidated operating results excluding the effects of non-cash
expenses. The Adjusted EBITDA metric was referred to as Adjusted Operating Income in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, as
amended, for the year ended December 31, 2008. Adjusted EBITDA has certain limitations in that it does not take into account the
impact to the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations of certain expenses, including acquisition-related
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accounting. The Company endeavors to compensate for the limitations of the supplemental measure presented by providing the
comparable GAAP measure with equal or greater prominence, financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and descriptions of the reconciling items, including quantifying such items, to derive the supplemental measure.
For the year ended December 31, 2009, no single customer represented greater than 10% of the Company's consolidated revenue. The ticketing segment's
largest client through 2008, Live Nation (including its subsidiary House of Blues), represented approximately 13% and 17% of the Company's consolidated
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
The Company maintains operations in the United States, the United Kingdom, Canada and other international territories. Geographic information about the
United States and international territories is presented below:
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands)

Revenue:
United States
Canada
United Kingdom
All other
countries
Total
revenue

$

1,086,237
94,011
128,821

$

1,001,952
102,718
139,826

177,098
$

1,486,167

$

814,851
96,852
140,408

210,029
$

188,366

1,454,525

$

1,240,477

December 31,
2009

2008
(in thousands)

Long-lived assets
United States
All other countries
Total
long-lived
assets

$

834,363
175,078

$

851,836
172,894

$

1,009,441

$

1,024,730

The Company manages its working capital on a consolidated basis. In addition, segment assets are not reported to, or used by, the chief operating decision
maker to allocate resources to or assess performance of the segments, and therefore, total segment assets have not been disclosed.
NOTE 8—INCOME TAXES
In all periods presented, current and deferred tax expense has been computed for the Company on a separate return basis. The Company's payments to IAC
for its share of IAC's consolidated federal and state tax return liabilities prior to the Spin-off have been reflected within cash flows from operating activities in the
accompanying combined statements of cash flows.
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NOTE 8—INCOME TAXES (Continued)
U.S. and foreign earnings (losses) from continuing operations before income taxes and noncontrolling interests are as follows (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2009

U.S.
Foreign
Total

$

2008

(5,248)
43,372
38,124

$

$

2007

(1,048,671)
64,477
(984,194)

$

$

170,573
85,226
255,799

$

The components of the income tax provision are as follows (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2009

Current
income tax
provision:
Federal
State
Foreign
Current
income tax
provision
Deferred
income tax
(benefit)
provision:
Federal
State
Foreign
Deferred
income tax
(benefit)
Income tax
provision

$

$

32,225
8,254
12,661

2008

$

19,402
6,856
31,616

2007

$

62,246
12,076
25,895

53,140

57,874

(30,193)
(4,620)
769

(16,370)
(12,939)
(2,938)

(9,880)
(1,477)
147

(34,044)

(32,247)

(11,210)

19,096

$

25,627

100,217

$

89,007

Excess tax deductions attributable to stock-based compensation had no impact on current income taxes payable for the year ended December 31, 2009, and
reduced income taxes payable by $11.4 million and $3.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The excess income tax benefits
of this stock-based compensation were recorded as amounts charged or credited to invested capital and a reduction in goodwill for tax deductions for stock-based
compensation related to 2008 acquisitions.
The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at
December 31, 2009 and 2008 are presented below (in
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thousands). The valuation allowance is related to items for which it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will not be realized.
December 31,
2009

Deferred tax
assets:
Provision for
accrued expenses
Net operating loss
carryforwards
Stock-based
compensation
Tax credits
Investment in
unconsolidated
subsidiaries
Capital loss
carryforwards
Transaction costs
related to Live
Nation merger
Other
Total deferred tax
assets
Less valuation
allowance
Net deferred tax
assets
Deferred tax
liabilities:
Property and
equipment
Intangible and other
assets
Other
Total deferred tax
liabilities
Net deferred tax
liability

$

$

2008

15,434

$

10,144

26,919

23,078

27,057
260

20,360
4,926

2,815

4,168

2,111

—

12,490
2,654

—
4,813

89,740

67,489

(34,363)

(23,282)

55,377

44,207

(14,993)

(14,266)

(62,934)
(186)

(80,956)
(447)

(78,113)

(95,669)

(22,736)

$

(51,462)

Included in "Other non-current assets" in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 is a non-current deferred tax asset
of $10.9 million and $1.8 million, respectively.
At December 31, 2009, the Company had federal and state net operating losses ("NOLs") of approximately $7.7 million and $54.9 million, respectively. If
not utilized, the federal and state NOLs will expire at various times between 2023 and 2026, and 2010 and 2025, respectively. Utilization of federal NOLs will be
subject to limitations under Sections 382 and 1502 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. In addition, utilization of certain state NOLs may be
subject to limitations under state law similar to Sections 382 and 1502 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. At December 31, 2009, the Company had foreign
NOLs of approximately $85.6 million available to offset future income. Of these foreign losses, approximately $31.7 million can be carried forward indefinitely,
and approximately $36.9 million, $9.4 million, and $7.6 million will expire within five years, ten years, and fifteen years, respectively. Utilization of
approximately $30.0 million of foreign NOLs, for which full valuation allowance has been provided, will be subject to annual limitations based on taxable
income.
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During 2009, the Company's valuation allowance increased by approximately $11.1 million. This increase was primarily related to foreign net operating
losses and deferred tax assets not benefited for losses from investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries. At December 31, 2009, the Company had a valuation
allowance of approximately $34.4 million related to the portion of tax operating loss carryforwards and other items for which it is more likely than not that the
tax benefit will not be realized. Of these amounts, no tax benefits with respect to acquired NOLs will be applied as a reduction to goodwill, if recognized in
future years.
A reconciliation of the income tax provision to the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to earnings from continuing
operations before income taxes and minority interest is shown as follows (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2009

Income tax
provision at the
federal
statutory rate of
35%
State income
taxes, net of
effect of federal
tax benefit
Foreign income
taxed at a
different
statutory tax
rate
Foreign losses not
benefited
Goodwill
impairment
Investments in
unconsolidated
subsidiaries
Dividends from
foreign
subsidiaries
Foreign income
tax credits
utilized
Non-cash
compensation
expense
Reconciliation of
income tax
provision
accruals to tax
returns
Partnership
flow-through
losses
attributable to
noncontrolling
interests
Other, net
Income tax
provision

$

2008

13,343

$

(344,468)

$

89,530

3,023

(3,892)

6,890

(12,816)

(5,171)

(6,665)

10,333

7,294

2,539

—

365,280

—

2,132

6,319

2,461

790

42,451

—

(875)

(45,039)

1,283

538

(1,876)

(404)

2,005
1,754
$

2007

19,096

(1,237)
(398)

(2,394)

—
2,719
$

—
(1,719)

25,627

$

89,007

Federal and state income taxes have not been provided on permanently reinvested earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries aggregating approximately
$215.4 million at December 31, 2009. The amount of the unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability with respect to these earnings is $39.4 million.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest, is as follows (in thousands):
2009

Balance at
beginning of
year
Additions based
on tax
positions
related to the
current year
Additions based
on tax
positions of
prior years
Reductions for
tax positions
of prior years
Settlements
Expiration of
applicable
statute of
limitations
Balance at end of
year

$

2008

1,314

$

5,489

3,978

168

479

554

—
—

(981)
(3,635)

(413)
$

5,358

(281)
$

1,314

As of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the unrecognized tax benefits, including interest, were $5.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively.
Unrecognized tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2009, increased by $4.0 million due principally to foreign income tax positions taken in the current
year and historical state tax positions. If unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 are subsequently recognized, approximately
$5.1 million and $1.2 million, net of related deferred tax assets and interest, would reduce income tax provision from continuing operations.
The Company recognizes interest and, if applicable, penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. Included in income tax expense
from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 is an expense of $0.1 million, net of related deferred taxes of $0.1 million, for interest on
unrecognized tax benefits. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the Company has accrued $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively, for the payment
of interest. There are no material accruals for penalties.
The tax sharing agreement between IAC and the Company provides that the impact of the reconciliation of federal and state income taxes, including the
effects of certain tax elections made by IAC related to the Company for the 2008 period prior to the spin-off, is the responsibility of IAC. This resulted in a
benefit to IAC in the form of a reduction of its federal and combined state income tax liability. As a result, the Company recorded a $5.2 million decrease to
additional paid-in capital in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009 reflecting a reduction in the amount distributed by IAC to the
Company's shareholders in the spin-off.
By virtue of previously filed tax returns, including consolidated filings with IAC, the Company is routinely under audit by federal, state, local and foreign
authorities in the area of income tax. These audits include questioning the timing and the amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax
jurisdictions. Income taxes payable include amounts considered sufficient to pay assessments that may result from examination of prior year returns; however,
the amount paid upon resolution of issues raised may differ from the amount provided. Differences between the unrecognized tax benefits and the amounts owed
by the Company are recorded in the period they become known.
The IRS is currently examining the IAC consolidated tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2001 through 2006, which include the operations of the
Company from January 17, 2003, the date the Company joined the IAC consolidated tax return. The statute of limitations for these years has been extended to
December 31, 2010. Various IAC consolidated state and local jurisdictions are currently under examination, the most significant of which are California, New
York and New York City, for various tax years beginning with December 31, 2002. These examinations are expected to be completed in 2011. Various
stand-alone state and local jurisdictions of the Company are currently under
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examination. These examinations are expected to be completed in 2010. All tax years prior to 2003 for federal and 2002 for significant state jurisdictions are
closed.
The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that its unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by approximately $1.0 million within twelve months
of the current reporting date due to settlements and expirations of applicable statutes of limitation related to various state tax filings. An estimate of other changes
in unrecognized tax benefits cannot be made, but are not expected to be significant.
NOTE 9—LONG-TERM DEBT
The balance of long-term debt is as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2009

10.75% Senior
Notes due
July 28,
2016
2008 Term
Loan A, due
July 25,
2013
2008 Term
Loan B, due
July 25,
2014
2008 Revolver,
due July 25,
2013
Total

$

$

2008

286,980

$

300,000

100,000

100,000

340,000

350,000

85,000
811,980

115,000
865,000

$

Ticketmaster Entertainment 10.75% Senior Notes
Overview
In connection with the Spin-off, the Company issued $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 10.75% Senior Notes due 2016 (the "Notes"). Interest is
payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on August 1 and February 1 of each year. The Notes are guaranteed by existing and future domestic restricted
subsidiaries of Ticketmaster Entertainment.
On July 17, 2009 and July 23, 2009, Ticketmaster Entertainment repurchased and retired $13.0 million aggregate principal amount of our Notes.
Certain Covenants
The indenture governing the Notes contains covenants that require the Company to comply with various financial and operating covenants. Specifically, the
Notes contain two incurrence based financial covenants, as defined, requiring a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.0 to 1.0 and a maximum secured
indebtedness leverage ratio of 2.25 to 1.0 in order to incur additional indebtedness, other than permitted debt.
Ticketmaster Entertainment Senior Secured Credit Facilities
Overview
Also in connection with the Spin-off, on July 25, 2008, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a Credit Agreement with a syndicate of
banks. The senior secured credit facilities provide financing of up to $650.0 million, consisting of a $100.0 million Term Loan A with a maturity of five years, a
$350.0 million Term Loan B with a maturity of six years and a $200.0 million revolving credit facility (the "Revolver") with a maturity of five years. In addition,
subject to certain conditions, including compliance with certain financial covenants, the senior secured credit facilities permit the
F-31

Source: TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC, 10-K, February 25, 2010

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

Table of Contents
NOTE 9—LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

Company to incur incremental term loans and revolving loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $125.0 million.
The Company borrowed $15.0 million under the Revolver in connection with the Spin-off. On October 27, 2008, the Company borrowed an additional
$100.0 million under the Revolver to fund a portion of the acquisition consideration for an additional interest in Front Line. On September 30, 2009 and
December 31, 2009, the Company made two equal payments totaling $30 million to reduce the outstanding balance under the Revolver. The available borrowing
capacity of the Revolver at December 31, 2009 was $115.0 million, subject to limitations imposed to maintain compliance with debt covenants which are further
discussed below.
On December 21, 2009, the Company paid down $10.0 million of the outstanding balance under the Term Loan B.
On May 12, 2009, the Company entered into an amendment to the senior secured credit facilities to take effective upon consummation of the Merger with
Live Nation. On January 25, 2010, in connection with the Merger being consummated, the amended terms related to the senior secured credit facilities became
effective. Refer to Note 3—Merger with Live Nation for further discussion of the amendment to the senior secured credit facilities.
Interest Rates
The interest rates per annum applicable to loans under the senior secured credit facilities are, at the Company's option, equal to either a base rate or a LIBOR
rate plus an applicable margin, which in the case of the Term Loan A and the Revolver will vary with the total leverage ratio of the Company. The applicable
margin for the Term Loan B is 3.25% per annum for LIBOR loans and 2.25% per annum for base rate loans. The base rate means the greater of (i) the prime rate
as quoted from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. or (ii) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5%. The interest rates for the Term Loan A, Term Loan B and
the Revolver at December 31, 2009 were 3.26%, 3.51% and 2.78%, respectively. The interest rates and spreads as specified in the amendment to the senior
secured credit facilities are effective as of January 25, 2010 following the completion of the Merger; refer to Note 3—Merger with Live Nation for further
discussion of the amendment to the senior secured credit facilities.
Amortization
The Term Loan A will amortize in an amount equal to 10% of the original principal amount during 2011, 15% in 2012 and 75% in 2013, payable in
quarterly installments with the remaining amount payable on the fifth anniversary of the closing date of the senior secured credit facilities. The Term Loan B will
amortize in an amount equal to 1% per annum in equal quarterly installments commencing with the end of the first fiscal quarter in 2011, with the remaining
amount payable on the sixth anniversary of the closing date of the senior secured credit facilities. Any voluntary prepayments made on the Term Loan A or Term
Loan B from time to time may be applied against otherwise scheduled amortization obligations. Any principal amounts outstanding under revolving loans are due
and payable in full at maturity, on the fifth anniversary of the closing date of the senior secured credit facilities.
Guarantee and Security
All obligations under the senior secured credit facilities are unconditionally guaranteed by each of the Company's existing and future direct and indirect
domestic subsidiaries, subject to certain
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exceptions. The obligations of any foreign subsidiary borrowers under the senior secured credit facilities also are guaranteed by the Company and the guarantors.
All obligations of the Company under the senior secured credit facilities and the guarantees of those obligations are secured by (subject to certain exceptions) a
first priority pledge of all of the equity interests of each of the domestic subsidiaries held by the Company; a first priority pledge of 65% of the equity interests of
each of the first-tier foreign subsidiaries of the Company and its subsidiaries; and a first priority security interest in substantially all of the other assets of the
Company and each guarantor. The obligations of each foreign subsidiary borrower under the revolving credit facility also are secured.
Certain Covenants
The senior secured credit facilities contain customary covenants that require the Company to comply with various financial and operating covenants.
Specifically, the senior secured credit facilities has two quarterly financial covenants requiring a maximum total leverage ratio of 3.50 to 1.00 and a minimum
interest coverage ratio of 3.00 to 1.00. As of December 31, 2009, the Company was in compliance with these financial covenants. The Company believes it has
adequate cash and cash equivalents and will generate sufficient cash from operations to pay down a portion of its debt, if required, in order to maintain
compliance with all financial covenants through December 31, 2010.
Scheduled Debt Repayments:
As of December 31, 2009, the Company's long-term debt has scheduled repayments for each of the next five years as follows (in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter
Total

$

$

—
13,400
18,400
161,700
331,500
286,980
811,980

The above table does not include projected interest payments the Company is required to pay.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest method over the terms of the Company's Notes and senior secured credit facilities. At
December 31, 2009, debt issuance costs of $4.4 million and $15.9 million are included in "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and "Other non-current
assets" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively. Amortization of such costs is included in interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
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We compute basic earnings per share by dividing the net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share adjusts basic earnings per share for the effects of stock options, restricted stock and other potentially
dilutive financial instruments only in the periods in which such effect is dilutive.
Basic Earnings Per Share
For the year ended December 31, 2009, we computed basic earnings per share using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
for the period.
For the year ended December 31, 2008, we computed basic earnings per share using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
following the Spin-off, as if such shares were outstanding for the entire period prior to the Spin-off, plus the weighted average of such shares outstanding
following the Spin-off date through December 31, 2008.
For the year ended December 31, 2007, we computed basic earnings per share using the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately
following the Spin-off, as if such shares were outstanding for the entire period.
Diluted Earnings Per Share
For the year ended December 31, 2009, we computed diluted earnings per share using (i) the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period, (ii) if dilutive, the incremental common stock that we would issue upon the assumed exercise of stock options and the vesting of
RSUs using the treasury stock method, and (iii) if dilutive, the incremental common stock that we would issue upon conversion of the Company's Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock ("Preferred Stock").
For the year ended December 31, 2008, we computed diluted earnings per share using (i) the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately
following the Spin-off, (ii) the weighted average of such shares outstanding following the Spin-off date through December 31, 2008, (iii) if dilutive, the
incremental common stock that we would issue upon the assumed exercise of stock options and the vesting of RSUs using the treasury stock method, and (iv) if
dilutive, the incremental common stock that we would issue upon conversion of the Company's Preferred Stock.
For the year ended December 31, 2007, we computed diluted earnings per share using the dilutive impact of all stock-based awards outstanding immediately
following the Spin-off, as if such awards were outstanding for the entire period.
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The following table presents our basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008
(In thousands, except for

2007

per share data)

Basic earnings per share:
Net income (loss) attributable
to Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc.:
Basic net earnings (loss) per
share available to common
stockholders:
Diluted earnings per share:
Net income (loss) attributable
to Ticketmaster
Entertainment, Inc.:
Adjustment for
securities of
subsidiaries
Net earnings (loss) available
to common stockholders
Diluted net earnings (loss)
per share available to
common stockholders:
Weighted average number of
shares outstanding:
Basic
Dilutive effect of:
Options to
purchase
common
stock,
restricted
stock units
and
redeemable
preferred
stock
Diluted

$

30,254

$

(1,005,499)

$

169,351

$

0.53

$

(17.84)

$

3.01

$

30,254

$

(1,005,499)

$

169,351

(150)

—

—

$

30,104

$

(1,005,499)

$

169,351

$

0.50

$

(17.84)

$

3.01

57,350

56,353

56,171

2,330
59,680

—
56,353

—
56,171

For the year ended December 31, 2009, approximately 3,557,000 stock options and 208,000 RSUs that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in
the future were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Because the Company had a net
loss attributable to Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. in 2008, no potentially dilutive securities were included in the denominator for computing dilutive earnings
per share, since their impact on earnings per share would be anti-dilutive. If Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. had reported net income in the year ended
December 31, 2008, the dilutive effect of stock options and RSUs would have been approximately 5,700 and 139,500, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, all stock options and RSUs were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive.
NOTE 11—TEMPORARY EQUITY AND EQUITY
This Note discusses Ticketmaster Entertainment's equity interests as they existed during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009; however, subsequent to
year end, the Company became a limited liability company with a single member on January 25, 2010 in connection with the Live Nation merger and all of its
equity interests were converted into equity interests of Live Nation.
Upon the Spin-off, IAC common stockholders received one-fifth of a share of Ticketmaster Entertainment common stock for each share of IAC common
and IAC class B common stock held.
Ticketmaster Entertainment Common Stock and Restricted Stock
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, our authorized common stock consisted of 300,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share. Subject to
prior dividend rights of the holders of any
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preferred shares, the holders of common stock were entitled to receive dividends, when, and if, declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available
for that purpose. We did not pay any dividends on our common stock from the Spin-off through the completion of the Merger. Each share of common stock was
entitled to one vote per share on matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Subsequent to the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of Ticketmaster
Entertainment common stock was converted into 1.4743728 shares of common stock of Live Nation plus cash in lieu of any fractional shares.
The Company issued 1,000,000 shares of restricted common stock to the Azoff Family Trust on October 29, 2008. The restricted common stock was
scheduled to vest on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, subject to Mr. Azoff's continued employment with Front Line or the Company, with earlier vesting in
certain limited circumstances. Stock-based compensation cost of $1.4 million and $0.2 million related to the restricted common stock grant was recorded for the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, our authorized Preferred Stock consisted of 25,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, of which
2,100,000 shares have been designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01. On October 29, 2008, the Company issued 1,750,000 restricted
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to the Azoff Family Trust. The shares of Preferred Stock were entitled to a 3% annual paid in kind dividend,
subject to declaration by the Company's board of directors out of funds legally available therefor. The Preferred Stock, which voted on an as converted basis with
Ticketmaster Entertainment common stock, was mandatorily redeemable by the Company at its liquidation preference on the fifth anniversary of its issuance and
was convertible at any time prior to redemption into shares of restricted common stock based on a conversion price of $20 per common share. The Preferred
Stock (or the restricted common stock, if converted) was scheduled to vest on the fifth anniversary of the grant date, subject to Mr. Azoff's continued
employment with Front Line or the Company, with earlier vesting in certain limited circumstances. Compensation expense was recognized over the vesting term.
At December 31, 2009, the aggregate amount of unpaid dividends on the Preferred Stock was $1.2 million.
Due to the nature of the redemption feature and other provisions, the Company classified the Preferred Stock as temporary equity. The Company obtained
an independent valuation of $40.0 million for the fair value of the 1,750,000 shares of Preferred Stock in October 2008 valued using an option pricing model. In
connection with the Company's acquisition of a controlling interest in Front Line, they were accounted for as an exchange of equity instruments in a business
combination and the Company recorded $8.8 million as temporary equity representing the vested portion of the fair value based on the requisite service period
that had passed. This amount was previously charged to expense by Front Line prior to the acquisition. At the time the grant was recorded, the Company adjusted
additional paid-in capital by $8.8 million to appropriately record the instrument as temporary equity outside of permanent equity as redemption of this award is
outside the control of the Company. The value of the Preferred Stock attributed to the remaining service period of $31.2 million is being charged to expense
ratably over the future service period from October 2008 through October 2013. The Company recorded $6.2 million and $1.0 million of stock-based
compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Prior to the Merger, on January 24, 2010, Mr. Azoff's shares of Preferred
Stock were converted into a note. See Note 14—Related Party Transactions—Relationships Involving Executives.
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Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
In connection with the acquisition of certain subsidiaries, the Company is party to fair value put arrangements with respect to the common securities that
represent the remaining noncontrolling interests of the acquired company or a portion thereof. These put arrangements are exercisable at fair value by the
counterparty outside of the control of the Company and are classified as temporary equity. Accordingly, to the extent the fair value of these redeemable interests
exceeds the value determined by normal noncontrolling interests accounting, the value of such interests is adjusted to fair value with a corresponding adjustment
to additional paid-in capital. In instances where the put arrangements held by the noncontrolling interests are not currently redeemable, the Company accretes the
changes from book value to the redemption fair value over the period from the date of issuance to the earliest redemption date of the individual securities using
the interest method.
The currently redeemable put arrangements held by the noncontrolling interests of certain subsidiaries of the Company had an estimated redemption fair
value of $1.2 million and $1.3 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. In 2009, the Company exercised the redemption feature related to one of
the noncontrolling interests and removed $0.4 million from "Redeemable noncontrolling interests" to "Other accrued expenses and current liabilities" in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2009, the Company has not reached an agreement as to the redemption price related to the noncontrolling
interest. As such, the Company continues to include the $0.4 million in other accrued expenses and current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2009 as the Company's estimate of the amount to be paid to the noncontrolling interest.
The Company acquired a controlling interest in Front Line on October 29, 2008, increasing the Company's ownership interest from 39.4% to 82.3%. As of
December 31, 2009, 81.17% of the common stock of Front Line held by noncontrolling interests included put arrangements that were not currently redeemable.
These shares had an estimated fair value of $51.2 million as of December 31, 2009. The shares held by the noncontrolling interests are redeemable at differing
dates as specified in the October 29, 2008 transaction. Per the terms of the transaction, 17,279 shares are redeemable on October 29, 2011 and 5,271 shares are
redeemable on October 29, 2013; these shares had estimated redemption fair values of $39.2 million and $12.0 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2009.
For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company has accreted $9.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of the change from book value to the
redemption fair value using the interest method. The carrying value of these common shares, including the recorded accretion, was $34.6 million and
$28.9 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Additionally, the founder of Front Line and the Azoff Family Trust hold options and restricted stock in Front Line that include put arrangements exercisable
at the option of the holders on October 29, 2013, subject to vesting. The options and restricted stock had estimated redemption fair value of $18.3 million as of
December 31, 2009. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company has accreted $1.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, of the change from
book value to the redemption fair value using the interest method. The carrying value of the options and restricted stock, including the recorded accretion, was
$4.1 million and $0.6 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
The common stock of two subsidiaries of Front Line held by noncontrolling interests also includes put arrangements. The first put arrangement does not
have a determinable redemption date, but is considered to be currently redeemable based on the terms of redemption. The stock held by the noncontrolling
interest had an estimated redemption value of $13.7 million as of December 31, 2009. The second put arrangement, redeemable on August 23, 2012, had an
estimated redemption fair value of $7.1 million as of December 31, 2009. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the
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Company has accreted $0.8 million and zero, respectively, of the change from book value to the redemption fair value using the interest method. The carrying
value for these interests was $17.2 million and $11.7 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Noncontrolling Interests
For 18.83% of the common stock of Front Line held by noncontrolling interests and certain non-wholly owned subsidiaries of Front Line, the common
securities held by the noncontrolling interests do not include put arrangements exercisable outside of the control of the Company. As such, these noncontrolling
interests are recorded in equity, separate from the Company's own equity. The carrying value of these noncontrolling interests was $32.8 million and
$28.2 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
NOTE 12—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
In 2008, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders approved the Ticketmaster Entertainment 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan (the "Plan")
whereby the Company was permitted to grant RSUs, performance stock units ("PSUs"), stock options and other stock-based awards to officers, employees,
directors and consultants. RSUs are awards whose value to the holder is based upon the market value of our stock when the RSUs vest. Our RSUs are generally
subject to performance-based vesting or service-based vesting where a specific period of continued employment must pass before an award vests. Typically, a
portion of the RSUs granted vest periodically over the term of the grant. The terms and conditions upon which the stock options become exercisable vary among
grants.
As of December 31, 2009, (i) the maximum number of shares permitted to be awarded under the Plan was the sum of (a) the number of shares that may be
issuable upon exercise or vesting of IAC stock-based compensation awards that were converted into Ticketmaster Entertainment stock-based compensation
awards in connection with the Spin-off ("Adjusted Awards") and (b) 5,000,000; (ii) the maximum number of shares permitted to be granted pursuant to options
intended to be incentive stock options was 3,333,333 shares; (iii) no single participant is permitted to be granted awards in excess of 1,466,666 shares during the
term of the Plan, provided that Adjusted Awards are not subject to this limitation. Shares subject to an award under the Plan may be authorized and unissued
shares or may be treasury shares.
As of December 31, 2009, we had 222,000 shares of common stock available for new grants under the Plan.
On January 8, 2010, the stockholders of the Company approved the Amended and Restated Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc. 2008 Stock and Annual
Incentive Plan (the "Amended Plan"). The Amended Plan was previously approved by the Company's Board of Directors. Under the Amended Plan, the
maximum number of shares that may be awarded was increased to be the sum of (a) the number of shares that may be issuable upon exercise or vesting of the
Adjusted Awards and (b) 10,000,000. In addition, the Amended Plan increases the number of awards that can be granted to a single participant during the term of
the Amended Plan to 6,500,000 shares.
The Amended Plan has a stated term of ten years and provides that the exercise price of stock options granted will not be less than the market price of the
Company's common stock on the grant date. The Amended Plan does not specify grant dates or vesting schedules as those determinations were delegated to the
Compensation and Human Resources Committee of Ticketmaster Entertainment's Board of Directors (the "Committee"). Each grant agreement reflects the
vesting
F-38

Source: TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC, 10-K, February 25, 2010

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

Table of Contents
NOTE 12—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)
schedule for that particular grant as determined by the Committee. Broad-based stock option awards issued to date have generally vested in equal annual
installments over a four-year period, and RSU awards issued to date have generally vested in equal annual installments over a five-year period, in each case, from
the grant date. PSU awards issued to date will generally cliff vest at the end of a three-year period from the date of grant. In addition to equity awards outstanding
under the Plan discussed above, stock options and other equity awards outstanding under plans assumed in acquisitions are reflected in the information set forth
below.
On January 25, 2010, as part of the Merger, each outstanding award under the Amended Plan was converted into a corresponding award in respect of Live
Nation equity based on the exchange ratio used in the Merger. Live Nation's Compensation Committee now has oversight responsibility for the Amended Plan.
As described below in "Modification of Stock-Based Compensation Awards," certain stock options, restricted stock, RSUs and other equity-based awards
granted to our employees, officers, directors and consultants by IAC prior to the Spin-off were converted into awards based on our common stock in connection
with the Spin-off. For the period from January 1, 2008 to August 19, 2008 and for the year ended December 31, 2007, IAC allocated to us stock-based
compensation expense that was attributable to our employees.
On October 29, 2008, the Company granted Mr. Azoff an option to purchase 2,000,000 shares of Ticketmaster Entertainment common stock. The option
vests in equal annual installments over four years (and may vest earlier in specified circumstances), and has a per share exercise price of $20.00 and a ten year
term.
Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options, restricted stock, RSUs and PSUs is included in the following line items in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2009

Cost of sales
Selling and
marketing
expense
General and
administrative
expense
Stock-based
compensation
expense before
income taxes
Income tax benefit
Stock-based
compensation
expense after
income taxes

$

$

2008

100

$

2007

1,197

$

800

42

1,302

876

23,674

21,232

10,896

23,816
(7,526)

23,731
(9,019)

12,572
(5,305)

16,290

$

14,712

$

7,267

The amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations is reduced by estimated forfeitures, as the
amount recorded is based on awards ultimately expected to vest. The forfeiture rate is estimated at the grant date based on historical experience and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if the actual forfeiture rate differs from the estimated rate.
As of December 31, 2009, there was approximately $73.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to all
equity-based awards, including the Preferred Stock referred to in Note 11—Temporary Equity and Equity. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of approximately 2.2 years.
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Modification of Stock-Based Compensation Awards
In connection with the Spin-off of the Company and the spin-offs of the three other Spincos, all existing IAC stock-based compensation awards, which
included RSUs, stock options and warrants, granted on or prior to December 31, 2007 were modified as follows:
1.
All unvested IAC RSUs granted prior to August 2005 vested immediately prior to the Spin-off, with awards thereafter settled, in accordance
with applicable law, in shares of common stock of the applicable company (i.e., IAC or a Spinco) for which the employee works for
following the spin-offs.
2.
All unvested IAC RSUs granted after August 2005 and scheduled to vest through February 2009 other than those described in
paragraphs (3) and (4) below vested immediately prior to the Spin-off, with awards thereafter settled, in accordance with applicable law, in
shares of common stock of IAC and the Spincos, in each case as though the employee owned the number of shares of IAC common stock
underlying the IAC RSU immediately prior to the spin-offs.
3.
Performance-based IAC RSUs granted in 2007 converted into non-performance based IAC RSUs based on "target" values with the same
vesting schedule described under paragraph (4).
4.
For each IAC RSU award that provides for vesting of 100% of the award following passage of a multi-year period (cliff vesting awards),
the portion of the unvested IAC RSU award that would have vested by February 2009 if the award had vested on an annual basis converted
into five separate RSU awards with respect to IAC and each of the Spincos, based on the applicable distribution ratios in the spin-offs and
the two-for-one reverse stock split at IAC, but otherwise with the same vesting terms and other applicable terms and conditions.
5.
For IAC RSUs that do not vest or convert pursuant to paragraphs (1), (2) or (4) above, the IAC RSUs converted into an RSU award with
respect to shares of common stock of the applicable company for which the employee works following the spin-offs.
6.
All unexercised option awards, whether vested or unvested, were split among IAC and each of the Spincos based on relative value at the
time of the spin-offs, with appropriate adjustments to the number of shares of common stock underlying each such award and the per share
exercise price of each such award to maintain pre- and post Spin-off values, otherwise preserving the same vesting terms and conditions.
7.
For IAC compensatory equity-based awards granted after December 31, 2007, those awards converted into awards with respect to shares of
common stock of the applicable company for which the employee works for following the spin-offs.
The modification of IAC stock-based compensation awards, including the accelerated vesting of certain awards (described above), resulted in an additional
$5.6 million in stock-based compensation, of which $0.7 million and $4.5 million was recognized as expense during the year ended December 31, 2009 and the
period from August 20, 2008 through December 31, 2008, respectively. The modification of IAC stock-based compensation awards affected approximately 640
Ticketmaster Entertainment employees.
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Stock Options
The following table presents a summary of changes in outstanding stock options for the year ended December 31, 2009:
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(Shares and intrinsic value in thousands)

Outstanding at
December 31,
2008
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Forfeited
Outstanding at
December 31,
2009

5,650
2,235
(12)
(172)
(305)

$

29.52
5.33
4.85
37.32
24.04

7,396

$

22.29

7.14

$

16,150

Exercisable at
December 31,
2009

2,229

$

29.07

4.16

$

561

Expected to vest
at
December 31,
2009

4,703

$

19.56

8.43

The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and expensed straight-line as
stock-based compensation expense over the vesting term. The options generally vest ratably over four years and have ten year terms.
The Black-Scholes option pricing model incorporates various assumptions, including the expected dividend yield, volatility, term, and risk-free interest rate.
For purposes of our models, no dividends have been assumed. Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of stocks of similar companies since the
Company does not have sufficient trading history to reasonably predict its own volatility. The Company used the simplified method to estimate the expected term
as it does not have sufficient historical exercise data due to the limited period of time its equity shares have been publicly traded. The risk-free rates are based on
U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the grant date for notes with terms comparable to those of the awards. The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair
value of the Company's options for the year ended December 31, 2009 and the period from August 20, 2008 (the date of the Spin-off) through December 31,
2008:
2009

2008

Dividend
yield
0.0%
0.0%
Weighted
average
volatility
43.28%
60.88%
Expected
term (in
years)
6.25
5-6
Risk-free
interest
rate
1.23%
3.01% - 3.63%
The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2009 and the period from August 20, 2008 (date of
Spin-off) through December 31, 2008 was $2.31 per share and $4.04 per share, respectively.
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2009 and the period from August 20, 2008 (date of Spin-off)
through December 31, 2008 was $46,000 and $78,000, respectively. Cash received from stock option exercises and the related actual tax benefit realized for the
year ended December 31, 2009 were approximately $57,000 and $22,000, respectively.
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Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units and Performance Stock Units
RSUs are awards in the form of phantom shares or units, denominated in a hypothetical equivalent number of shares of Ticketmaster Entertainment common
stock and with the value of each RSU equal to the fair value of Ticketmaster Entertainment common stock at the date of grant. RSUs may be settled in cash,
stock or both, as determined by the Committee at the time of grant. The majority of RSUs are settled in stock and are classified as equity. Each restricted stock,
RSU and PSU grant is subject to service-based vesting, where a specific period of continued employment must pass before an award vests. PSUs also include
performance-based vesting, where certain performance targets set at the time of grant must be achieved before an award vests. The Company recognizes expense
for all restricted stock, RSUs and PSUs for which vesting is considered probable.
For restricted stock and RSU grants to U.S. employees, the accounting charge is measured at the grant date as the fair value of Ticketmaster Entertainment
common stock and charged to expense on a straight-line basis as stock-based compensation expense over the vesting term. For PSU grants to U.S. employees, the
expense is measured at the grant date as the fair value of Ticketmaster Entertainment common stock and expensed as stock-based compensation when the
performance targets are considered probable of being achieved.
For RSU and PSU grants to international employees, the awards have terms similar to awards issued to U.S. employees, except that the international
employee awards require cash settlement at the end of the vesting term. As a result, we have classified RSU and PSU awards to international employees as
liabilities. As of December 31, 2009, there was approximately $342,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to these grants.
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company granted 113,000 RSUs to certain employees with a grant date fair value of $5.33 per share. The
RSUs vest ratably over four years.
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company granted 28,000 RSUs to the non-employee members of its Board of Directors with a grant date fair
value of $6.64 per share and which vest ratably over two years. In connection with his appointment to the board, on April 16, 2009, the Company granted 22,000
RSUs to an eligible non-employee member of its Board of Directors with a grant date fair value of $4.58 per share and which vest ratably over two years.
The following table presents a summary of unvested restricted common stock, RSUs and PSUs for the year ended December 31, 2009:
Restricted Stock
RSUs
PSUs
Weighted
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Average
Grant
Number
Grant
Grant Number
Number
Date Fair
of
Date Fair
of
Date Fair
of
Value
shares(a)
Value
shares
Value
shares
(Shares in thousands)

Unvested at
December 31,
2008
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested at
December 31,
2009

1,000
—
—
—

$9.14
—
—
—

402
163
(78)
(71)

$31.44
6.22
21.82
26.07

170 $44.89
—
—
(15) 50.95
(49) 43.56

1,000

$9.14

416

$24.70

106

$47.66

The weighted average fair value of restricted stock, RSUs and PSUs granted is based on market prices of the Company's common stock on the grant date.
The weighted average fair value of restricted stock and RSU's granted during the period from August 20, 2008 through December 31, 2008 was
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$9.14 per share and $21.64 per share, respectively. The total vesting date fair value of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2009 and
for the period from August 20, 2008 through December 31, 2008 was $698,000 and zero, respectively.
Stock-Based Compensation of Acquired Companies
Front Line
In 2006, the Front Line Board of Directors approved options to acquire Front Line common stock to the founder of Front Line. The following table presents
a summary of changes in those outstanding stock options for the year ended December 31, 2009:
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Outstanding at
December 31, 2008
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Forfeited
Outstanding at
December 31, 2009

3,402
—
—
—
—

$3,600
—
—
—
—

3,402

$3,600

6.47

Exercisable at
December 31, 2009

3,232

$3,600

6.47

Expected to vest at
December 31, 2009

170

$3,600

6.47

The fair value of each stock option award was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is being expensed straight-line
as stock-based compensation expense over the vesting term. The options are vesting 5% each quarter through January 20, 2010, and are subject to the founder's
continued employment with Front Line. Such options contain put arrangements exercisable at the option of the holder. Refer to Note 11—Temporary Equity and
Equity for further discussion of the options containing put arrangements. The options had a weighted average grant date fair value of $555 per share.
During 2009, the Front Line Board of Directors and stockholders approved the 2009 Front Line Management Group Inc. Equity Incentive Plan ("Front Line
Plan"). Under the Front Line Plan, Front Line can grant stock options, restricted stock, and other stock-based awards to officers, employees, directors or
consultants of Front Line. Prior to the Front Line Plan, additional restricted shares of Front Line's common stock were also granted and approved by the Front
Line Board of Directors. The
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following table presents a summary of changes for all restricted shares of Front Line's common stock for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Equity-Classified Awards
Weighted
Number of
Average Grant
shares
Date Fair Value

Unvested at
December 31,
2008
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested at
December 31,
2009

Liability-Classified Awards
Weighted
Number of
Average Grant
shares
Date Fair Value

15,376
—
—
—

$1,987
—
—
—

696
4,699
(174)
—

$2,153
2,093
2,153
—

15,376

$1,987

5,221

$2,099

In June 2007, Front Line issued 41,294 restricted shares of Front Line's common stock to the founder of Front Line and the Azoff Family Trust. In October
2008, in connection with the acquisition of a controlling interest in Front Line by Ticketmaster Entertainment, the Azoff Family Trust relinquished 25,918 shares
of the previously issued restricted Front Line common stock and received Ticketmaster Entertainment Preferred Stock and Restricted Common Stock. The
transaction, for accounting purposes, was treated as an exchange. The remaining 15,376 restricted shares of Front Line's common stock cliff vest at the end of the
required service period on October 29, 2013 and are accounted for as equity awards. Front Line measured the accounting charge at the grant date based on the
fair value of the Front Line common stock and charges this amount to expense on a straight-line basis as stock-based compensation expense over the vesting
term. These restricted shares contain put arrangements exercisable at the option of the holder. Refer to Note 11—Temporary Equity and Equity for further
discussion of the restricted shares containing put arrangements.
The liability-classified awards are restricted shares of Front Line's common stock that contain certain mandatory redemption features whereby Front Line is
required to purchase vested shares from the grantees at their fair market values on the applicable redemption dates. These grants are classified as liabilities
because they represent an unconditional obligation requiring Front Line to redeem the instruments at future specified dates. The fair value of the awards is
measured each period. Compensation expense is calculated for each award as the total fair value of the award multiplied by the portion of the service period
completed at the end of the period. As of December 31, 2009, we have recorded a liability of $1.8 million in "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets for these awards. The liability-classified awards vest in full either on the fourth anniversary or the third anniversary of the applicable grant dates.
For the 4,699 restricted stock awards granted in 2009 and the 696 restricted stock awards granted in 2008 before the acquisition of Front Line on
October 29, 2008, the grant date fair values were based on values of Front Line equity transactions near the grant dates. No restricted stock awards vested during
the period from August 20, 2008 through December 31, 2008.
As of December 31, 2009, there was approximately $24.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to all Front Line equity-based awards
outstanding.
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Equity Investments
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company's equity investments in unconsolidated affiliates totaled $7.9 million and $12.9 million, respectively, and are
included in "Long-term investments" in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The following is a list of investments accounted for under the equity method, the principal market in which the investee operates, and the relevant ownership
percentage at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008:
December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

Beijing Gehua
Ticketmaster
Ticketing Co., Ltd.
(China)
40.0%
40.0%
iLike.com (United
States)
—
25.0%
Ticketmaster Mexico
(Mexico)
33.3%
33.3%
On October 29, 2008, the Company acquired additional interests in Front Line, a portion of which was acquired from Warner Music Group for
$123.0 million. On this same date, the Company also acquired equity interests in Front Line in a transaction that, for accounting purposes, was treated as an
exchange by a trust controlled by Mr. Azoff of certain Front Line equity awards for certain Ticketmaster Entertainment equity awards. The Company acquired
additional ownership interests of 42.9% in the aggregate, resulting in a controlling interest in Front Line of 82.3% (approximately 75% on a diluted basis). The
Company's 39.4% ownership interest in Front Line prior to the acquisition was accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Income related to the
investment in Front Line, which totaled $1.2 million and $2.9 million in the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, is included in "Equity in
income of unconsolidated affiliates" in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. The results of Front Line were consolidated with the Company
effective October 29, 2008.
On September 25, 2009, the Company sold its 25% interest in iLike.com, Inc. to MySpace, Inc. for $7.9 million. The Company recognized a gain of
$2.9 million on the sale of the investment. The gain is reflected in "Other income (expense)" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended
December 31, 2009.
During 2009, the Company was required to make additional contributions to its joint venture with Beijing Gehua, which it determined would not be
recoverable. As such, the Company recorded an other than temporary impairment loss of $6.1 million to reduce the investment balance to zero as of
December 31, 2009. The other than temporary impairment loss is reflected in "Impairment of long-term investments" in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2009.
During 2008, the Company recorded other than temporary impairment losses in its ticketing segment related to two of its equity investments. The Company
had incurred losses in excess of its initial investment in its joint venture with Beijing Gehua. In addition, the Company had been involved in a dispute with the
joint venture partners related to certain costs it had incurred on behalf of the joint venture and had negotiated a settlement with its joint venture partners. As part
of the settlement, the Company would not recover its costs from the joint venture partners, and therefore, the Company recorded an other than temporary
impairment loss of $6.5 million as of December 31, 2008. The Company also determined that the investment in iLike.com had suffered an other than temporary
impairment loss, after giving consideration to, among other things, iLike.com's negative financial and operational condition and the decline in market value of the
investment. Accordingly, the Company recorded an other than temporary impairment loss of $5.8 million to reduce the equity investment in
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iLike.com to its estimated fair value during the year ended December 31, 2008. The total other than temporary impairment loss is reflected in "Impairment of
long-term investments" in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2008.
Cost Investments
In December 2006, the Company acquired a 15% interest in Broadway China Ventures ("BCV"), a partnership formed to produce Broadway musicals in
China. As of December 31, 2008, the investment balance accounted for on a cost basis was $4.5 million.
In 2009, the Company determined that the investment in BCV had suffered an other than temporary impairment loss after giving consideration to, among
other things, BCV's negative financial and operational condition. Accordingly, the Company recorded an other than temporary impairment loss in its ticketing
segment of $3.8 million to reduce the cost investment in BCV to its estimated fair value. The other than temporary impairment loss is reflected in "Impairment of
long-term investments" in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2009. We estimated the fair value of the underlying
investment using a discounted cash flows methodology that reflected our expectation of future performance, discounted to reflect the risks of ownership and the
associated risks of realizing the stream of projected cash flows. We used Level 3 inputs for our discounted cash flow analyses. The most significant assumptions
used are the revenue and expense growth rate assumptions, the applied discount rate and the terminal value.
NOTE 14—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Prior to the Spin-off, our operating expenses included allocations from IAC for accounting, treasury, legal, tax, corporate support, human resource functions
and internal audit functions. These expenses were allocated based on the ratio of the Company's revenue as a percentage of IAC's total revenue. The Company
believes that the allocation methods used by IAC were reasonable. Expense allocations from IAC were $1.8 million for the period from January 1, 2008 to
August 19, 2008, and $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, respectively, and are included in "General and administrative expense" in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the periods. Included in "Interest expense" in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year
ended December 31, 2008 was $8.3 million related to the final negotiated settlement of intercompany interest with IAC for the years 2002 through 2008. The
expense allocations from IAC ceased upon consummation of the Spin-off.
The Company occupies office space in buildings in Los Angeles and New York City that are currently owned by IAC. Related rental expense charged to the
Company by IAC totaled $3.5 million, $2.9 million and $2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and are included in
"General and administrative expense" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the periods.
During 2008, the Company recorded an $8.3 million cumulative interest charge from IAC. The portion of interest expense reflected in the Company's
Consolidated Statements of Operations that was intercompany in nature was $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. For the year ended
December 31, 2008, interest income reflected in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations included $7.1 million of interest income for
intercompany interest receivable from IAC. The intercompany receivable from IAC was extinguished upon consummation of the Spin-off.
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An analysis of the Company's receivables from IAC and subsidiaries is as follows (in thousands):
2008

Receivables from IAC and
subsidiaries at January 1,
2008
Cash transfers from IAC
related to its centrally
managed U.S. treasury
function
Interest expense
Employee equity
instruments and
associated tax
withholdings
Taxes (excludes tax
withholdings associated
with employee equity
instruments)
Allocation of non-cash
compensation expense
Administrative expenses and
other
Receivables from IAC and
subsidiaries at August 20,
2008
Extinguishment of
receivable from IAC and
subsidiaries by recording
a non-cash distribution
Receivables from IAC and
subsidiaries at
December 31, 2008

$

474,110

191,908
(1,446)

4,053

(68,915)
(12,895)
17,548

604,363

(604,363)

$

—

Relationship between IAC and Ticketmaster Entertainment after the Spin-off
For purposes of governing certain of the ongoing relationships between IAC and the Company at and after the Spin-off, and to provide for an orderly
transition, IAC, the Company and the other Spincos entered into a separation agreement and a tax sharing agreement, among other agreements.
IAC and the Company currently continue, and for the foreseeable future expect to continue, to work together pursuant to a variety of commercial
relationships. In connection with the Spin-off, IAC and the Company entered into various commercial agreements between subsidiaries of IAC, on the one hand,
and subsidiaries of the Company, on the other hand, many of which memorialized (in most material respects) pre-existing arrangements in effect prior to the
spin-off and all of which were negotiated at arm's length.
Separation Agreement
As part of the separation agreement, (i) IAC contributed to the Company all of the subsidiaries and assets comprising the Ticketmaster Businesses, (ii) the
Company assumed all of the liabilities related to the Company's businesses, (iii) each party agreed to indemnify the other and its respective affiliates, current and
former directors, officers and employees for any losses arising out of any breach of any of the Spin-off agreements and (iv) the Company agreed to indemnify
IAC for its failure to assume and perform any assumed liabilities and any liabilities relating to the Company's financial and business information included in the
SEC documentation filed with respect to the Spin-off as well as such other terms to which IAC and the Company mutually agreed.
Tax Sharing Agreement
The tax sharing agreement governs the respective rights, responsibilities and obligations of IAC and the Company after the Spin-off with respect to taxes for
the periods ended on or before the Spin-off. Generally, IAC agreed to pay taxes with respect to the Company's income included on its consolidated, unitary or
combined federal or state tax returns, including audit adjustments with respect thereto, but other pre-distribution taxes that are attributable to the Company,
including taxes reported on separately-filed returns and all foreign returns and audit adjustments with respect thereto were agreed to be borne solely by the
Company. The tax sharing agreement contains certain customary restrictive covenants that generally prohibit the Company (absent a supplemental Internal
Revenue
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Service ruling or an unqualified opinion of counsel to the contrary, in each case, in a form and substance satisfactory to IAC in its sole discretion) from taking
actions that could jeopardize the tax free nature of the Spin-off. The Company agreed to indemnify IAC for any taxes and related losses resulting from its
non-compliance with these restrictive covenants, as well as for the breach of certain representations in the Spin-off agreements and other documentation relating
to the tax-free nature of the Spin-off.
Agreements with Liberty Media Corporation
In connection with the Spin-off, the Company assumed from IAC all of IAC's rights and obligations relating to the Company under a Spinco Agreement
between IAC and Liberty, providing for post-spin-off governance arrangements at the Company. On January 25, 2010, in connection with the Company's merger
with Live Nation, the Spinco Agreement, as assigned to the Company, was terminated, as was the registration rights agreement with Liberty that provided
Liberty certain rights to gain registration under the Securities Act of its shares, among other things.
Liberty/Live Nation Stockholder Agreement
In connection with the Company entering into the Merger Agreement with Live Nation, the Company entered into a certain Stockholder Agreement among
Live Nation, Liberty, Liberty USA Holdings, LLC and the Company, dated February 10, 2009 (the "Liberty Stockholder Agreement") regarding certain
corporate governance rights, designation rights and registration rights with respect to the Live Nation common stock to be received by Liberty in the Merger. The
Liberty Stockholder Agreement became effective on January 25, 2010, upon consummation of the Company's merger with Live Nation. Among other things,
subject to certain restrictions and limitations set forth in the Liberty Stockholder Agreement, Liberty has the right, to nominate up to two directors to serve on the
Live Nation board of directors. Liberty has exercised this right by nominating John Malone and Mark Carleton, both of whom currently serve on the Live Nation
board of directors. In addition, if Liberty designates two directors to the Live Nation board of directors, one of them must meet the independence standards of the
NYSE with respect to Live Nation, and Liberty would have the right to designate one of its nominees to serve on the Audit Committee and one nominee to serve
on the Compensation Committee of the Live Nation board of directors, subject to such designee's satisfaction of the applicable standards for service on such
committees. The Liberty Stockholder Agreement also contains provisions relating to limitations on the ownership of Live Nation equity securities by Liberty and
its affiliates following the Merger and on transfers of Live Nation equity securities and rights and obligations under the Liberty Stockholder Agreement following
the Merger.
Relationships Involving Executives
Irving Azoff
The Azoff Family Trust of 1997, of which Mr. Azoff is co-Trustee, is a party to the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders' Agreement of Front Line,
dated as of June 9, 2008. This stockholders' agreement was further amended in connection with the transactions completed on October 29, 2008 pursuant to
which the Company acquired a majority interest in Front Line and Mr. Azoff became the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the stockholders' agreement,
as so amended, is referred to as the Front Line Stockholders' Agreement). The Front Line Stockholders' Agreement governs certain matters related to Front Line
and the ownership of securities of Front Line. Under the Front Line Stockholders' Agreement, the Azoff Family Trust has the right to designate two of the seven
members of the Front Line board of directors, the Ticketmaster Entertainment parties
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have the right to designate four of the seven members of the Front Line board of directors and the other noncontrolling interest holder has the right to designate
the remaining director. Under the Front Line Stockholders' Agreement, specified corporate transactions require the approval by both a majority of the directors
designated by the Ticketmaster Entertainment parties and a majority of the directors designated by the Azoff Trust and the other noncontrolling interest holder.
The Front Line Stockholders' Agreement contains certain restrictions on transfer of shares of stock of Front Line, as well as a right of first refusal to Front Line
and then to other stockholders of Front Line in the event of certain proposed sales of Front Line stock by stockholders of Front Line and a tag-along right
allowing the Azoff Family Trust to participate in certain sales of Front Line stock by certain stockholders of Front Line, as defined in the agreement. The Azoff
Family Trust also has a put right that allows the trust to sell 50% of its shares and stock options to FLMG Holdings, Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Ticketmaster Entertainment) at fair value, at any time during the sixty day period following October 29, 2013. Similarly, FLMG Holdings, Inc. has a call right,
exercisable during the same period as the Azoff Family Trust's put right, to purchase all (but not less than all) of the trust's Front Line shares and stock options.
The other noncontrolling interest holder has a put right that allows it to put 100% of its shares to FLMG Holdings, Inc., at fair value, at any time during the sixty
day periods following October 29, 2011 and June 8, 2015. FLMG Holdings, Inc. may at its discretion elect to pay these rights in cash or in Ticketmaster
Entertainment common stock. The Front Line Stockholders' Agreement also provides that, as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each fiscal year of
Front Line, Front Line will pay an annual pro rata dividend to the stockholders consisting of all of Front Line's Excess Cash (as defined in the agreement).
In connection with the Company's entering into the Merger Agreement on February 10, 2009, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Mr. Azoff,
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, pursuant to which the Company agreed, prior to the consummation of the Merger, to redeem the shares of the
Company's series A convertible redeemable preferred stock held by or on behalf of Mr. Azoff for a note (i) having terms comparable to the Company's series A
convertible redeemable preferred stock (except that the note is not convertible into shares of the Company's common stock) and (ii) resulting in legal, economic
and tax treatment that, in the aggregate, are no less favorable to Mr. Azoff than such treatment with respect to the Company's series A convertible redeemable
preferred stock. The note was issued to Mr. Azoff, and Mr. Azoff's shares of the Company's series A convertible redeemable preferred stock were cancelled, on
January 24, 2010. Under the terms of the note, Mr. Azoff will receive monthly payments of $0.8 million over the term of the note that consist of principal,
interest and compensation.
In April 2009, the Board of Directors of Front Line declared a dividend in the amount of $115.74844 per share of Front Line common stock payable in cash
to the holders of record of Front Line common stock. This dividend totaled $20.1 million and was paid in April 2009. The Azoff Family Trust of 1997, of which
Mr. Azoff, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, is co-Trustee, received a pro rata portion of this dividend totaling $3.0 million with respect to the 25,918.276
shares of Front Line common stock held by the trust. Mr. Azoff, pursuant to the terms of a restricted share grant agreement, also may be entitled to certain
gross-up payments from Front Line associated with distributions made on the unvested portion of his restricted Front Line common shares for the difference
between ordinary income and capital gains tax treatment. Such payments to Mr. Azoff were $0.7 million related to the April 2009 Front Line dividend. The
amount of the pro rata dividend paid to FLMG Holdings Corp. ("FLMG") and TicketWeb, LLC (wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company that hold the
Company's interest in Front Line), was $15.0 million. Prior to the payment of the dividend, FLMG made a loan to Front Line in the amount of $20.0 million,
evidenced by a promissory note from Front Line to FLMG with a principal amount of $20.0 million and bearing interest at a rate
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of 4.5%, payable no later than six months from the date of issuance. A portion of the proceeds from the note was used, together with cash on hand at Front Line,
to pay the dividend. The $20.0 million note and accumulated interest were repaid to FLMG in 2009.
NOTE 15—COMMITMENTS
The Company leases office space, equipment and services used in connection with its operations under various operating leases, many of which contain
escalation clauses. The Company records rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Future minimum payments under operating lease agreements are as follows (in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter
Total

$

26,568
19,159
15,078
10,330
8,221
19,649
99,005

$

Expenses charged to operations under lease agreements were $27.1 million, $25.4 million and $20.1 million in the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007, respectively, and include month-to-month and one-time charges relating to leases that do not require future minimum payments. In addition, rent
expense charged to the Company by IAC, for which no minimum payments are required, totaled $1.7 million, $1.7 million and $2.4 million in the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Subsequent to the Spin-off, the Company entered into operating lease agreements with IAC to rent office space
in New York and in California. See Note 14—Related Party Transactions for a further discussion of transactions between the Company and IAC.
The Company also has funding commitments that could potentially require its performance in the event of demands by third parties or contingent events,
such as under letters of credit extended or under guarantees of debt, as follows (in thousands):
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Guarantees,
surety bonds
and letters
of credit
$ 1,217 $
— $ 3,250 $ 200 $ —
Purchase
obligations
51,128 42,017 41,365
1,285 1,250
Estimated
earn-out
payments
relating to
prior
acquisitions
11,248
5,392
—
9,332
—
Total
$ 63,593 $ 47,409 $ 44,615 $ 10,817 $ 1,250

Threafter

$

— $
11,425

Total

4,667
148,470

—
25,972
$ 11,425 $ 179,109
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IAC guaranteed a $3.25 million line of credit granted to one of the Company's clients in connection with the production of Broadway shows in China.
According to the terms of the Spin-off, the guarantee was transferred from IAC to the Company and, accordingly, the guarantee is included in the table above.
The surety bonds primarily relate to marketing events and licensing bonds for ticketing services. The purchase obligations primarily arise from sports
sponsorship agreements intended to promote the Company's ticket resale services.
The Company has certain contingent obligations related to acquisitions made of various artist management companies. Of the $26.0 million total estimated
earn-out payments at December 31, 2009, $7.1 million represents commitments arising from acquisitions completed prior to the effective date of the current
guidance for business combinations, which requires contingent considerations to be accrued at the time of acquisition. These amounts have not been accrued for
in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, but remain subject to payout following the achievement of future performance targets. Such contingent
payouts may be payable in 2010. As the remaining $18.9 million balance of estimated earn-out payments relates to acquisitions completed subsequent to the
adoption of the current guidance for business combinations, the Company has accrued $4.0 million and $10.1 million in "Other accrued expenses and current
liabilities" and "Other long-term liabilities" in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for the year ended December 31, 2009, representing the fair value
of the estimated earn-out arrangements. Refer to Note 17—Fair Value Measurements for further discussion related to the valuation of the earn-out payments.
The above table does not include potential redemption amounts due to noncontrolling interests of $1.2 million that are currently redeemable, $39.2 million
in the year ended December 31, 2011, $7.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, $30.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, and $13.7 million
contingent upon the occurrence of other events. Refer to Note 11—Temporary Equity and Equity for further discussion of redeemable noncontrolling interests.
NOTE 16—CONTINGENCIES
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is a party to various lawsuits. The Company establishes reserves for specific legal matters when it
determines that the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is probable and the loss is reasonably estimable. The following is a summary of pending legal matters
for which, except as noted, the Company maintains no established reserve as we do not believe the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes are probable or the losses
are reasonably estimable.
UPS Consumer Class Action Litigation
On October 21, 2003, a purported representative action was filed in California state court, challenging Ticketmaster Entertainment's charges to online
customers for UPS ticket delivery. The complaint alleged in essence that it is unlawful for Ticketmaster Entertainment not to disclose on its website that the fee it
charges to online customers to have their tickets delivered by UPS contains a profit component. The complaint asserted a claim for violation of California's
Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), codified at California Business and Professions Code section 17200 et seq., and sought restitution or disgorgement of the
difference between (i) the total UPS delivery fees charged by Ticketmaster Entertainment in connection with online ticket sales during the applicable statute of
limitations period, and (ii) the amount Ticketmaster Entertainment paid to UPS for that service.
On July 20, 2004, Ticketmaster Entertainment filed a motion for summary judgment. The Court heard the motion on December 20, 2004, and denied
Ticketmaster Entertainment's motion, in part, based on Plaintiffs' arguments that they were not challenging Ticketmaster Entertainment's rights to
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make a profit, but instead were only challenging Ticketmaster Entertainment's UPS delivery charges based on Plaintiffs' "misleading pass-through" theory of
liability.
On December 7, 2004, Ticketmaster Entertainment filed its first motion for judgment on the pleadings based on the passage of Proposition 64, which
became effective in November 2004. Plaintiffs opposed the motion. The Court heard the motion on April 1, 2005, and explained that Plaintiffs could not proceed
with a representative action without amending the complaint to comply with class action procedures.
On August 31, 2005, the plaintiffs filed their first amended complaint, for the first time pleading this case as a putative class action. The first amended
complaint alleged (i) as before, that Ticketmaster Entertainment's website disclosures in respect of its charges for UPS ticket delivery violate the UCL, and
(ii) for the first time, that Ticketmaster Entertainment's website disclosures in respect of its ticket order-processing fees constitute false advertising in violation of
California's False Advertising Law ("FAL"), codified at California Business and Professions Code sections 17500 et seq. On this latter claim, the amended
complaint seeks restitution or disgorgement of the entire amount of order-processing fees charged by Ticketmaster Entertainment during the applicable statute of
limitations period.
On September 25, 2006, Ticketmaster Entertainment filed their second motion for judgment on the pleadings, which the plaintiffs opposed. On
November 21, 2006, Ticketmaster Entertainment requested that the court stay the case pending the California Supreme Court's decisions in two cases (In re
Tobacco II Cases, 142 Cal. App. 4th 891 (2006), and Pfizer Inc. v. Superior Court (Galfano), 141 Cal. App. 4th 290 (2006)) that present issues concerning the
interpretation of Proposition 64 that are directly pertinent to both of the pending motions. The plaintiffs opposed Ticketmaster Entertainment's request. On
November 29, 2006, the court ordered that the case be stayed pending the California Supreme Court's ruling on the two cases referenced above.
On September 20, 2007, the Court heard Plaintiffs' motion for class certification. On December 19, 2007, the Court issued an Order denying the motion
without prejudice and continuing the stay of the case pending resolution of In re Tobacco II (the lead case before the Supreme Court on the relevant issues).
On May 18, 2009, the California Supreme Court decided the Tobacco II case. On April 1, 2009, the Court granted plaintiff's motion for leave to file a
Second Amended Complaint that purports to clarify plaintiff's existing claims under the UCL and FAL and adds new claims that (a) Ticketmaster Entertainment's
order processing fees are unconscionable under the UCL and (b) Ticketmaster Entertainment's alleged business practices violate the "unlawful" prong of the UCL
because they also allegedly constitute an underlying violation of California's Consumer Legal Remedies Act (codified at California Civil Code sections 1750 et
seq.). Ticketmaster Entertainment filed a demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint on May 8, 2009. Plaintiffs filed a Third Amended Complaint to attempt to
cure deficiencies in the Second Amended Complaint and to seek to address the California Supreme Court's holding in Tobacco II. Ticketmaster Entertainment
filed a demurrer to the Third Amended Complaint on July 3. The court overruled Ticketmaster Entertainment's demurrers on October 20, 2009. Plaintiffs filed
their second class certification motion on August 31, 2009, which Ticketmaster Entertainment opposed on September 21, 2009. On February 5, 2010, the court
granted certification of a class as to the first two causes of action (which allege that Ticketmaster Entertainment misrepresents/omits the fact that there is a profit
component in its UPS and Order Processing Fees). The class will consist of California consumers who purchased tickets through Ticketmaster Entertainment's
website from 1999 to the present. The court denied certification of a class on the third and fourth causes of action, which
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allege that Ticketmaster Entertainment's UPS and Order Processing fees are unconscionably high. The parties are awaiting a formal order from the court.
Canadian Consumer Class Action Litigation Relating to TicketsNow
In February of 2009, five putative consumer class action complaints were filed in Canada against TNow Entertainment Group, Inc. ("TicketsNow"),
Ticketmaster Entertainment, Ticketmaster Canada Ltd. ("Ticketmaster Canada"), and Premium Inventory, Inc. All of the cases allege essentially the same set of
facts and causes of action: each plaintiff purports to represent a class consisting of all persons who purchased a ticket from Ticketmaster Entertainment,
Ticketmaster Canada or TicketsNow from early February of 2007 to the present. Each proposed class purports to extend to United States as well as Canadian
consumers. The complaints allege in essence that Ticketmaster Entertainment and Ticketmaster Canada conspired to divert a large number of tickets for resale
through the TicketsNow website at prices higher than face value in violation of Ontario's Ticket Speculation Act, the Amusement Act of Manitoba, the
Amusement Act of Alberta, and the Quebec Consumer Protection Act, respectively. The Ontario case contains the additional allegation that Ticketmaster
Entertainment and TicketsNow's service fees run afoul of anti-scalping laws. Each lawsuit seeks compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of the class.
United States Consumer Class Action Litigation Relating to TicketsNow
From February through June of 2009, eleven purported class action lawsuits asserting causes of action under various state consumer protection laws were
filed against Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow in District Courts in California, New Jersey, Minnesota, Pennsylvania, and North Carolina. The
lawsuits allege that Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow unlawfully deceived consumers by, among other things, selling large quantities of tickets to
TicketsNow's ticket brokers, either prior to or at the time that tickets for an event go on sale, thereby forcing consumers to purchase tickets at significantly
marked-up prices on TicketsNow.com instead of Ticketmaster.com. Plaintiffs further claim that Ticketmaster Entertainment violated various state consumer
protection laws by allegedly "redirecting" consumers from Ticketmaster.com to Ticketsnow.com, thereby engaging in false advertising and an unfair business
practice by deceiving consumers into inadvertently purchasing tickets from TicketsNow for amounts greater than face value. Plaintiffs claim that Ticketmaster
Entertainment has been unjustly enriched by this conduct and seek compensatory damages, a refund to every class member of the difference between face value
and the amount paid to TicketsNow, an injunction preventing Ticketmaster Entertainment from engaging in further unfair business practices with TicketsNow,
and attorney fees and costs. On July 20, 2009, all of the cases were consolidated and transferred to the Central District of California. Plaintiffs filed their
consolidated class action complaint on September 25, 2009. Ticketmaster Entertainment filed its answer on October 26, 2009.
Litigation Relating to the Merger with Live Nation
Ticketmaster Entertainment and each of its directors have been named as defendants in two lawsuits filed in the Superior Court of California, Los Angeles
County (the "Court"), challenging the Merger: McBride v. Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., No. BC407677, and Police and Fire Retirement System of the City
of Detroit v. Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc., No. BC408228. These actions were consolidated under the caption In re Ticketmaster Entertainment Shareholder
Litigation, Lead Case No. BC407677, by a court order dated March 30, 2009. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in the consolidated action on July 2,
2009, a second amended complaint on September 10, 2009, and a third amended complaint on November 19, 2009, which superseded the earlier complaints. The
third amended consolidated complaint generally alleges that Ticketmaster Entertainment and its directors
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breached their fiduciary duties by entering into the Merger Agreement without regard to the fairness of its terms to the Ticketmaster Entertainment stockholders
and in return for illicit payments of "surplus" Live Nation stock. The third amended consolidated complaint also alleges that the joint proxy statement/prospectus
of Live Nation and Ticketmaster Entertainment, which is a part of the final Form S-4 Registration Statement of Live Nation that was filed with the SEC on
November 6, 2009, contains material omissions and misstatements. Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction barring the completion of the Merger on
December 4, 2009. The Court denied this motion in a hearing on December 22, 2009. The Ticketmaster Entertainment and Live Nation shareholders,
respectively, approved the Merger in shareholder meetings held on January 8, 2010. Plaintiffs continue to prosecute the case, now seeking compensatory
damages, attorneys' fees, and expenses. The Ticketmaster Entertainment Defendants answered the third amended consolidated complaint on January 21, 2010,
denying its allegations and asserting defenses.
Federal Trade Commission Investigation
Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow have entered into a settlement agreement with the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") to resolve the FTC's
investigation of methods by which Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow previously advertised and sold tickets to consumers on the TicketsNow resale
marketplace. Pursuant to a Stipulated Final Judgment dated February 18, 2010, Ticketmaster Entertainment and TicketsNow will make restitutionary payments to
certain consumers claiming to be unsatisfied with ticket purchases made from the TicketsNow online resale marketplace, as well as additional disclosures
(1) when linking between primary and resale ticket sites and (2) pertaining to the issue of speculative ticket postings and anticipated ticket delivery dates. As a
result of the settlement agreement, the Company established a reserve of $0.5 million as of December 31, 2009 in respect to this matter.
NOTE 17—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
At any given time, the Company may have financial instruments that must be measured at fair value on a recurring basis, including marketable securities
and outstanding debt. In addition, the Company also applied the provisions of fair value measurements to non-recurring measurements for our financial and
non-financial assets and liabilities.
The Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when developing fair value measurements. When
available, the Company uses quoted market prices to measure fair value. If market prices are not available, fair value measurement is based upon models that use
primarily market-based or independently-sourced market parameters. If market observable inputs for model-based valuation techniques are not available, the
Company will be required to make judgments about assumptions that market participants would use in estimating the fair value of the financial instrument. Fair
values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying amounts because of their
short-term nature. Marketable securities are recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair values based on quoted prices. Long-term debt is carried
at cost; however, under existing guidance related to financial instruments, the Company is required to estimate the fair value of long-term debt. The Company
estimated the fair value of its long-term debt by using market prices or third-party quotes.
The provisions of the guidance for fair value measurements related to nonfinancial assets and liabilities became effective for the Company on January 1,
2009, and are applied prospectively. The application did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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The guidance for fair value measurements establishes a three-tiered hierarchy that draws a distinction between market participant assumptions based on
(i) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1), (ii) inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are
observable either directly or indirectly (Level 2) and (iii) unobservable inputs that require the Company to use present value and other valuation techniques in the
determination of fair value (Level 3).
The following tables present information about assets and liabilities required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

Carrying
Amount

Description

Assets
None
Liabilities
Long-term debt
Estimated
earn-out
payments
related to
acquisitions

Description

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2009
Total
Estimated
Fair Value
Level 1
Level 2

Level 3

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

811,980

$

827,772

$

—

$

827,772

$

—

14,143

14,143

—

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2008
Total
Estimated
Fair Value
Level 1
Level 2

Carrying
Amount

—

14,143

Level 3

Assets
Marketable
securities
$
1,495
$
1,495
$
1,495
$
—
$
—
Liabilities
Long-term
debt
$
865,000
$
532,800
$
—
$
532,800
$
—
The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of our Level 3 liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2009:
Fair Value Measurements
Using Level 3 Inputs

Balance as of
January 1, 2009
Additions recorded
as a result of
acquisitions
completed
during the year
Fair value
adjustments
Balance as of
December 31,
2009

$

—

13,337
806

$

14,143

The Company has certain contingent obligations related to acquisitions made by the Company. The amount due to the sellers is based on the achievement of
agreed upon financial performance metrics by the acquired companies. The Company records the liability at the time of the acquisition based on management's
best estimates of the future results of the acquired companies compared to the agreed upon metrics. The most significant estimate involved in the measurement
process is the projection of future cash flows of the acquired companies. By comparing these estimates to the agreed upon metrics, the Company determines the
amount, if any, anticipated to be paid to the seller on the agreed upon future date. As the obligations are generally payable at a date greater than twelve months
from the date of acquisition, the Company applies a discount rate to present value the estimated
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obligations. The discount rate is intended to reflect the risks of ownership and the associated risks of realizing the stream of projected cash flows. Subsequent to
the date of acquisition, the Company updates the original valuation to reflect updated projections of future cash flows of the acquired companies and the passage
of time. Refer to Note 15-Commitments for further additional information related to the earn-out payments.
During 2009, the Company performed a non-recurring valuation of its investments in two unconsolidated affiliated based on consideration of the entities'
negative financial and operational conditions. As a result of the valuation, the Company recorded $9.9 million of impairment charges related to the investments.
These charges are reflected in "Impairment of long-term investments" in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The amount of impairment was determined
using Level 3 inputs. Refer to Note 13-Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates for additional information related to the impairment charges.
NOTE 18—SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Transactions
In accordance with the terms of the Spin-off, IAC transferred its equity investment in Front Line, valued at $125.8 million at December 31, 2007, to the
Company. Additionally, the Company transferred its investment in Active.com, valued at $4.0 million at December 31, 2007, to IAC. The net amount of these
transfers, which is included in "Net transfers from IAC" in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Temporary Equity and Equity, was $96.6 million in the
year ended December 31, 2007.
On August 20, 2008, in conjunction with the Spin-off, the Company extinguished all intercompany receivable balances from IAC and its subsidiaries, which
totaled $604.4 million by recording a non-cash distribution to IAC. See Note 14—Related Party Transactions.
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Transactions
Years Ended December 31,
2009

2008

2007

(In thousands)

Cash paid during
the period for:
Interest
Income tax
payments,
including
amounts paid to
IAC for the
Company's share
of IAC's
consolidated tax
liability, net of
tax refunds
NOTE 19—BENEFIT PLANS

$

57,082

$

12,940

$

822

$

46,476

$

42,983

$

96,107

Prior to the Spin-off, the Company's employees were eligible to participate in a 401(k) retirement savings plan sponsored by IAC. Under the IAC plan,
participating employees were permitted to contribute a percentage of their pretax earnings, up to the statutory limits. The Company's match under the IAC plan
was fifty cents for each dollar a participant contributed to this plan, with a maximum contribution of 3% of a participant's eligible earnings. Matching
contributions for the IAC plan were approximately $2.6 million and $2.5 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Subsequent to the Spin-off, the net assets available for benefits of the employees of the Company were transferred from the IAC plan to a newly created
Ticketmaster Entertainment plan effective January 1, 2009. Under the Company's plan, participating employees were permitted to contribute a percentage of their
pretax earnings, up to the statutory limits. The Company's match under the Ticketmaster Entertainment plan was fifty cents for each dollar a participant
contributed to this plan,
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with a maximum contribution of 3% of a participant's eligible earnings. In July 2009, the Company suspended the Company's policy of matching contributions.
Matching contributions for the Company's plan prior to the suspension were approximately $1.6 million.
In 2008, the Company acquired several domestic subsidiaries, each of which sponsored retirement savings plans for their employees. The retirement savings
plans sponsored by all but one of the acquired subsidiaries offered matching contributions comparable to the Company's match under the IAC plan. Matching
contributions under these plans were approximately $0.6 million in 2008. Effective January 1, 2009, the retirement savings plans sponsored by all but one of
these subsidiaries were transferred to the Company's retirement savings plan. The remaining subsidiary continues to sponsor a retirement savings plan separate
from the Company's retirement savings plan. No matching contributions are made by the Company to the plan.
During the three years ended December 31, 2009, the Company also had or participated in various benefit plans, principally defined contribution plans, for
its non-U.S. employees. The Company's contributions for these plans were approximately $3.9 million, $4.6 million and $4.1 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.
NOTE 20—QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
Quarter Ended
March 31,(1)

Quarter Ended
June 30,(2)

Quarter Ended
September 30,(3)

Quarter Ended
December 31,(4)

(In thousands, except per share data)

2009
Revenue
Gross Profit
Operating income
Net income
atributable to
Ticketmaster
Entertainment,
Inc
Earnings (loss)
per share:
Basic and diluted
Diluted
2008
Revenue
Gross Profit
Operating income
(loss)
Net income (loss)
attributable to
Ticketmaster
Entertainment,
Inc
Earnings (loss)
per share:
Basic and diluted

$

373,816
141,256
25,300

$

7,249

355,056
134,249
15,022

$

6,877

348,526
142,937
21,171

$

13,093

408,769
171,573
34,627

3,035

$
$

0.13
0.12

$
$

0.12
0.12

$
$

0.23
0.22

$
$

0.05
0.04

$

348,981
127,959

$

382,369
133,820

$

339,201
122,508

$

383,974
142,349

$

46,790

40,177

26,855

(1,067,965)

32,707

23,012

9,615

(1,070,833)

0.58

$

0.41

$

0.17

$

(18.82)

(1)
First quarter 2008 results include the purchase of TicketsNow on February 24, 2008, for $279.4 million. The results of TicketsNow are
consolidated from the purchase date forward.
(2)
Second quarter 2008 results include an $8.3 million intercompany interest charge from IAC in the second quarter of 2008 (see
Note 14—Related Party Transactions).
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(3)
On August 20, 2008, the Company was spun off from IAC and began trading on the NASDAQ. Results of operations are presented on
a combined basis through the Spin-off and on a consolidated basis thereafter (see Note 1—Organization and Basis of Presentation).
(4)
Fourth quarter 2008 results include the purchase of a controlling interest in Front Line on October 29, 2008, for $138 million. Prior to
the purchase of the controlling interest, the investment in Front Line was accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The
results of Front Line are consolidated from the purchase date forward. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company
incurred a goodwill impairment of $1.1 billion and impairment of investments of $12.3 million which impacted both Operating
income (loss) and Net income (loss) attributable to Ticketmaster Entertainment, Inc.
NOTE 21—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
We have evaluated all subsequent events through February 25, 2010, the date the financial statements were issued.
Sale of IATS
On January 1, 2010, Ticketmaster Canada LP, a subsidiary of the Company, sold its IATS division to a third party for $41.9 million. IATS was an
organically-grown division that provided transaction processing services primarily to nonprofit organizations in the United States, Canada, Europe, Australia and
New Zealand. As of January 1, 2010, the net book value of IATS was approximately $10.3 million, which included approximately $9.8 million of allocated
goodwill. IATS was previously included within the ticketing reporting unit. The Company will record a post-tax gain of approximately $23.5 million in the first
quarter of 2010 relating to this sale.
Merger with Live Nation
On January 25, 2010, the Company and Live Nation completed their Merger. Refer to Note 3—Merger with Live Nation for a more detailed discussion of
the Merger.
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TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Description

Balance at
Beginning of
the Period

Charges to
Earnings

Charges to
Other Accounts

Deductions

Balance at
End of
Period

(In thousands)

2009
Allowance
for
doubtful
accounts
Deferred tax
valuation
allowance
2008
Allowance
for
doubtful
accounts
Deferred tax
valuation
allowance
2007
Allowance
for
doubtful
accounts
Deferred tax
valuation
allowance

$

3,662

$

23,282

$

2,346

2,798
8,116

$

11,081

$

10,722

$

3,362

2,409

496
2,606

$

—

$

13,779

$

118

(192)

126

$

—

$

(1,219)(2)

$

(343)(1)

(901)(1)

34,363

$

—

$ (1,074)(1)

—

—

6,799

3,662
23,282

$

2,346
10,722

(1)
Write-off of fully reserved accounts receivable.
(2)
Amount is primarily related to the valuation allowance on an equity investment deferred tax asset transferred to IAC in the spin-off,
partially offset by the acquisition of Paciolan which created new deferred tax assets and impacted goodwill.
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Exhibit 14.1
Adopted: September 12, 2006
This online version of Live Nation’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics has been modified from the original version distributed to
our employees to safeguard the integrity of our internal communications.

LIVE NATION, INC.
CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
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Note: This code and related policies are current as of September 12, 2006. In some respects our policies may exceed minimum legal
requirements or industry practice. Nothing contained in this code should be construed as a binding definition or interpretation of a
legal requirement or industry practice.
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To obtain additional copies of this code, you may access it:
•

from the web, at http://www.livenation.com;

•

via the intranet, at http://www.intranet.livenation.com/index.php; or

•

by contacting the Legal Department.
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Forward
To all employees:
Our company is founded on our commitment to the highest ethical principles and standards. We value honesty and integrity
above all else. Upholding these commitments is essential to our continued success.
The law and the ethical principles and standards that comprise this code of conduct must guide our actions. The code is, of
course, broadly stated. Its guidelines are not intended to be a complete listing of detailed instructions for every conceivable situation.
Instead, it is intended to help you develop a working knowledge of the laws and regulations that affect your job.
Adhering to this code is essential. I have personally taken the time to study it carefully and I encourage you to do the same.
Ultimately, our most valuable asset is our reputation. Complying with the principles and standards contained in this code is the
starting point for protecting and enhancing that reputation. Thank you for your commitment!

Michael Rapino
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Introduction
The company has created this code of conduct to ensure that our employees’ business decisions follow our commitment to the
highest ethical standards and the law. Adherence to this code and to our other official policies is essential to maintaining and
furthering our reputation for fair and ethical practices among our customers, shareholders, employees and communities.
The code of conduct applies to all company employees, officers and members of the Board of Directors, except where
superseded by specific terms of a valid contract between you and the company or a valid collective bargaining agreement. In the event
that this code conflicts with the Live Nation Employee Handbook or any other company policy, the terms of this code shall control. If
you have any questions regarding the interpretation of this code, or in the event you believe that an actual or apparent conflict exists
between this code and the Employee Handbook or any contractual arrangement, please contact the appropriate person as described
below in the section entitled “Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns.”
The provisions of this code are not intended to, and should not be interpreted to, prohibit activities otherwise protected by law
(including legal labor organizing activity). If you have questions as to the interpretation of any provision of this code, please contact
the appropriate person as described below in the section entitled “Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns.”
It is the responsibility of each employee covered by the code to comply with all applicable laws and regulations and all
provisions of this code and the related policies and procedures. Each employee covered by the code must report any violations of the
law or this code. Failure to report such violations or failure to follow the provisions of this code may have serious legal consequences
and will result in disciplinary action, up to and including the termination of your employment.
This code summarizes certain laws and the ethical policies that apply to all of our employees, officers and directors. Several
provisions in this code refer to more detailed policies that either (1) concern more complex company policies or legal provisions or
(2) apply to select groups of individuals within our company. If these detailed policies are applicable to you, it is important that you
read, understand and comply with them. If you have questions as to whether any detailed policies apply to you, please contact the
appropriate person as described below in the section entitled “Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns.”
Situations that involve ethics, values and violations of certain laws are often very complex. No single code of conduct can cover
every business situation that you will encounter. Consequently, we have implemented the compliance procedures outlined in the
sections of this code entitled “Administration of the Code” and
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“Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns.” The thrust of our procedures is when in doubt, ask. If you do not understand a provision
of this code, are confused as to what actions you should take in a given situation or wish to report a violation of the law or this code,
you should follow those compliance procedures. Those procedures will generally direct you to talk to either your immediate
supervisor, your Human Resources Representative, the Employee Service Line or the Legal Department. There are few situations that
cannot be resolved if you follow these procedures.
After reading this code, you should:
•

Have a thorough knowledge of the code’s terms and provisions.

•

Be able to recognize situations that present legal or ethical dilemmas.

•

Be able to deal effectively with questionable situations in conformity with this code.

In order to be able to accomplish these goals, we recommend that you take the following steps:
•

Read this code of conduct thoroughly.

•

If there are references to more detailed policies that are not contained in this code, obtain and read those policies if they
apply to you.

•

Think about how the provisions of this code apply to your job, and consider how you might handle situations to avoid
illegal, improper or unethical actions.

•

If you have questions, please contact the appropriate person as described below in the section entitled “Asking for Help and
Reporting Concerns.”

When you are faced with a situation and you are not clear as to what action you should take, ask yourself the following
questions:
•

Is the action legal?

•

Does the action comply with this code?

•

How will your decision affect others, including our customers, shareholders, employees and the community?

•

How will your decision look to others? If your action is legal but can result in the appearance of wrongdoing, consider taking
alternative steps.
2
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•

How would you feel if your decision were made public? Could the decision be honestly explained and defended?

•

Have you followed the procedures described below in the section entitled “Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns”
regarding the action?

To reiterate, when in doubt, ask.
We do not create any contractual or legal rights or guarantees by issuing this code, and we reserve the right to amend, alter
and terminate this code at any time and for any reason. Please note that this code is not an employment contract and does not modify
the employment relationship between us and you. You are encouraged to read the Live Nation Employee Handbook in addition to this
code.
Compliance with Laws
First and foremost, our policy is to behave in an ethical manner and comply with all laws, rules and government regulations that
apply to our business. Although we address several important legal topics in this code, we cannot anticipate every possible situation or
cover every topic in detail. It is your responsibility to know and follow the law and conduct yourself in an ethical manner. It is also
your responsibility to report any violations of the law or this code. You may report such violations by following the compliance
procedures contained in the section of the code entitled “Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns.”
Antitrust Laws
Antitrust laws are designed to ensure a fair and competitive marketplace by prohibiting various types of anticompetitive
behavior. Some of the most serious antitrust offenses occur between competitors, such as agreements to fix prices or to divide
customers, territories or markets. Accordingly, it is important to avoid discussions with our competitors regarding pricing, terms and
conditions, costs, marketing plans, customers or any other proprietary or confidential information. Foreign countries often have their
own body of antitrust laws, so our international operations may also be subject to antitrust laws of other foreign countries.
Unlawful agreements need not be written. They can be based on informal discussions or the mere exchange of information with
a competitor. If you believe that a conversation with a competitor enters an inappropriate area, end the conversation at once.
Membership in trade associations (this does not include labor unions) is permissible only if approved in advance by our Legal
Department.
3
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Whenever any question arises as to the application of antitrust laws, you should consult with our Legal Department, and any
agreements with possible antitrust implications should be made only with the prior approval of our Legal Department.
Anticorruption Laws
Conducting business with governments is not the same as conducting business with private parties. What may be considered an
acceptable practice in the private business sector may be improper or illegal when dealing with government officials. Improper or
illegal payments to government officials are prohibited. “Government officials” includes employees of any government anywhere in
the world, even low-ranking employees or employees of government-controlled entities, as well as political parties and candidates for
political office. If you deal with such persons or entities, you should consult with our Legal Department to be sure that you understand
these laws before providing anything of value to a government official.
If you are involved in transactions with foreign government officials, you must comply not only with the laws of the country
with which you are involved but also with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. This act makes it illegal to pay or promise to pay
money or anything of value to any government official for the purpose of directly or indirectly obtaining or retaining business. This
ban on illegal payments and bribes also applies to agents or intermediaries who use funds for purposes prohibited by the statute.
In some countries it is permissible to pay government employees for performing certain required duties. These facilitating
payments, as they are known, are small sums paid to facilitate or expedite routine, non-discretionary government actions, such as
obtaining phone service or an ordinary license. In contrast, a bribe, which is never permissible, is giving or offering to give anything
of value to a government official to influence a discretionary decision. Understanding the difference between a bribe and a facilitating
payment is very important. You must have approval from our Legal Department before making any payment or gift to a foreign
government official.
This discussion is not comprehensive and you are expected to familiarize yourself with all laws and regulations relevant to your
position with us, as well as all our related written policies on these laws and regulations, including the Employee Handbook. To this
end, your Human Resources Representative, the Employee Service Line and the Legal Department are available to answer your
questions. If you have any questions concerning any possible reporting or compliance obligations, or with respect to your own duties
under the law, you should not hesitate to call and seek guidance by following the compliance procedures contained in the section of
the code entitled “Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns.”
4
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Conflicts of Interest
All of us must be able to perform our duties and exercise judgment on behalf of our company without influence or impairment,
or the appearance of influence or impairment, due to any activity, interest or relationship that arises outside of work. Put more simply,
when our loyalty to our company is affected by actual or potential benefit or influence from an outside source, a conflict of interest
exists. We should all be aware of any potential influences that impact or appear to impact our loyalty to our company. In general, you
should avoid situations where your personal interests conflict, or appear to conflict, with those of our company.
Any time you believe a conflict of interest may exist, you must disclose the potential conflict of interest to your immediate
supervisor. Any activity that is approved, despite the actual or apparent conflict, must be documented. Any activity that could raise a
potential conflict of interest that involves an executive officer must be approved by our Board of Directors or its designated
committee. Any activity that could raise a potential conflict of interest involving an officer with the title of Vice President and above
must be approved by our General Counsel.
It is not possible to describe every conflict of interest, but some situations that could cause a conflict of interest include:
•

Doing business with family members

•

Having a financial interest in another company with whom we do business

•

Taking a second job

•

Managing your own business

•

Serving as a director of another business

•

Being a leader in some organizations

•

Diverting a business opportunity from our company to yourself or to another company
5
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Doing Business with Family Members
A conflict of interest may arise if family members work for a supplier, customer or other third party with whom we do business.
It also may be a conflict if a family member has a significant financial interest in a supplier, customer or other third party with whom
we do business. A “significant financial interest” is defined below. Before doing business on our behalf with an organization in which
a family member works or has a significant financial interest, you must disclose the situation and obtain approval from your
immediate supervisor. Document the approval if it is granted. You do not need to disclose the relationship or obtain prior approval
unless you deal with the customer or supplier.
“Family members” include your:
•

Spouse

•

Parents

•

Children

•

Siblings

•

In-laws

•

Life partner

Employing relatives or close friends who report directly to you may also be a conflict of interest. Although our company
encourages employees to refer candidates for job openings, employees who may influence a hiring decision must avoid giving an
unfair advantage to anyone with whom they have a personal relationship. In particular, supervisors should not hire relatives or attempt
to influence any decisions about the employment or advancement of people related to or otherwise close to them, unless they have
disclosed the relationship and obtained the approval of their immediate supervisor.
Ownership in Other Businesses
Any direct or indirect significant financial interest in one of our competitors, suppliers, customers or other third parties with
whom we do business creates a potential conflict of interest. You should not allow your investments to influence, or appear to
influence, your independent judgment. In general, you should not own, directly or indirectly, a significant financial interest in any
company that competes with our company or that does, or seeks to do, business with us.
Two tests determine if a “significant financial interest” exists:
•

You or a family member owns more than 5% of the outstanding stock of a business or you or a family member has or shares
discretionary authority with respect to the decisions made by that business, or

•

the investment represents more than 5% of your total assets or of your family member’s total assets.
6
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If you or a family member has a significant financial interest in a company with whom we do business or propose to do
business, that interest must be approved by your immediate supervisor prior to the transaction.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, non-employee directors of our company and their family members may have significant
financial interests in, or be affiliates of, suppliers, customers, competitors and third parties with whom we do business or propose to do
business. However, a director must:
•

disclose any such relationship promptly after the director becomes aware of it,

•

remove himself or herself from any Board activity that directly impacts the relationship between our company and any such
company with respect to which the director has a significant financial interest or is an affiliate, and

•

obtain prior approval of the Board of Directors or its designated committee for any transaction of which the director is aware
between our company and any such company.

Outside Employment
Sometimes our employees desire to take additional part-time jobs or do other work after hours, such as consulting or other
fee-earning services. This kind of work does not in and of itself violate our code. However, the second job must be strictly separated
from your job with us, and must not interfere with your ability to devote the time and effort needed to fulfill your duties to us as our
employee. Full-time employees of the company cannot engage in any outside activity that causes competition with us or provides
assistance to our competitors or other parties (such as suppliers) with whom we regularly do business. You should avoid outside
activities that embarrass or discredit us. Outside work may never be done on company time and must not involve the use of our
supplies or equipment. Additionally, you should not attempt to sell services or products from your second job to us.
Before engaging in a second line of work, full-time employees of the company should disclose any plans to your business unit
head to confirm that the proposed activity is not contrary to our best interests. You may also contact our Human Resources
Department for more information about our policies concerning outside employment.
7

Service on Boards
Serving as a director of another corporation may create a conflict of interest. Being a director or serving on a standing
committee of some organizations, including government agencies, also may create a conflict.
Before accepting an appointment to the board or a committee of any organization whose interests may conflict with our
company’s interests, you must discuss it with our Legal Department and obtain approval. This rule does not apply to non-employee
directors of our company.
Business Opportunities
Business opportunities relating to the kinds of products and services we usually sell or the activities we typically pursue that
arise during the course of your employment or through the use of our property or information belong to our company. Similarly, other
business opportunities that fit into our strategic plans or satisfy our commercial objectives that arise under similar conditions also
belong to us. You may not direct these kinds of business opportunities to our competitors, to other third parties or to other businesses
that you own or are affiliated with.
Loans
Unlawful extensions of credit by our company in the form of personal loans to our executive officers and directors are
prohibited. All other loans by our company to, or guarantees by our company of obligations of, officers with the title of Vice President
or above must be made in accordance with established company policies approved by our Board of Directors or its designated
committee.
If you have any questions concerning a potential conflict of interest, contact the Employee Service Line or the Legal
Department.
Policy on Related-Person Transactions
Our executive officers and directors should report any “related-person transaction” (as defined below), or proposed
related-person transaction, to our General Counsel promptly after becoming aware of it. It is the responsibility of the individual
executive officer and director to inform the General Counsel and obtain the requisite approval described below prior to entering into
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any related-person transaction.
Any proposed related-person transaction involving our company or its affiliates and one of our executive officers must be
pre-approved by the audit committee of our Board of Directors.
8
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Any proposed related-person transaction involving our company or its affiliates and one of our non-employee directors must be
pre-approved by the audit committee of our Board of Directors.
All related-person transactions that commenced during a fiscal quarter shall be reviewed by the audit committee of our Board of
Directors after the close of the quarter. If the audit committee determines that additional procedures relating to such transactions are
necessary or appropriate, it may change this policy accordingly.
For purposes of this policy, a “related-person transaction” is defined by reference to Item 404 of the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s Regulation S-K. Generally, Item 404 requires public disclosure of any transaction since the beginning of our last fiscal
year, or any proposed transaction, in which the company was, or will be, a participant, the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and any
“related person” (as defined below) had, or will have, a direct or indirect material interest in the transaction. “Related person”
includes, generally, any (1) director or executive officer of the company, (2) nominee for director, (3) stockholder who beneficially
owns more than 5% of any class of the company’s voting securities and (4) family members of any of the persons set forth in
(1) through (3) above. All related-person transactions must be publicly disclosed.
Gifts and Entertainment
We are dedicated to treating fairly and impartially all persons and firms with whom we do business. Therefore, our employees
must not give or receive gifts, entertainment or gratuities that could influence or be perceived to influence business decisions.
Misunderstandings can usually be avoided by conduct that makes clear that our company conducts business on an ethical basis and
will not seek or grant special considerations.
Accepting Gifts and Entertainment
You should never solicit a gift or favor from those with whom we do business. You may not accept gifts of cash or cash
equivalents.
You may accept novelty or promotional items (such as inexpensive pens, mugs and calendars that bear a company’s name) or
modest gifts of limited value (under $500) related to commonly recognized occasions, such as a promotion, holiday, wedding or
retirement, if:
•

this happens only occasionally,
9
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•

the gift was not solicited, and

•

disclosure of the gift would not embarrass our company or the people involved or appear to compromise our ability to make
objective business decisions.

If you wish to accept a gift with a value in excess of $500, you must get the approval of your Division Head.
Giving Gifts and Entertaining
Gifts of nominal value (under $500) and reasonable entertainment for customers, potential customers and other third parties with
whom we do business are permitted. However, any gift or entertainment must:
•

support our company’s legitimate business interests,

•

be reasonable and customary, not lavish or extravagant, and

•

not be likely to embarrass our company or the recipient if publicly disclosed.

Under no circumstances can any bribe, kickback or illegal payment or gift of cash or cash equivalents be made. Also, special
rules apply when dealing with government employees, as discussed in this code under “Compliance with Laws — Anticorruption
Laws.”
If you are not sure whether a specific gift or entertainment is permissible, contact your immediate supervisor. If you propose to
give a gift with a value in excess of $500, you must get the approval of your Division Head.
10
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Fair Dealing
We have built a reputation as a trustworthy and ethical member of our community and our industry. We are committed to
maintaining the highest levels of integrity and fairness within our company. When we fail to negotiate, perform or market in good
faith, we may seriously damage our reputation and lose the loyalty of our customers. You must conduct business honestly and fairly
and not take unfair advantage of anyone through any misrepresentation of material facts, manipulation, concealment, abuse of
privileged information, fraud or other unfair business practice.
Securities Laws and Insider Trading
Because we are a public company, we are subject to a number of laws concerning the purchase and sale of our stock and other
publicly traded securities. Regardless of your position with us, if you are aware of what is known as “material inside information”
regarding our company, business, affairs or prospects, you may not disclose that information to anyone outside our company, and you
are not allowed to buy or sell our stock or other publicly-traded securities until the material inside information is known not only by
other individuals within our company, but also by the general public. The improper use of material inside information is known as
insider trading. Insider trading is a criminal offense and is strictly prohibited.
“Material inside information” is any information concerning us that is not available to the general public and which an investor
would likely consider to be important in making a decision whether to buy, sell or hold our stock or other securities. A good rule of
thumb to determine whether information about us is material inside information is whether or not the release of that information to the
public would be likely to have an effect on the price of our stock. Examples of material inside information include information
concerning earnings estimates, changes in previously released earnings estimates, a pending stock split, dividend changes, significant
merger, acquisition or disposition proposals, major litigation, the loss or acquisition of a major contract and major changes in our
management. Material inside information is no longer deemed “inside” information once it is publicly disclosed and the market has
had sufficient time to absorb the information. Examples of effective public disclosure are the filing of such inside information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the printing of such information in The Wall Street Journal or other publications of general
circulation or the release of such information through a major news wire service, in each case giving the investing public a fair amount
of time to absorb and understand our disclosures.
11
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In addition to being prohibited from buying or selling our stock or other publicly-traded securities when you are in possession of
material inside information, you are also prohibited from disclosing such information to anyone else (including friends and family
members) in order to enable them to trade on the information. In addition, if you acquire material inside information about another
company due to your relationship with us, you may not buy or sell that other company’s stock or other securities until such
information is publicly disclosed and sufficiently disseminated into the marketplace.
The following are general guidelines to help you comply with this policy:
•

Do not share material inside information with people within our company whose jobs do not require them to have the
information.

•

Do not disclose any non-public information, material or otherwise, concerning our company to anyone outside our company
unless required as part of your duties and the person receiving the information has a reason to know the information for
company business purposes.

•

If you have material inside information regarding us, or regarding any other publicly traded company that you obtained from
your employment or relationship with us, you must not buy or sell, or advise anyone else to buy or sell, our securities or
that other company’s securities, until such information is publicly disclosed and sufficiently disseminated into the
marketplace.

Penalties for trading on or communicating material inside information are severe. If you are found guilty of an insider trading
violation, you can be subject to civil and even criminal liability. In addition to being illegal, we believe that insider trading is unethical
and will be dealt with firmly, which may include terminating your employment with us and reporting violations to appropriate
authorities.
If you have any questions concerning the securities laws or about our policies with regard to those laws, or regarding the correct
ethical and legal action to take in a situation involving material inside information, please review our Insider Trading Policy or contact
our General Counsel.
Responding to Inquiries from the Press and Others
Our company is subject to laws that govern the timing of our disclosures of material information to the public and others. Only
certain designated employees may discuss our company with securities analysts, investors or the news media.
12
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All inquiries from securities analysts or investors regarding financial or other information about our company should be referred
to our Investor Relations Department. All inquiries from the media and general inquiries from third parties should be referred to our
Communications Department.
Political Activity
We will fully comply with all political contribution laws. Our funds may not be used for contributions of any kind to any
political party or committee or to any candidate or holder of any government position (national, state or local) unless such contribution
is permitted by law and complies with our company policy. Please contact our Legal Department to determine whether a specific
company contribution is permitted.
It is against our policy for you to lobby our other employees on behalf of a political candidate during the work day. It is also
against our policy to reimburse an employee for any political contributions or expenditures. Outside normal office hours, you are free
to participate in political campaigns on behalf of candidates or issues of your choosing, as well as make personal political
contributions.
Safeguarding Corporate Assets
We have a responsibility to protect company assets entrusted to us from loss, theft, misuse and waste. Company assets and funds
may be used only for business purposes and may never be used for illegal purposes. Incidental personal use of telephones, fax
machines, copy machines, personal computers, e-mail and similar equipment is generally allowed if it is occasional, there is no
significant added cost to us, it does not interfere with your work responsibilities and is not related to an illegal activity or outside
business. If you become aware of theft, waste or misuse of our assets or funds or have any questions about your proper use of them,
you should speak immediately with your immediate supervisor.
It is also important that you protect the confidentiality of company information. Confidential or proprietary information includes
all information that is not generally known to the public and is helpful to the company, or would be helpful to competitors. Proprietary
information should be marked accordingly, kept secure and access limited to those who have a need to know in order to do their jobs.
13
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Our business relations are built on trust, and our customers and suppliers count on that trust. If you learn information from them
that is not otherwise public, you should keep that information confidential also.
We must all be sensitive to the impact of comments made over the Internet through public forums such as chat rooms and
bulletin boards. In such forums, you may not post any information about the company including comments about our products, stock
performance, operational strategies, financial results, customers or competitors, even in response to a false statement or question. This
applies whether you are at work or away from the office. Our company owns all e-mail messages that are sent from or received
through the company’s systems. We may monitor your messages and may be required to disclose them in the case of litigation or
governmental inquiry.
Equal Employment Opportunity and Anti-Harassment
We are committed to providing equal employment opportunities for all our employees and will not tolerate any speech or
conduct that is intended to, or has the effect of, discriminating against or harassing any qualified applicant or employee because of his
or her race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions), national origin, age, physical or mental
disability, veteran status or any characteristic protected by law. We will not tolerate discrimination or harassment by anyone —
managers, supervisors, co-workers, vendors or our customers. This policy extends to every phase of the employment process,
including: recruiting, hiring, training, promotion, compensation, benefits, transfers, discipline and termination, layoffs, recalls, and
company-sponsored educational, social and recreational programs, as applicable. If you observe conduct that you believe is
discriminatory or harassing, or if you feel you have been the victim of discrimination or harassment, you should notify your immediate
supervisor, your Human Resources Representative or the Employee Service Line immediately.
Not only do we forbid unlawful discrimination, we take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and
employees are treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth or related
medical conditions), national origin, age, physical or mental disability, veteran status or any characteristic protected by law.
The Human Resources Department has been assigned specific responsibilities for implementing and monitoring affirmative
action and other equal opportunity programs. One of the tenants of this code, however, is that all employees are accountable for
promoting equal opportunity practices within our company. We must do this not just because it is the law, but because it is the right
thing to do.
14
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For more information concerning our anti-discrimination and anti-harassment policies, you should refer to our Employee
Handbook. We will not retaliate against any employee for filing a good faith complaint under our anti-discrimination and
anti-harassment policies or for cooperating in an investigation and will not tolerate or permit retaliation by management, employees or
co-workers. To the fullest extent possible, the company will keep complaints and the terms of their resolution confidential. If an
investigation confirms harassment or discrimination has occurred, the company will take corrective action against the offending
individual, including discipline up to and including immediate termination of employment, as appropriate.
Health, Safety and the Environment
We are committed to providing safe and healthy working conditions by following all occupational health and safety laws
governing our activities.
We believe that management and each and every employee have a shared responsibility in the promotion of health and safety in
the workplace. You should follow all safety laws and regulations, as well as company safety policies and procedures. You should
immediately report any accident, injury or unsafe equipment, practices or conditions.
You also have an obligation to carry out company activities in ways that preserve and promote a clean, safe and healthy
environment. You must strictly comply with the letter and spirit of applicable environmental laws and the public policies they
represent.
The consequences of failing to adhere to environmental laws and policies can be serious. Our company, as well as individuals,
may be liable not only for the costs of cleaning up pollution, but also for significant civil and criminal penalties. You should make
every effort to prevent violations from occurring and report any violations to your immediate supervisor, our General Counsel or our
Vice President of Risk Management.
15
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Accuracy of Company Records
All information you record or report on our behalf, whether for our purposes or for third parties, must be done accurately and
honestly. All of our records (including accounts and financial statements) must be maintained in reasonable and appropriate detail,
must be kept in a timely fashion, and must appropriately reflect our transactions. Falsifying records or keeping unrecorded funds and
assets is a severe offense and may result in prosecution or loss of employment. When a payment is made, it can only be used for the
purpose spelled out in the supporting document.
Information derived from our records is provided to our shareholders and investors, as well as government agencies. Thus, our
accounting records must conform not only to our internal control and disclosure procedures but also to generally accepted accounting
principles and other laws and regulations, such as those of the Internal Revenue Service and the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Our public communications and the reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission and other government agencies
should contain information that is full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable in light of the circumstances surrounding disclosure.
Our internal and external auditing functions help ensure that our financial books, records and accounts are accurate. Therefore,
you should provide our accounting department, internal auditing staff, audit committee and independent public accountants with all
pertinent information that they may request. We encourage open lines of communication with our audit committee, accountants and
auditors and require that all our personnel cooperate with them to the maximum extent possible. It is unlawful for you to fraudulently
influence, induce, coerce, manipulate or mislead our independent public accountants for the purpose of making our financial
statements misleading.
If you are unsure about the accounting treatment of a transaction, believe that a transaction has been improperly recorded or
otherwise have a concern or complaint regarding an accounting matter, our internal accounting controls or an audit matter, you should
confer with your immediate supervisor, the controller associated with your business unit or our Chief Financial Officer, or you may
report your concern to either our Business Integrity Hotline or our Business Integrity e-mail address. Any reports made to either the
hotline or the e-mail address are transmitted directly to both our General Counsel and the head of our Internal Audit Department, and
those involving accounting, auditing or internal auditing controls will be reviewed under the direction of the audit committee of our
Board of Directors. If you report via the hotline, you may report anonymously if you wish, although we encourage you to leave a
detailed message that will permit us to thoroughly investigate your concerns.
16
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Record Retention
Our records should be retained or discarded in accordance with our record retention policies and all applicable laws and
regulations. From time to time we are involved in legal proceedings that may require us to make some of our records available to third
parties. Our legal counsel will assist us in releasing appropriate information to third parties and provide you (or your immediate
supervisor) with specific instructions. It is a crime to alter, destroy, modify or conceal documentation or other objects that are relevant
to a government investigation or otherwise obstruct, influence or impede an official proceeding. The law applies equally to all of our
records, including formal reports as well as informal data such as e-mail, expense reports and internal memos. If the existence of a
subpoena or a pending government investigation is known or reported to you, you should immediately contact our Legal Department
and you must retain all records that may pertain to the investigation or be responsive to the subpoena.
Administration of the Code
Distribution
All of our directors, officers and employees will receive a copy of this code when they join our company. Updates of the code
will be distributed to all directors, officers and employees and are available on the company’s intranet at
http://intranet.livenation.com/index.php.
Role of Supervisors and Officers
Supervisors and officers have important roles under this code and are expected to demonstrate their personal commitment to this
code by fostering a workplace environment that promotes compliance with the code and by ensuring that employees under their
supervision participate in our company’s compliance training programs.
Reporting Violations
All employees are obliged to report violations of this code or the law and to cooperate in any investigations into such violations.
We prefer that you give your identity when reporting violations, to allow the company to contact you in the event further information
is needed to pursue an investigation, and your identity will be maintained in confidence to the extent practicable under the
circumstances and consistent with enforcing this code. However, you may anonymously report violations.
17

Investigations
We will initiate a prompt investigation following any credible indication that a breach of law or this code may have occurred.
We will also initiate appropriate corrective action as we deem necessary, which may include notifying appropriate authorities. For
more information about our procedures in dealing with violations or suspected violations of this code, you should refer to our
Employee Handbook.
Disciplinary Action
If you violate any provision of this code, you may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. Please be
aware that we may seek civil remedies from you and if your violation results in monetary loss to us, you may be required to reimburse
us for that loss. If you are involved in a violation, the fact that you reported the violation, together with the degree of cooperation
displayed by you and whether the violation is intentional or unintentional, will be given consideration in our investigation and any
resulting disciplinary action.
No Retaliation
We will not retaliate against anyone who, in good faith, notifies us of a possible violation of law or this code, nor will we
tolerate any harassment or intimidation of any employee who reports a suspected violation. In addition, there are federal
“whistleblower” laws that are designed to protect employees from discrimination or harassment for providing information to us or
governmental authorities, under certain circumstances, with respect to certain laws such as those governing workplace safety, the
environment, securities fraud and federal law relating to fraud against shareholders.
Approvals
Approvals required under this code should be documented.
Waivers
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Any request for a waiver of this code must be submitted in writing to our General Counsel who has authority to decide whether
to grant a waiver. However, a waiver of any provision of this code for a director or an executive officer must be approved by our
Board of Directors or its designated committee and will be promptly disclosed to the extent required by law or regulation.
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Certifications
All new employees (and, periodically, existing employees) must affirmatively acknowledge that they have read and understand
this code. However, failure to read or acknowledge the code does not excuse you from complying with this code.
Non-retaliation Policy for Employees Who Report Violations of Law
We are committed to providing a workplace conducive to open discussion of our business practices. It is our policy to comply
with all applicable laws that protect employees against unlawful discrimination or retaliation by their employer as a result of their
lawfully reporting information regarding, or their participating in, investigations involving corporate fraud or other violations by us or
our agents of federal or state law. Specifically, our policy prevents you from being subject to disciplinary or retaliatory action by us or
any of our employees or agents as a result of your complaint about corporate fraud (such as falsifying financial records, providing
false information to shareholders, and hiding or stealing corporate assets) to any of the following:
•

a federal regulatory or law enforcement agency;

•

a member or committee of Congress;

•

your supervisor;

•

our Vice President of Human Resources;

•

our Employee Service Line;

•

your Human Resources Representative or our corporate Human Resources Department;

•

our Business Integrity Hotline or Business Integrity e-mail address;

•

our Chief Financial Officer; or

•

our General Counsel or our Legal Department.

You are also protected from retaliation due to your assisting in any investigation of any alleged violation or participating in any
lawsuit arising from a complaint or investigation. However, if you file reports or provide evidence which you know to be false or
where you do not have a reasonable belief in the truth and accuracy of such information, you will not be protected by the above policy
statement and may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of your employment.
19
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Our Vice President of Human Resources is responsible for administering Non-retaliation Policy for Employees Who Report
Violations of Law policy. Our Vice President of Human Resources is responsible for receiving, collecting, reviewing, processing and
resolving concerns and reports by employees and others on the matters described above and other similar matters. You are encouraged
to discuss issues and concerns of the type covered by this policy with your immediate supervisor, who is in turn responsible for
informing our Vice President of Human Resources of any concerns raised. If you prefer not to discuss these sensitive matters with
your immediate supervisor, you may instead discuss such matters directly with the corporate Human Resources Department through
the Employee Service Line. Our Vice President of Human Resources will refer complaints submitted, as he or she determines to be
appropriate or as required under the directives of our Board of Directors, to our Board of Directors or its designated committee.
If you believe you have been subjected to any action that violates this policy, you may file a complaint with your immediate
supervisor, your Human Resources Representative or the Employee Service Line. If it is determined that you have experienced any
improper employment action in violation of this policy, you will be entitled to appropriate corrective action.
Description of Responsibilities of our Vice President of Human Resources
We have appointed our Vice President of Human Resources as the individual who is responsible for administering our
Non-retaliation Policy for Employees Who Report Violations of Law. Our Vice President of Human Resources will report directly to
the audit committee of our Board of Directors on matters arising under this policy.
Our Vice President of Human Resources’ responsibilities under this policy include:
•

Administering, implementing and overseeing ongoing compliance under the policy.

•

Establishing and administering procedures to assure that employee complaints will be collected, reviewed promptly,
resolved in an appropriate manner and retained.

•

Making his or her staff available to discuss with employees any complaints raised or reports filed.

•

Administering and overseeing our training and educational programs designed to ensure that our employees with supervisory
authority with respect to other employees, or who are otherwise involved in the administration of our policies, are aware of
this policy, know to involve our
20
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Vice President of Human Resources in any matters that may arise involving this policy (including informing our Vice
President of Human Resources of every complaint that arises) and are trained in the proper handling of employee
complaints covered by this policy.
Asking for Help and Reporting Concerns
We take this code seriously and consider its enforcement to be among our highest priorities, but we also acknowledge that it is
sometimes difficult to know right from wrong. That’s why we encourage open communication. When in doubt, ask. Whenever you
have a question or concern, are unsure about what the appropriate course of action is, or if you believe that a violation of the law or
this code has occurred:
•

You should talk with your immediate supervisor. He or she may have the information you need, or may be able to refer the
matter to an appropriate source, including our Legal Department as circumstances warrant.

•

If you are uncomfortable talking with your immediate supervisor, you may also contact any manager in our company with
whom you feel comfortable, your Human Resources Representative, our corporate Human Resources Department, the
Employee Service Line or our Legal Department.

•

In addition, if you have concerns or complaints about accounting or audit matters or our internal accounting controls, you
may confer with your immediate supervisor, the controller associated with your business unit or our Chief Financial
Officer, or you may submit your concern or complaint, on a confidential basis to either our Business Integrity Hotline or
our Business Integrity e-mail address. You may report anonymously via the hotline, although we prefer that you give your
identity when reporting violations to allow the company to contact you in the event further information is needed to pursue
an investigation. Confidentiality will be maintained to the fullest extent possible, consistent with the need to conduct an
adequate review. Any reports made to either the hotline or the e-mail address are transmitted directly to both our General
Counsel and the head of our Internal Audit Department, and those involving our accounting, auditing or internal auditing
controls will be reviewed under the direction of the audit committee of our Board of Directors.
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EXHIBIT 31.1—CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael Rapino, certify that:
1.
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC;
2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.
Date:

February 25, 2010

By:

/s/ MICHAEL RAPINO
Michael Rapino
President and Chief Executive Officer
Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.*

*
Mr. Rapino, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company's parent, Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. performs the function of Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.
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EXHIBIT 31.2—CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
CERTIFICATION
I, Brian Regan, certify that:
1.
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC;
2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
I
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.
Date:

February 25, 2010

By:

/s/ BRIAN REGAN
Brian Regan
Chief Financial Officer
Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC
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EXHIBIT 32.1—SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
In connection with the Annual Report of Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Michael Rapino, President and Chief Executive Officer of Live Nation
Entertainment, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date:

February 25, 2010

By:

/s/ MICHAEL RAPINO
Michael Rapino
President and Chief Executive Officer
Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.*

*
Mr. Rapino, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company's parent, Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. performs the function of Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.
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EXHIBIT 32.2—SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
In connection with the Annual Report of Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Brian Regan, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date:

February 25, 2010

By:

/s/ BRIAN REGAN
Brian Regan
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
Ticketmaster Entertainment LLC
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Exhibit 99.1
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS FROM LIVE NATION ENTERTAINMENT, INC.’S ANNUAL REPORT ON
FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
Risks Associated with Our Leverage
We have a large amount of debt, redeemable preferred stock and lease obligations that could restrict our operations and impair
our financial condition.
As of December 31, 2009, Live Nation’s total indebtedness for borrowed money, including its redeemable preferred stock and
excluding the debt discount on the convertible notes, was approximately $832.9 million. Live Nation’s available borrowing capacity
under the revolving portion of its senior secured credit facility at that date was approximately $141.4 million, with sub-limits up to
$235.0 million available for letters of credit. At December 31, 2009, outstanding letters of credit were approximately $42.3 million.
As of December 31, 2009, Ticketmaster’s total indebtedness for borrowed money was approximately $812.0 million. Ticketmaster’s
available borrowing capacity under the revolving portion of its senior secured credit facility at that date was approximately $115.0
million, with sub-limits up to $20.0 million available for letters of credit. At December 31, 2009, outstanding letters of credit were
approximately $1.0 million. We may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future.
Our substantial indebtedness could have adverse consequences, including:
•

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations;

•

increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic, regulatory and industry conditions;

•

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for future working capital, capital expenditures, mergers and other
purposes;

•

requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to fund payments on our debt, thereby
reducing funds available for operations and other purposes;

•

limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

•

making us more vulnerable to increases in interest rates;

•

placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

•

having a material adverse effect on us if we fail to comply with the covenants in the instruments governing our debt and
redeemable preferred stock.

To service our debt, redeemable preferred stock and lease obligations and to fund potential acquisitions, artist advances and
capital expenditures, we will require a significant amount of cash, which depends on many factors beyond our control.
As of December 31, 2009, approximately $41.0 million of Live Nation’s total indebtedness (excluding interest) is due in 2010,
$198.7 million is due in the aggregate for 2011 and 2012, $579.9 million is due in the aggregate for 2013 and 2014 and $13.3 million
is due thereafter. See the table in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Contractual Obligations and Commitments—Firm Commitments. As of December 31, 2009, no portion of
Ticketmaster’s total indebtedness (excluding interest) is due in 2010, $31.8 million is due in the aggregate for 2011 and 2012, $493.2
million is due in the aggregate for 2013 and 2014 and $287.0 million is due thereafter.
Live Nation’s redeemable preferred stock bears an annual dividend rate of 13%, or $5.2 million annually, and is subject to
financial and other covenants substantially similar to the covenants applicable to its senior secured credit facility. If Live Nation
exceeds certain of these covenants, it will have to pay additional dividends. In addition, as of December 31, 2009, Live Nation had
approximately $1.4 billion in operating lease agreements, of which approximately $81.9 million is due in 2010 and $81.8 million is
due in 2011. As of December 31, 2009,
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Ticketmaster had approximately $99.0 million in operating lease agreements, of which approximately $26.6 million is due in 2010 and
$19.2 million is due in 2011.
Our ability to service our debt, redeemable preferred stock and lease obligations and to fund potential acquisitions, artist
advances and capital expenditures for venue construction, expansion or renovation will require a significant amount of cash, which
depends on many factors beyond our control. Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our debt will also depend on our
ability to generate cash in the future. This, to an extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory
and other factors that are beyond our control.
We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow or that future borrowings will be available to us in an
amount sufficient to enable us to pay our debt or to fund our other liquidity needs. We cannot predict the impact to our ability to
access additional capital in light of the current uncertainty in the credit market. If our future cash flow from operations and other
capital resources are insufficient to pay our obligations as they mature or to fund our liquidity needs, we may be forced to reduce or
delay our business activities and capital expenditures, sell assets, obtain additional equity capital or restructure or refinance all or a
portion of our debt on or before maturity. In addition, the terms of our existing debt, including our senior secured credit facility, other
future debt and our redeemable preferred stock may limit our ability to pursue any of these alternatives.
These measures might also be unsuccessful or inadequate in permitting us to meet scheduled debt, redeemable preferred stock or
lease service obligations. We may be unable to restructure or refinance our obligations and obtain additional equity financing or sell
assets on satisfactory terms or at all. As a result, the inability to meet our debt, redeemable preferred stock or lease obligations could
cause us to default on those obligations. Any such defaults could materially harm our financial condition and liquidity.
The agreement governing our senior secured credit facilities, our redeemable preferred stock designations and certain of our
other indebtedness impose restrictions on us that limit the discretion of management in operating our business and that, in turn,
could impair our ability to meet our obligations under our debt.
The agreement governing our senior secured credit facilities, our redeemable preferred stock designations and certain of our
other indebtedness include restrictive covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to:
•

incur additional debt or issue redeemable preferred stock;

•

pay dividends and make distributions;

•

make certain investments;

•

repurchase our stock and prepay certain indebtedness;

•

create liens;

•

enter into transactions with affiliates;

•

modify the nature of our business;

•

enter into sale-leaseback transactions;

•

transfer and sell material assets; and

•

merge or consolidate.

In addition, our senior secured credit facilities and redeemable preferred stock designations include other restrictions, including
requirements to maintain certain financial ratios. Our failure to comply with the terms and covenants in our indebtedness could lead to
a default under the terms of the governing documents, which would entitle the lenders to accelerate the indebtedness and declare all
amounts owed due and payable. If we default under any of the covenants applicable to our redeemable preferred stock, the holders of
our redeemable preferred stock may be entitled to elect a director of one of our subsidiaries, and we will have to pay additional
dividends.
These covenants could materially and adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs. Furthermore,
they may restrict our ability to expand, to pursue our business strategies and otherwise to conduct our business. Our ability to comply
with these covenants may be affected by circumstances and events beyond our control, such as prevailing economic conditions and
changes in regulations, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to comply. A breach of these covenants could result in a default
under our debt. If there were an
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event of default under our outstanding indebtedness and the obligations thereunder accelerated, our assets and cash flow might not be
sufficient to repay our outstanding debt and we could be forced into bankruptcy.
We will depend on the cash flows of our subsidiaries in order to satisfy our obligations.
We will rely on distributions and loans from our subsidiaries in order to meet our payment requirements under our obligations.
If our subsidiaries are unable to pay dividends or otherwise make payments to us, we may not be able to make debt service payments
on our obligations. We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of our operations through our subsidiaries. Our operating
cash flows and consequently our ability to service our debt is therefore principally dependent upon our subsidiaries’ earnings and their
distributions of those earnings to us and may also be dependent upon loans or other payments of funds to us by those subsidiaries. Our
subsidiaries are separate legal entities and may have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay any amount due pursuant to our
obligations or to make any funds available for that purpose. In addition, the ability of our subsidiaries to provide funds to us may be
subject to restrictions under our senior secured credit facilities and the outstanding redeemable preferred stock of our subsidiary and
may be subject to the terms of such subsidiaries’ future indebtedness, as well as the availability of sufficient surplus funds under
applicable law.
Any inability to fund the significant up-front cash requirements associated with our touring business could result in the loss of
key tours.
In order to secure a tour, including global tours by major artists, we are often required to post a letter of credit or advance cash
to the artist prior to the sale of any tickets for that tour. If we do not have sufficient cash on hand or capacity under our revolving
credit facility to advance the necessary cash or post the required letter of credit, for any given tour we would not be able to promote
that tour and our touring business would be negatively impacted.
Risks Relating to our 2.875% Convertible Senior Notes
We may not have the funds necessary to finance the repurchase of the notes or to pay the cash payable upon a conversion (if we
make the net share settlement election), or we may otherwise be restricted from making such payments, which may increase
note holders’ credit risk.
In July 2007, we issued $220 million of 2.875% convertible senior notes due 2027 in a private placement in the United States to
qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. On July 15, 2014, July 15, 2017
and July 15, 2022, or in the event of a fundamental change (as defined in the indenture governing the notes), holders may require us to
repurchase their notes at a price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, including contingent
interest and additional amounts, to the repurchase date. In addition, at any time on or prior to June 15, 2027, we may irrevocably elect
net share settlement of the notes, and thereafter we will be required to make a cash payment of up to $1,000 for each $1,000 in
principal amount of notes converted. However, it is possible that we will not have sufficient funds available at such time to make the
required repurchase or settlement of converted notes. In addition, some of our existing financing agreements contain, and any future
credit agreements or other agreements relating to our indebtedness could contain, provisions prohibiting the repurchase of the notes
under certain circumstances, or could provide that a fundamental change constitutes an event of default under that agreement, restrict
our ability to make cash payments upon conversion of the notes or restrict the ability of our subsidiaries to make funds available to us
for that purpose. If any agreement governing our indebtedness prohibits or otherwise restricts us from repurchasing the notes or
making the cash payment upon conversion when we become obligated to do so, we could seek the consent of the lenders to repurchase
the notes or settle the conversion or attempt to refinance the other debt. If we do not obtain such consent or refinance the debt, we
would not be permitted to repurchase the notes or settle the conversion without potentially causing a default under the other debt. Our
failure to repurchase tendered notes or to pay any cash payable on a conversion would constitute an event of default under the
indenture, which might constitute a default under the terms of our other indebtedness.
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The additional shares of common stock payable on any notes converted in connection with specified corporate transactions may
not adequately compensate holders of notes for any loss they may experience as a result of such specified corporate
transactions.
If certain specified corporate transactions occur on or prior to July 15, 2014, we will under certain circumstances increase the
conversion rate on notes converted in connection with the specified corporate transaction by a number of additional shares of common
stock. The number of additional shares of common stock will be determined based on the date on which the specified corporate
transaction becomes effective and the price paid per share of our common stock in the specified corporate transaction. The additional
shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes in connection with a specified corporate transaction may not adequately
compensate holders of notes for any loss they may experience as a result of such specified corporate transaction. Furthermore, holders
of notes will not receive the additional consideration payable as a result of the increase in the conversion rate until the effective date of
the specified corporate transaction or later, which could be a significant period of time after holders of notes have tendered their notes
for conversion. If the specified corporate transaction occurs after July 15, 2014, or if the price paid per share of our common stock in
the specified corporate transaction is less than the common stock price at the date of issuance of the notes or above a specified price,
there will be no increase in the conversion rate. In addition, in certain circumstances upon a change of control arising from our
acquisition by a public company, we may elect to adjust the conversion rate and, if we so elect, holders of notes will not be entitled to
the increase in the conversion rate determined as described above.
The conditional conversion feature of the notes could result in holders of notes receiving less than the value of the common
stock for which a note would otherwise be convertible.
Prior to July 15, 2027, the notes are convertible for shares of our common stock (or cash or a combination of cash and shares of
our common stock) only if specified conditions are met. If the specific conditions for conversion are not met, holders of notes will not
be able to convert their notes, and they may not be able to receive the value of the common stock or cash and common stock, as
applicable, for which the notes would otherwise be convertible.
Upon conversion of the notes, holders of notes may receive less proceeds than expected because the value of our common stock
may decline after the exercise of the conversion right.
If we elect to settle conversions other than solely in shares of common stock, including by making a net share settlement
election, the conversion value that holders of notes will receive upon conversion of their notes are in part determined, subject to
certain exceptions, by the average of the last reported sale prices of our common stock for the 20 trading days beginning on the second
trading day immediately following the day the notes are tendered for conversion, or, if tendered within the 20 days leading up to the
maturity date or a specified redemption date, beginning on the fifth day following the maturity date or the redemption date.
Accordingly, if the price of our common stock decreases after holders of notes tender their notes for conversion, the conversion value
they will receive may be adversely affected.
The conversion rate of the notes may not be adjusted for all dilutive events.
The conversion rate of the notes is subject to adjustment only for certain specified events, including, but not limited to, the
issuance of stock dividends on our common stock, the issuance of certain rights or warrants, subdivisions, combinations, distributions
of capital stock, indebtedness or assets, cash dividends and certain issuer tender or exchange offers. However, the conversion rate will
not be adjusted for other events, such as an issuance of common stock for cash or acquisition, that may adversely affect the trading
price of the notes or the common stock, or for a third-party tender offer. For example, the conversion rate was not adjusted as a result
of our merger with Ticketmaster.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Our live music business is highly sensitive to public tastes and dependent on our ability to secure popular artists and other live
music events, and we may be unable to anticipate or respond to changes in consumer preferences, which may result in
decreased demand for our services.
Our ability to generate revenue from our music operations is highly sensitive to rapidly changing public tastes and dependent on
the availability of popular artists and events. Our success depends in part on our ability to
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anticipate the tastes of consumers and to offer events that appeal to them. Since we rely on unrelated parties to create and perform live
music content, any unwillingness to tour or lack of availability of popular artists could limit our ability to generate revenue. In
particular, there are a limited number of artists that can headline a major North American or global tour or who can sell out larger
venues, including many of our amphitheaters. If those key artists do not continue to tour, or if we are unable to secure the rights to
their future tours, then our business would be adversely affected.
In addition, we typically book our live music tours one to four months in advance of the beginning of the tour and often agree to
pay an artist a fixed guaranteed amount prior to our receiving any operating income. Therefore, if the public is not receptive to the
tour, or we or a performer cancel the tour, we may incur a loss for the tour depending on the amount of the fixed guarantee or incurred
costs relative to any revenue earned, as well as foregone revenue we could have earned at booked venues. We have cancellation
insurance policies in place to cover a portion of our losses if a performer cancels a tour but it may not be sufficient and is subject to
deductibles. Furthermore, consumer preferences change from time to time, and our failure to anticipate, identify or react to these
changes could result in reduced demand for our services, which would adversely affect our operating results and profitability.
We have incurred net losses and may experience future net losses.
Our operating results from continuing operations have been adversely affected by, among other things, event profitability and
overhead costs. Live Nation incurred net losses of approximately $126.0 million, $333.5 million and $62.3 million in 2009, 2008 and
2007, respectively. We may face reduced demand for our live music events and other factors that could adversely affect our results of
operations in the future. We cannot predict whether we will achieve profitability in future periods.
Our operations are seasonal and our results of operations vary from quarter to quarter and year over year, so our financial
performance in certain financial quarters or years may not be indicative of, or comparable to, our financial performance in
subsequent financial quarters or years.
We believe our financial results and cash needs will vary greatly from quarter to quarter and year to year depending on, among
other things, the timing of tours, tour cancellations, capital expenditures, seasonal and other fluctuations in our operating results, the
timing of guaranteed payments and receipt of ticket sales, financing activities, acquisitions and investments and receivables
management. Because our results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year, our financial results for one quarter
or year cannot necessarily be compared to another quarter or year and may not be indicative of our future financial performance in
subsequent quarters or years. Typically, we experience our lowest financial performance in the first and fourth quarters of the calendar
year as our outdoor venues are primarily used, and our festivals primarily occur, during May through September. In addition, the
timing of tours of top grossing acts can impact comparability of quarterly results year over year and potentially annual results.

Source: TICKETMASTER ENTERTAINMENT LLC, 10-K, February 25, 2010

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

The following table sets forth Live Nation’s operating income (loss) for the last eight fiscal quarters:
Operating
income (loss)
(in thousands)

Fiscal Quarter Ended

March 31, 2008
June 30, 2008
September 30, 2008
December 31, 2008
March 31, 2009
June 30, 2009
September 30, 2009
December 31, 2009

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

(74,770)
26,531
74,377
(323,431)
(88,259)
(8,135)
108,399
(64,361)

We may be adversely affected by the current, or any future, general deterioration in economic conditions, which could affect
consumer and corporate spending and, therefore, significantly adversely impact our operating results.
A decline in attendance at or reduction in the number of live music events may have an adverse effect on our revenue and
operating income. In addition, during past economic slowdowns and recessions, many consumers reduced their discretionary spending
and advertisers reduced their advertising expenditures. The impact of slowdowns on our business is difficult to predict, but they may
result in reductions in ticket sales, sponsorship opportunities and our ability to generate revenue. The risks associated with our
businesses may become more acute in periods of a slowing economy or recession, which may be accompanied by a decrease in
attendance at live music events.
Our business depends on discretionary consumer and corporate spending. Many factors related to corporate spending and
discretionary consumer spending, including economic conditions affecting disposable consumer income such as employment, fuel
prices, interest and tax rates and inflation which can significantly impact our operating results. Business conditions, as well as various
industry conditions, including corporate marketing and promotional spending and interest levels, can also significantly impact our
operating results. These factors can affect attendance at our events, premium seat sales, sponsorship, advertising and hospitality
spending, concession and souvenir sales, as well as the financial results of sponsors of our venues, events and the industry. Negative
factors such as challenging economic conditions, public concerns over terrorism and security incidents, particularly when combined,
can impact corporate and consumer spending, and one negative factor can impact our results more than another. There can be no
assurance that consumer and corporate spending will not be adversely impacted by current economic conditions, or by any further or
future deterioration in economic conditions, thereby possibly impacting our operating results and growth.
Loss of our key promoters, management and other personnel could result in the loss of key tours and negatively impact our
business.
The live music business is uniquely dependent upon personal relationships, as promoters and executives within the live music
companies such as ours leverage their existing network of relationships with artists, agents and managers in order to secure the rights
to the live music tours and events which are critical to our success. Due to the importance of those industry contacts to our business,
the loss of any of our promoters, officers or other key personnel could adversely affect our operations. Although we have entered into
long-term agreements with many of those individuals to protect our interests in those relationships, we can give no assurance that all
or any of these key employees will remain with us or will retain their associations with key business contacts.
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Doing business in foreign countries creates risks not found in doing business in the United States.
Live Nation’s international operations accounted for approximately 35% of its revenue in 2009. Ticketmaster’s international
operations accounted for approximately 27% of its revenue in 2009. The risks involved in foreign operations that could result in losses
against which we are not insured include:
•

exposure to local economic conditions;

•

potential adverse changes in the diplomatic relations of foreign countries with the United States;

•

restrictions on the withdrawal of foreign investment and earnings;

•

investment restrictions or requirements on businesses owned by foreigners;

•

expropriations of property;

•

potential instability of foreign governments;

•

risks of renegotiation or modification of existing agreements with governmental authorities;

•

diminished ability to legally enforce our contractual rights in foreign countries;

•

foreign exchange restrictions;

•

withholding and other taxes on remittances and other payments by subsidiaries; and

•

changes in foreign taxation structures.

In addition, we may incur substantial tax liabilities if we repatriate any of the cash generated by our international operations
back to the United States due to significant current limitations on our ability to recognize foreign tax credits that would be associated
with such repatriation. We could repatriate some of the cash generated by our international operations and use certain of our
substantial net operating losses to offset associated tax liabilities. We are not currently in a position to recognize any tax assets in the
United States that are the result of payments of income or withholding taxes in foreign jurisdictions.
Exchange rates may cause fluctuations in our results of operations that are not related to our operations.
Because we own assets overseas and derive revenue from our international operations, we may incur currency translation losses
or gains due to changes in the values of foreign currencies relative to the United States Dollar. We cannot predict the effect of
exchange rate fluctuations upon future operating results. For the year ended December 31, 2009, Live Nation’s international
operations accounted for approximately 35% of its revenue. Although we cannot predict the future relationship between the United
States Dollar and the currencies used by our international businesses, principally the British Pound and the Euro, Live Nation
experienced a foreign exchange rate net loss of $39.9 million in 2009 which had a negative effect on its operating income and, in 2008
and 2007, Live Nation had net gains of $0.2 million and $3.5 million, respectively, which had a positive effect on its operating
income. See Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. For the year ended December 31, 2009,
Ticketmaster’s international operations accounted for approximately 27% of its revenue. Although we cannot predict the future
relationship between the United States Dollar and the currencies used by our international businesses, principally the British Pound,
the Canadian Dollar and the Euro, Ticketmaster experienced foreign exchange rate net losses of $7.2 million and $2.2 million in 2009
and 2008, respectively, which had a negative effect on its operating income and, in 2007, Ticketmaster had a net gain of $3.3 million
which had a positive effect on its operating income.
We may enter into future acquisitions and long-term artist rights arrangements and take certain actions in connection with
such transactions that could affect the price of our common stock.
As part of our growth strategy, we expect to review acquisition prospects that would offer growth opportunities. We also may
enter into additional long-term arrangements with certain artists under which we would acquire the rights to certain music-related
activities, including touring, merchandising, recording, online fan clubs, film/DVD and other rights, or a subset of these rights. In the
event of future acquisitions or artist rights arrangements, we could:
•

use a significant portion of our available cash;

•

issue equity securities, which would dilute current stockholders’ percentage ownership;
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•

incur substantial debt;

•

incur or assume contingent liabilities, known or unknown;

•

incur amortization expenses related to intangibles; and

•

incur large accounting write-offs.

Such actions by us could harm our results from operations and adversely affect the price of our common stock.
We may be unsuccessful in our future acquisition endeavors, if any, which may have an adverse effect on our business. Our
compliance with antitrust, competition and other regulations may limit our operations and future acquisitions.
Our future growth rate depends in part on our selective acquisition of additional businesses. A significant portion of our growth
has been attributable to acquisitions, including, among others, our acquisitions of HOB and an equity interest in AMG. We may be
unable to identify other suitable targets for further acquisition or make further acquisitions at favorable prices. If we identify a suitable
acquisition candidate, our ability to successfully implement the acquisition would depend on a variety of factors, including our ability
to obtain financing on acceptable terms and requisite government approvals. Acquisitions involve risks, including those associated
with:
•

integrating the operations, financial reporting, technologies and personnel of acquired companies;

•

managing geographically dispersed operations;

•

the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

•

the inherent risks in entering markets or lines of business in which we have either limited or no direct experience; and

•

the potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic partners of acquired companies.

We may not successfully integrate any businesses or technologies we may acquire in the future and may not achieve anticipated
revenue and cost benefits. Acquisitions may be expensive, time consuming and may strain our resources. Acquisitions may not be
accretive to our earnings and may negatively impact our results of operations as a result of, among other things, expenses to pursue the
acquisition, the incurrence of debt, one-time write-offs of goodwill and amortization expenses of other intangible assets. In addition,
future acquisitions that we may pursue could result in dilutive issuances of equity securities.
We are also subject to laws and regulations, including those relating to antitrust, that could significantly affect our ability to
expand our business through acquisitions. For example, the Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the United States
Department of Justice with respect to our domestic acquisitions, and the European Commission (the antitrust regulator of the
European Union) and the United Kingdom Competition Commission with respect to our European acquisitions, have the authority to
challenge our acquisitions on antitrust grounds before or after the acquisitions are completed. State agencies may also have standing to
challenge these acquisitions under state or federal antitrust law. Comparable authorities in other jurisdictions also have the ability to
challenge our foreign acquisitions. Our failure to comply with all applicable laws and regulations could result in, among other things,
regulatory actions or legal proceedings against us, the imposition of fines, penalties or judgments against us or significant limitations
on our activities. In addition, the regulatory environment in which we operate is subject to change. New or revised requirements
imposed by governmental regulatory authorities could have adverse effects on us, including increased costs of compliance. We also
may be adversely affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and regulations by these governmental
authorities.
In addition, the credit agreement for the senior secured credit facility and the terms of our subsidiary’s redeemable preferred
stock restrict our ability to make acquisitions.
There is the risk of personal injuries and accidents in connection with our live music events, which could subject us to personal
injury or other claims and increase our expenses, as well as reduce attendance at our live music events, causing a decrease in
our revenue.
There are inherent risks involved with producing live music events. As a result, personal injuries and accidents have, and may,
occur from time to time, which could subject us to claims and liabilities for personal injuries.
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Incidents in connection with our live music events at any of our venues or venues that we rent could also result in claims, reducing
operating income or reducing attendance at our events, causing a decrease in our revenue. We are currently subject to wrongful death
claims, as well as other litigation. While we maintain insurance polices that provide coverage within limits that are sufficient, in
management’s judgment, to protect us from material financial loss for personal injuries sustained by persons at our venues or
accidents in the ordinary course of business, there can be no assurance that such insurance will be adequate at all times and in all
circumstances.
The success of our ticketing operations depends, in part, on the integrity of our systems and infrastructures. System interruption
and the lack of integration and redundancy in these systems and infrastructures may have an adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
The success of our ticketing operations depends, in part, on our ability to maintain the integrity of our systems and
infrastructures, including websites, information and related systems, call centers and distribution and fulfillment facilities. System
interruption and the lack of integration and redundancy in the information systems and infrastructures of our ticketing operations may
adversely affect our ability to operate websites, process and fulfill transactions, respond to customer inquiries and generally maintain
cost-efficient operations. We may experience occasional system interruptions that make some or all systems or data unavailable or
prevent us from efficiently providing services or fulfilling orders. We also rely on affiliate and third-party computer systems,
broadband and other communications systems and service providers in connection with the provision of services generally, as well as
to facilitate, process and fulfill transactions. Any interruptions, outages or delays in the systems and infrastructures of our business,
our affiliates and/or third parties, or deterioration in the performance of these systems and infrastructures, could impair the ability of
our business to provide services, fulfill orders and/or process transactions. Fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure,
hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, acts of war or terrorism, acts of God and similar events or disruptions may damage or interrupt
computer, broadband or other communications systems and infrastructures at any time. Any of these events could cause system
interruption, delays and loss of critical data, and could prevent us from providing services, fulfilling orders and/or processing
transactions. While we have backup systems for certain aspects of our operations, these systems are not fully redundant and disaster
recovery planning is not sufficient for all eventualities. In addition, we may not have adequate insurance coverage to compensate for
losses from a major interruption. If any of these adverse events were to occur, it could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
The processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of governmental regulation,
conflicting legal requirements or differing views of personal privacy rights.
In the processing of consumer transactions, we receive, transmit and store a large volume of personally identifiable information
and other user data. The sharing, use, disclosure and protection of this information are governed by the respective privacy and data
security policies maintained by our business. Moreover, there are federal, state and international laws regarding privacy and the
storing, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of personally identifiable information and user data. Specifically, personally
identifiable information is increasingly subject to legislation and regulations in numerous jurisdictions around the world, the intent of
which is to protect the privacy of personal information that is collected, processed and transmitted in or from the governing
jurisdiction. We could be adversely affected if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in business practices or
privacy policies, or if governing jurisdictions interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may also become exposed to potential liabilities as a result of differing views on the privacy of the consumer and other user
data collected by our business. The failure of us and/or the various third-party vendors and service providers with which we do
business, to comply with applicable privacy policies or federal, state or similar international laws and regulations or any compromise
of security that results in the unauthorized release of personally identifiable information or other user data could damage the reputation
of our business, discourage potential users from trying the products and services that we offer and/or result in fines and/or proceedings
by governmental agencies and/or consumers, one or all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Costs associated with, and our ability to obtain, adequate insurance could adversely affect our profitability and financial
condition.
Heightened concerns and challenges regarding property, casualty, liability, business interruption and other insurance coverage
have resulted from terrorist and related security incidents. As a result, we may experience increased difficulty obtaining high policy
limits of coverage at reasonable costs, including coverage for acts of terrorism. We have a material investment in property and
equipment at each of our venues, which are generally located near major cities and which hold events typically attended by a large
number of fans. At December 31, 2009, Live Nation had property and equipment with a net book value of approximately $750.0
million. At December 31, 2009, Ticketmaster had property and equipment with a net book value of approximately $101.0 million.
These operational, geographical and situational factors, among others, may result in significant increases in insurance premium
costs and difficulties obtaining sufficiently high policy limits with deductibles that we believe to be reasonable. We cannot assure you
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that future increases in insurance costs and difficulties obtaining high policy limits will not adversely impact our profitability, thereby
possibly impacting our operating results and growth.
In addition, we enter into various agreements with artists from time to time, including long-term artist rights arrangements. The
profitability of those arrangements depends upon those artists’ willingness and ability to continue performing, and we may not be able
to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at reasonable costs to adequately protect us against the death, disability or other failure of such
artists to continue engaging in revenue-generating activities under those agreements.
We cannot guarantee that our insurance policy coverage limits, including insurance coverage for property, casualty, liability,
artists and business interruption losses and acts of terrorism, would be adequate under the circumstances should one or multiple events
occur at or near any of our venues, or that our insurers would have adequate financial resources to sufficiently or fully pay our related
claims or damages. We cannot guarantee that adequate coverage limits will be available, offered at reasonable costs, or offered by
insurers with sufficient financial soundness. The occurrence of such an incident or incidents affecting any one or more of our venues
could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and future results of operations if asset damage and/or company liability
were to exceed insurance coverage limits or if an insurer were unable to sufficiently or fully pay our related claims or damages.
Costs associated with capital improvements could adversely affect our profitability and liquidity.
Growth or maintenance of our existing revenue depends in part on consistent investment in our venues. Therefore, we expect to
continue to make substantial capital improvements in our venues to meet long-term increasing demand, to increase entertainment
value and to increase revenue. We frequently have a number of significant capital projects underway. Numerous factors, many of
which are beyond our control, may influence the ultimate costs and timing of various capital improvements at our venues, including:
•

availability of financing on favorable terms;

•

unforeseen changes in design;

•

increases in the cost of construction materials and labor;

•

additional land acquisition costs;

•

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates;

•

litigation, accidents or natural disasters affecting the construction site;

•

national or regional economic changes;

•

environmental or hazardous conditions; and

•

undetected soil or land conditions.

The amount of capital expenditures can vary significantly from year to year. In addition, actual costs could vary materially from
our estimates if the factors listed above and our assumptions about the quality of materials or workmanship required or the cost of
financing such construction were to change. Construction is also subject to governmental permitting processes which, if changed,
could materially affect the ultimate cost.
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We are subject to extensive governmental regulation, and our failure to comply with these regulations could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our live music venue operations are subject to federal, state and local laws, both domestically and internationally, governing
matters such as construction, renovation and operation of our venues, as well as:
•

licensing, permitting and zoning, including noise ordinances;

•

human health, safety and sanitation requirements;

•

requirements with respect to the service of food and alcoholic beverages;

•

working conditions, labor, minimum wage and hour, citizenship and employment laws;

•

compliance with the ADA and the DDA;

•

sales and other taxes and withholding of taxes;

•

privacy laws and protection of personally identifiable information;

•

historic landmark rules; and

•

environmental protection laws.

We cannot predict the extent to which any future laws or regulations will impact our operations. The regulations relating to our
food service in our venues are many and complex. Although we generally contract with a third-party vendor for these services at our
owned and/or operated venues, we cannot assure you that we or our third-party vendors are in full compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations at all times or that we or our third-party vendors will be able to comply with any future laws and regulations or that we
will not be held liable for violations by third-party vendors. Furthermore, additional or amended regulations in this area may
significantly increase the cost of compliance.
We also serve alcoholic beverages at many of our venues during live music events and must comply with applicable licensing
laws, as well as state and local service laws, commonly called dram shop statutes. Dram shop statutes generally prohibit serving
alcoholic beverages to certain persons such as an individual who is intoxicated or a minor. If we violate dram shop laws, we may be
liable to third parties for the acts of the customer. Although we generally hire outside vendors to provide these services at our operated
venues and regularly sponsor training programs designed to minimize the likelihood of such a situation, we cannot guarantee that
intoxicated or minor customers will not be served or that liability for their acts will not be imposed on us. We cannot assure you that
additional regulation in this area would not limit our activities in the future or significantly increase the cost of regulatory compliance.
We must also obtain and comply with the terms of licenses in order to sell alcoholic beverages in the states in which we serve
alcoholic beverages.
From time to time, governmental bodies have proposed legislation that could have an effect on our business. For example, some
legislatures have proposed laws in the past that would impose potential liability on us and other promoters and producers of live music
events for entertainment taxes and for incidents that occur at our events, particularly relating to drugs and alcohol.
We and our venues are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations relating to the use, storage, disposal, emission
and release of hazardous and non-hazardous substances, as well as zoning and noise level restrictions which may affect, among other
things, the hours of operations of our venues. Additionally, certain laws and regulations could hold us strictly, jointly and severally
responsible for the remediation of hazardous substance contamination at our facilities or at third-party waste disposal sites, and could
hold us responsible for any personal or property damage related to any contamination.
We face intense competition in the live music, ticketing and artist services industries, and we may not be able to maintain or
increase our current revenue, which could adversely affect our financial performance.
Our business segments are in highly competitive industries, and we may not be able to maintain or increase our current
revenue. We compete in the live music industry and within this industry we compete with other venues to book performers, and, in the
markets in which we promote music concerts, we face competition from other promoters and venue operators. Our competitors
compete with us for key employees who have relationships with popular music artists that have a history of being able to book such
artists for concerts and tours. These competitors
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may engage in more extensive development efforts, undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing
policies and make more attractive offers to existing and potential artists. Our competitors may develop services, advertising options or
music venues that are equal or superior to those we provide or that achieve greater market acceptance and brand recognition than we
achieve. It is possible that new competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share.
We compete in the ticketing industry and the intense competition that we face in the ticketing industry could cause the volume
of our ticketing services business to decline. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully in the future with
existing or potential competitors or that competition will not have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition. We may
face direct competition in the live music industry with our prospective or current primary ticketing clients, who primarily include live
event content providers (such as owners or operators of live event venues). This direct competition with our prospective or current
primary ticketing clients could result in a decline in the number of clients we may obtain and a decline in the volume of our ticketing
services business, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Other variables that could adversely affect our financial performance by, among other things, leading to decreases in overall
revenue, the number of sponsors, event attendance, ticket prices or profit margins include:
•

an increased level of competition for advertising dollars, which may lead to lower sponsorships as we attempt to retain
advertisers or which may cause us to lose advertisers to our competitors offering better programs that we are unable or
unwilling to match;

•

unfavorable fluctuations in operating costs, including increased guarantees to performers, which we may be unwilling or
unable to pass through to our customers via ticket prices;

•

our competitors may offer more favorable terms than we do in order to obtain agreements for new venues or to obtain
events for the venues they operate;

•

technological changes and innovations that we are unable to adopt or are late in adopting that offer more attractive
entertainment alternatives than we currently offer, which may lead to reduction in attendance at live events, a loss of ticket
sales or to lower ticket prices;

•

other entertainment options available to our audiences that we do not offer;

•

unfavorable changes in labor conditions which may require us to spend more to retain and attract key employees; and

•

unfavorable shifts in population and other demographics which may cause us to lose audiences as people migrate to
markets where we have a smaller presence, or which may cause sponsors to be unwilling to pay for sponsorship and
advertising opportunities if the general population shifts into a less desirable age or geographical demographic from an
advertising perspective.

We believe that barriers to entry into the live music promotion business are low and that certain local promoters are increasingly
expanding the geographic scope of their operations.
We depend upon unionized labor for the provision of some of our services and any work stoppages or labor disturbances could
disrupt our business.
The stagehands at some of our venues and other employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements. Our union
agreements typically have a term of three years and thus regularly expire and require negotiation in the course of our business. Upon
the expiration of any of our collective bargaining agreements, however, we may be unable to negotiate new collective bargaining
agreements on terms favorable to us, and our business operations may be interrupted as a result of labor disputes or difficulties and
delays in the process of renegotiating our collective bargaining agreements. In addition, our business operations at one or more of our
facilities may also be interrupted as a result of labor disputes by outside unions attempting to unionize a venue even though we do not
have unionized labor at that venue currently. A work stoppage at one or more of our owned and/or operated venues or at our promoted
events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. We cannot predict the effect
that a potential work stoppage will have on our expenses.
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We are dependent upon our ability to lease, acquire and develop live music venues, and if we are unable to do so on acceptable
terms, or at all, our results of operations could be adversely affected.
We require access to venues to generate revenue from live music events. For these events, we use venues that we own, but we
also operate a number of our live music venues under various agreements which include leases with third parties or equity or booking
agreements, which are agreements where we contract to book the events at a venue for a specific period of time. Our long-term
success in the live music business will depend in part on the availability of venues, our ability to lease these venues and our ability to
enter into booking agreements upon their expiration. As many of these agreements are with third parties over whom we have little or
no control, we may be unable to renew these agreements or enter into new agreements on acceptable terms or at all, and may be
unable to obtain favorable agreements with venues. Our ability to renew these agreements or obtain new agreements on favorable
terms depends on a number of other factors, many of which are also beyond our control, such as national and local business conditions
and competition from other promoters. If the cost of renewing these agreements is too high or the terms of any new agreement with a
new venue are unacceptable or incompatible with our existing operations, we may decide to forego these opportunities. There can be
no assurance that we will be able to renew these agreements on acceptable terms or at all, or that we will be able to obtain attractive
agreements with substitute venues, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
We plan to continue to expand our operations through the development of live music venues and the expansion of existing live
music venues, which poses a number of risks, including:
•
•
•

construction of live music venues may result in cost overruns, delays or unanticipated expenses;
desirable sites for live music venues may be unavailable or costly; and
the attractiveness of our venue locations may deteriorate over time.

Additionally, the market potential of live music venue sites cannot be precisely determined, and our live music venues may face
competition in markets from unexpected sources. Newly constructed live music venues may not perform up to our expectations. We
face significant competition for potential live music venue locations and for opportunities to acquire existing live music venues.
Because of this competition, we may be unable to add to or maintain the number of our live music venues on terms we consider
acceptable.
Our revenues depend in part on the promotional success of our marketing campaigns, and there can be no assurance that such
advertising, promotional and other marketing campaigns will be successful or will generate revenue or profits.
Similar to many companies, we spend significant amounts on advertising, promotional and other marketing campaigns for our
live music events and other business activities. Such marketing activities include, among others, promotion of ticket sales, premium
seat sales, hospitality and other services for our events and venues and advertising associated with our distribution of related souvenir
merchandise and apparel. During 2009, Live Nation spent approximately 4.3% of its revenue and Ticketmaster spent approximately
4.4% of its revenue on marketing, including advertising, and there can be no assurance that such advertising, promotional and other
marketing campaigns will be successful or will generate revenue or profits.
Poor weather adversely affects attendance at our live music events, which could negatively impact our financial performance
from period to period.
We promote many live music events. Weather conditions surrounding these events affect sales of tickets, concessions and
merchandise, among other things. Poor weather conditions can have a material effect on our results of operations particularly because
we promote a finite number of events. Due to weather conditions, we may be required to reschedule an event to another available day
or a different venue, which would increase our costs for the event and could negatively impact the attendance at the event, as well as
food, beverage and merchandise sales. Poor weather can affect current periods as well as successive events in future periods. If we are
unable to reschedule events due to poor weather, we are forced to refund the ticket revenue for those events.
We may be adversely affected by the occurrence of extraordinary events, such as terrorist attacks.
The occurrence and threat of extraordinary events, such as terrorist attacks, intentional or unintentional mass-casualty incidents,
natural disasters or similar events, may substantially decrease the use of and demand for our services and the attendance at live music
events, which may decrease our revenue or expose us to substantial liability. The terrorism and security incidents in the past, military
actions in foreign locations, and periodic elevated terrorism alerts have raised numerous challenging operating factors, including
public concerns regarding air travel,
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military actions and additional national or local catastrophic incidents, causing a nationwide disruption of commercial and leisure
activities.
Following past terrorism actions, some artists refused to travel or book tours, which adversely affected our music business. The
occurrence or threat of future terrorist attacks, military actions by the United States, contagious disease outbreaks, natural disasters
such as earthquakes and severe floods or similar events cannot be predicted, and their occurrence can be expected to negatively affect
the economies of the United States and other foreign countries where we do business.
Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
We cannot predict the prices at which our common stock may trade.
Our stock price has fluctuated between $2.47 and $25.63 over the past three years. The market price of our common stock
may continue to fluctuate significantly due to a number of factors, some of which may be beyond our control, including:
•

our quarterly or annual earnings, or those of other companies in our industry;

•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results due to the seasonality of our business and other factors related to
our business;

•

our loss or inability to obtain significant popular artists;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions or divestitures;

•

the publication by securities analysts of financial estimates or reports about our business;

•

changes by securities analysts of earnings estimates or reports, or our inability to meet those estimates or achieve any
goals described in those reports;

•

the disclosure of facts about our business that may differ from those assumed by securities analysts in preparing their
estimates or reports about our company;

•

the operating and stock price performance of other comparable companies;

•

overall market fluctuations;

•

the withdrawal of the Tender Offer by LMC Events, LLC; and

•

general economic conditions.

In particular, the realization of any of the risks described in these Risk Factors could have a significant and adverse impact on
the market price of our common stock.
The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, and investors could lose all or part of the value of their common
stock.
In recent years, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant
impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in our industry. The changes frequently
appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of these companies. The price of our common stock could fluctuate based
upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our company, and these fluctuations could materially reduce our stock price.
In the past, some companies that have had volatile market prices for their securities have been subject to securities class action
suits filed against them. If a suit were to be filed against us, regardless of the outcome, it could result in substantial legal costs and a
diversion of our management’s attention and resources. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.
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Our corporate governance documents, rights agreement and Delaware law may delay or prevent an acquisition of us that
stockholders may consider favorable, which could decrease the value of our common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions
that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us without the consent of our board of directors. These provisions include
restrictions on the ability of our stockholders to remove directors and supermajority voting requirements for stockholders to amend our
organizational documents, a classified board of directors and limitations on action by our stockholders by written consent. In addition,
our board of directors has the right to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to dilute the stock
ownership of a potential hostile acquirer. Delaware law, for instance, also imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business
combinations between any holder of 15% or more of our outstanding common stock and us. Although we believe these provisions
protect our stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics and thereby provide for an opportunity to receive a higher
bid by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors, these provisions apply even if the offer may be considered
beneficial by some stockholders.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to any written agreement to the contrary, which
agreement does not currently exist, Clear Channel will have no duty to refrain from engaging in the same or similar business activities
or lines of business as us or doing business with any of our customers or vendors or employing or otherwise engaging or soliciting any
of our officers, directors or employees. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that if Clear Channel acquires
knowledge of a potential transaction or matter which may be a corporate opportunity for both us and Clear Channel, we will generally
renounce our interest in the corporate opportunity. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation renounces any interest or
expectancy in such corporate opportunity that will belong to Clear Channel. Clear Channel will, to the fullest extent permitted by law,
have satisfied its fiduciary duty with respect to such a corporate opportunity and will not be liable to us or our stockholders for breach
of any fiduciary duty by reason of the fact that it acquires or seeks the corporate opportunity for itself, directs that corporate
opportunity to another person or does not present that corporate opportunity to us. These provisions could make an acquisition of us
less advantageous to a third party.
We have also adopted a stockholder rights plan intended to deter hostile or coercive attempts to acquire us. Under the plan, if
any person or group acquires, or begins a tender or exchange offer that could result in such person acquiring, 15% or more of our
common stock, and in the case of certain Schedule 13G filers, 20% or more of our common stock, and in the case of Liberty Media
and certain of its affiliates, 35% or more of our common stock, without approval of our board of directors under specified
circumstances, our other stockholders have the right to purchase shares of our common stock, or shares of the acquiring company, at a
substantial discount to the public market price. Therefore, the plan makes an acquisition much more costly to a potential acquirer.
In addition, the terms of our senior secured credit facility provide that the lenders can require us to repay all outstanding
indebtedness upon a change of control, and the redeemable preferred stock requires one of our subsidiaries to offer to repurchase the
redeemable preferred stock at 101% of the liquidation preference upon a change of control. These provisions make an acquisition
more costly to a potential acquirer. See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Redeemable Preferred Stock.
We have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock, which could affect its market price.
We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the growth, development and expansion of our business.
Accordingly, we do not intend to declare or pay any dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. The declaration,
payment and amount of future dividends, if any, will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors after taking into account
various factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow from operations, current and anticipated capital
requirements and expansion plans, the income tax laws then in effect and the requirements of Delaware law. In addition, our
redeemable preferred stock and the agreement governing our senior secured credit facility include restrictions on our ability to pay
cash dividends without meeting certain financial ratios and obtaining the consent of the lenders. Accordingly, holders of common
stock will not receive cash payments on their investment and the market price may be adversely affected.
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Future sales or other issuances of our common stock could adversely affect its market price.
We have a large number of shares of common stock outstanding and available for resale beginning at various points in time in
the future. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the possibility that these sales may
occur, could cause the market price for our common stock to decline. As of December 31, 2009, there were 84.4 million shares of Live
Nation common stock outstanding, including 0.7 million shares of unvested restricted stock awards and excluding treasury shares, 2.1
million shares of common stock issuable from currently exercisable Live Nation options at a weighted average exercise price of
$17.21 per share and a warrant to purchase 0.5 million shares of common stock at an exercise price of $13.73. As of December 31,
2009, there were 57.4 million shares of Ticketmaster common stock outstanding, excluding treasury shares, and 2.2 million shares of
common stock issuable from currently exercisable Ticketmaster options at a weighted average exercise price of $29.07 per share.
These Ticketmaster outstanding shares were exchanged for Live Nation common stock and Ticketmaster options were assumed by
Live Nation in connection with the Merger.
We continually explore acquisition opportunities consistent with our strategy. These acquisitions may involve the payment of
cash, the incurrence of debt or the issuance of common stock or other securities. Any such issuance could be at a valuation lower than
the trading price of our common stock at the time. The price of our common stock could also be affected by possible sales of our
common stock by hedging or arbitrage trading activity that may develop involving our common stock. The hedging or arbitrage could,
in turn, affect the trading prices of the notes.
Conversion of the notes may dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders and may affect our per share results and the
trading price of our common stock.
The issuance of shares of our common stock upon conversion of the notes may dilute the ownership interests of existing
stockholders. Issuances of stock on conversion may also affect our per share results of operations. Any sales in the public market of
our common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.
We can issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could materially adversely affect the rights of common
stockholders.
Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue “blank check” preferred stock, the designation, number, voting powers,
preferences and rights of which may be fixed or altered from time to time by our board of directors. Our subsidiaries may also issue
additional shares of preferred stock. Accordingly, the board of directors has the authority, without stockholder approval, to issue
preferred stock with rights that could materially adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the common stockholders or the
market value of the common stock.
Risks Relating to Our Separation from Clear Channel
The Separation could result in significant tax liability to our initial public stockholders.
Clear Channel received a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service substantially to the effect that the distribution
of our common stock to its stockholders qualifies as a tax-free distribution for United States federal income tax purposes under
Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code. Although a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service generally is binding on
the Internal Revenue Service, if the factual representations or assumptions made in the letter ruling request are untrue or incomplete in
any material respect, we will not be able to rely on the ruling.
Furthermore, the Internal Revenue Service will not rule on whether a distribution satisfies certain requirements necessary to
obtain tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code. Rather, the ruling is based upon representations by Clear Channel that these
conditions have been satisfied, and any inaccuracy in such representations could invalidate the ruling. Therefore, in addition to
obtaining the ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, Clear Channel made it a condition to the Separation that Clear Channel obtain
a legal opinion that the Distribution will qualify as a tax-free distribution for United States federal income tax purposes under Sections
355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code. The opinion relies on the ruling as to matters covered by the ruling. In addition, the opinion is
based on, among other things, certain assumptions and representations as to factual matters made by Clear Channel and us, which if
incorrect or inaccurate in any material respect would jeopardize the conclusions reached by
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counsel in its opinion. The opinion is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service or the courts, and the Internal Revenue Service or
the courts may not agree with the opinion.
Notwithstanding receipt by Clear Channel of the ruling and opinion of counsel, the Internal Revenue Service could assert that
the Distribution does not qualify for tax-free treatment for United States federal income tax purposes. If the Internal Revenue Service
were successful in taking this position, our initial public stockholders could be subject to significant United States federal income tax
liability. In general, our initial public stockholders could be subject to tax as if they had received a taxable distribution equal to the fair
market value of our common stock that was distributed to them.
The Separation could result in significant tax-related liabilities to us.
As discussed above, notwithstanding receipt by Clear Channel of the ruling and the opinion of counsel, the Internal Revenue
Service could assert that the Distribution does not qualify for tax-free treatment for United States federal income tax purposes. If the
Internal Revenue Service were successful in taking this position, Clear Channel could be subject to a significant United States federal
income tax liability. In general, Clear Channel would be subject to tax as if it had sold the common stock of our company in a taxable
sale for its fair market value. In addition, even if the Distribution otherwise were to qualify under Section 355 of the Code, it may be
taxable to Clear Channel as if it had sold the common stock of our company in a taxable sale for its fair market value under
Section 355(e) of the Code, if the Distribution were later deemed to be part of a plan (or series of related transactions) pursuant to
which one or more persons acquire directly or indirectly stock representing a 50% or greater interest in Clear Channel or us. For this
purpose, any acquisitions of Clear Channel stock or of our stock within the period beginning two years before the Distribution and
ending two years after the Distribution are presumed to be part of such a plan, although we or Clear Channel may be able to rebut that
presumption.
Although such corporate-level taxes, if any, resulting from a taxable distribution generally would be imposed on Clear Channel,
we have agreed in the tax matters agreement to indemnify Clear Channel and its affiliates against tax-related liabilities, if any, caused
by the failure of the Separation to qualify as a tax-free transaction under Section 355 of the Code (including as a result of
Section 355(e) of the Code) if the failure to so qualify is attributable to actions, events or transactions relating to our stock, assets or
business, or a breach of the relevant representations or covenants made by us in the tax matters agreement. If the failure of the
Separation to qualify under Section 355 of the Code is for any reason for which neither we nor Clear Channel is responsible, we and
Clear Channel have agreed in the tax matters agreement that we will each be responsible for 50% of the tax-related liabilities arising
from the failure to so qualify. Clear Channel reported a $2.4 billion capital loss as a result of the Separation. See Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 12—Related-Party Transactions—Relationship with Clear Channel for a more detailed
discussion of the tax matters agreement between Clear Channel and us.
We could be liable for income taxes owed by Clear Channel.
Each member of the Clear Channel consolidated group, which includes Clear Channel, our company and our subsidiaries
through December 21, 2005, and Clear Channel’s other subsidiaries, is jointly and severally liable for the United States federal income
tax liability of each other member of the consolidated group. Consequently, we could be liable in the event any such liability is
incurred, and not discharged, by any other member of the Clear Channel consolidated group. Disputes or assessments could arise
during future audits by the Internal Revenue Service in amounts that we cannot quantify. In addition, Clear Channel has recognized a
capital loss for United States federal income tax purposes in connection with the Separation. If Clear Channel is unable to deduct such
capital loss for United States federal income tax purposes as a result of any action we take following the Separation or our breach of a
relevant representation or covenant made by us in the tax matters agreement, we have agreed in the tax matters agreement to
indemnify Clear Channel for the lost tax benefits that Clear Channel would have otherwise realized if it were able to deduct this loss.
See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 12—Related-Party Transactions—Relationship with Clear Channel.
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Risks Relating to Our Merger with Ticketmaster
The Merger resulted in changes to our board and management that may affect our strategy.
Upon completion of the Merger, the composition of our board of directors and management team changed in accordance with
the merger agreement, as seven new members from Ticketmaster were appointed to our board. In addition, we have a new Executive
Chairman. This new board and management may affect the business strategy and operating decisions of the combined company.
Although we expect that the Merger will result in benefits to Live Nation, we may not realize those benefits because of
integration difficulties and other challenges.
The Merger involves the integration of two companies that have previously operated independently with principal offices in two
locations. Due to legal restrictions, we have conducted only limited planning regarding the integration of the two companies. The
combined company will be required to devote significant management attention and resources to integrating the two companies. The
success of the combination of Live Nation and Ticketmaster will be dependent in large part on the success of our management in
integrating the operations, technologies and personnel of the two companies. Our failure to meet the challenges involved in
successfully completing the integration of the operations of Live Nation and Ticketmaster or to otherwise realize any of the
anticipated benefits of the Merger, including additional revenue opportunities, could impair our results of operations.
Challenges involved in this integration include, without limitation:
• integrating successfully each company’s operations, technologies, products and services;
• reducing the costs associated with operations; and
• combining the corporate cultures, maintaining employee morale and retaining key employees.
We may not successfully complete the integration of the operations in a timely manner and we may not realize the anticipated
benefits or synergies of the Merger to the extent, or in the timeframe, anticipated. The anticipated benefits and synergies include cost
savings associated with anticipated restructurings and other operational efficiencies, and revenue enhancement opportunities.
However, these anticipated benefits and synergies assume a successful integration and are based on projections, which are inherently
uncertain, and other assumptions. Even if integration is successful, anticipated benefits and synergies may not be achieved.
In connection with the Merger, we became subject to a proposed Final Judgment imposing certain obligations on us, and, in
addition, the DOJ or the U.S. District Court may seek to modify the terms of the proposed Final Judgment before it is entered as
final and any such changes could negatively impact the Company’s business.
On January 25, 2010, the United States Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) and several State Attorneys General jointly filed with
the United States District Court for the District of Columbia a Complaint against the proposed merger between Live Nation and
Ticketmaster and a proposed Final Judgment (the “proposed Final Judgment”) that imposes certain obligations on us in order to
address the issues the DOJ raised in its complaint. Among other things, the proposed Final Judgment requires us to offer a license to
the Ticketmaster host ticketing technology to Anschutz Entertainment Group, to divest Ticketmaster’s Paciolan ticketing business to a
DOJ-approved purchaser within 60 days, to agree to abide by certain behavioral remedies that prevent us from engaging in retaliatory
business tactics or improper trying arrangements and to provide periodic reports to the DOJ about our compliance with the proposed
Final Judgment. The proposed Final Judgment is subject to a 60-day public comment period, after which time the court may enter the
Final Judgment as written, or it may modify the order. The Final Judgment will be in effect and will bind us for ten years from the
date that the court enters it. We stipulated to an interim Hold Separate order on January 25, 2010 that commits us to complying with
the terms of the proposed Final Judgment until a Final Judgment is entered by the court.
During the duration of the Final Judgment, we will be restricted from engaging in certain business activities that, absent the
Final Judgment, would be lawful for us to undertake. Our inability to undertake these business strategies could disadvantage us when
we compete against firms that are not restricted by any such order. Our compliance with the Final Judgment therefore creates certain
unquantifiable business risks for us.
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Also on January 25, 2010, we entered into a Consent Agreement (the “Canadian Consent Agreement”) with the Canadian
Competition Commission, which had the effect of imposing essentially the same terms as the proposed Final Judgment on our
business in Canada. The Canadian Consent Agreement will remain in effect for ten years following the date of the agreement. The
Canadian Consent Agreement creates similar risks for us, both in terms of creating potential enforcement actions and in limiting us
from pursuing certain business practices.
The terms of Live Nation Worldwide’s agreement with CTS will cause Live Nation Worldwide to incur ongoing costs and could
reduce operational efficiencies that the combined company might otherwise obtain through the Merger.
Live Nation Worldwide, Inc., which is referred to as Live Nation Worldwide, and CTS Eventim AG, which is referred to as
CTS, are parties to an agreement, which is referred to as the CTS agreement, pursuant to which CTS licenses intellectual property to
Live Nation Worldwide that is core to Live Nation’s in-house ticketing platform. Under the terms of the CTS agreement, Live Nation
Worldwide will be required to take actions and incur expenses, and may be limited in actions it can take, which could limit the ability
of Live Nation and Ticketmaster to fully integrate their ticketing platforms successfully and realize the full operational efficiencies
that the combined company might otherwise obtain through the Merger. For events in North America, CTS will be generally entitled
to receive, during the 10-year term of the agreement, a per ticket license fee upon the sale of certain tickets that Live Nation
Worldwide or any of substantially all of its subsidiaries, which are collectively referred to as the Live Nation Worldwide entities, have
the right to distribute. This per ticket fee for events in North America will be payable to CTS regardless of whether the combined
company chooses to use the CTS ticketing platform, Ticketmaster’s ticketing platform or another ticketing platform for the sale of
tickets that the Live Nation Worldwide entities have the right to distribute. In addition, for events in certain European countries
outside of the United Kingdom, Live Nation Worldwide generally will be required, during a 10-year term, to exclusively book on the
CTS ticketing platform all tickets that the Live Nation Worldwide entities have the right to distribute (or, to the extent other ticketing
platforms are used, Live Nation Worldwide will generally be required to pay to CTS the same fee that would have been payable had
the CTS platform been used). For events in the United Kingdom, Live Nation Worldwide will be required, provided that CTS first
satisfies a significant threshold commitment, to offer for sale on the CTS UK website and pay a corresponding fee for a portion of the
tickets that the Live Nation Worldwide entities have the right to distribute for events promoted by the Live Nation Worldwide entities
for a 10-year term commencing on January 1, 2010. Finally, the Live Nation Worldwide entities may be precluded from offering
ticketing services to third parties in certain European countries during the term of the CTS agreement. In addition, upon completion of
the Merger, for a period of two years thereafter, CTS will have the right to terminate the CTS agreement upon six months advance
notice.
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